Vascular and circulating biomarkers

in preeclampsia and uteroplacental acute atherosis

PhD thesis

by

Ingrid Knutsdotter Fosheim, MD

2023

Division of Obstetrics and Gynaecology

Oslo University Hospital

and

Faculty of Medicine

University of Oslo

Norway





© Ingrid Knutsdotter Fosheim, 2023

Series of dissertations submitted to the Faculty of Medicine, University of Oslo

ISBN 978-82-348-146-4

All rights reserved. No part of this publication may be reproduced or transmitted, in any form or by any means, without permission.

Print production: Graphics Center, University of Oslo.

Dedicated to the memory of my grandfather, who sparked my curiosity, and began challenging me intellectually long before I could read or write.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	7
LIST OF PAPERS	9
ABBREVIATIONS	11
SAMMENDRAG AV AVHANDLINGEN (NORWEGIAN SUMMARY)	13
SUMMARY OF THE THESIS	17
1. INTRODUCTION	21
1.1 Spiral arteries: the end arteries of the uterine blood supply	21
1.2 Placentation and placental blood supply	22
1.3 Placental dysfunction: cause of main obstetrical syndromes	26
1.4 Acute atherosis	29
1.5 Pregnancies with placental dysfunction: adverse long-term health outcomes fo offspring and mother	or 35
1.6 Acute atherosis: a risk factor for premature cardiovascular disease?	36
1.7 Endothelial cells: key players in vascular health and disease	38
1.8 Lipid-handling proteins in atherosclerotic lesions	40
1.9 Protein misfolding and hypercoagulability	41
2. AIMS OF THE THESIS	45
3. MATERIALS AND METHODS	47
3.1 Study population	47
3.2 Study design	52
3.3 Decidua basalis tissue collection and processing	54
3.4 Tissue sectioning and staining	54
3.5 Decidua basalis tissue evaluation	57
3.6 Maternal blood sampling	65
3.7 Blood sample analyses	65
3.8 Statistical analyses	66
4. SUMMARY OF RESULTS	69
4.1 Spiral artery morphology (Papers I-II)	70
4.2 Endothelial cells in third trimester decidua basalis spiral arteries (Paper I)	72
4.3 Lipid-handling proteins in and around acute atherosis lesions (Paper II)	74
4.4 Protein misfolding markers in acute atherosis and preeclampsia (Paper III)	77

5.	DISCUSSION
5	5.1 Methodological discussion
5	5.2 Results discussion
6.	CONCLUSIONS
7.	FUTURE STUDIES
8.	OTHER RELEVANT PUBLICATIONS DURING THE PHD PERIOD . 117
9.	REFERENCES
10.	APPENDICES
11.	ERRATA
	PAPER I
	PAPER II and Paper II corrigendum
	PAPER III

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

The work in this thesis was carried out at the Division of Obstetrics and Gynaecology at Oslo University Hospital from 2016 to 2022, with financial support from the Faculty of Medicine at the University of Oslo, the Research Council of Norway, and the South-Eastern Norway Regional Health Authority. I am grateful to these institutions for their contributions in allowing us to further our understanding of women's health issues. It is a privilege to get the opportunity to take a deep dive into pregnancy – which I, unsurprisingly, find extremely fascinating, and even more so when complications arise.

This thesis would not have been possible without the Oslo Pregnancy Biobank. I would like to thank the participating women who generously provide placenta and blood samples and clinical data, and the research personnel involved in recruitment. Their time, thoroughness, and precision is greatly appreciated. Lise Ø. Levy, Michael P. Hjørnholm, Marie S. Lande, and Ana L. Pascual, thank you for excellent supervision and administration of the Biobank and the Research Centre for Obstetrics and Gynaecology.

Professor Annetine Staff, my main supervisor, deserves all my gratitude. Thank you for accepting me into your research group and for helping me obtain funding to complete my thesis after graduation from medical school. Thank you for your support and insightful guidance. Your limitless knowledge and creativity has me continuously fascinated, and has improved my thesis and research tremendously. You put the super in supervisor!

I would like to thank my co-supervisors Daniel P. Jacobsen and Meryam Sugulle for expert supervision, wise input, and for always being available to answer my questions. Thank you for indulging my research ideas and making them come to life.

Warm thanks to Gro L. Størvold, for taking me under your wing as co-supervisor of my Medical Student Research Program project and Paper I, and for showing me the ropes when I joined the group. Your attention to detail and genuine interest is inspirational, and I am grateful to have worked with you. Thanks also to Guro M. Johnsen, who laid the ground work for Paper II and continued to contribute valuably throughout its formation. I am grateful to Patji Alnæs-Katjavivi and Professor emerita Borghild Roald, for patiently training me in decidua basalis histology and acute atherosis diagnosis, and placenta pathologist Gitta Turowski for your excitement and expert help. This thesis is in part a continuation of Patji's thorough thesis on acute atherosis; it has been a privilege to learn from your experience and expertise throughout my research time.

Many thanks to my research group (Forskningssenter for fødselshjelp og kvinnesykdommer/Research Centre for Obstetrics and Gynaecology) for being so welcoming and helpful, for challenging and enlightening discussions about research and more, and for much appreciated advice and input. Heidi, for your efforts in putting together OPB's renewed diagnosis system, which really heightened the quality of my Paper III, and for teaching me how to use SPSS syntax, ultimately saving me countless hours (!) of redoing analyses. You are a true team player. Kjartan, for always helping to declutter presentations, text, and posters. Birgitte, having a good friend in the research group to share this experience with has been amazing.

I am also grateful to our many collaborators for assistance with laboratory work and development of ideas; Chris Redman, Giang Nguyen, Linn Buer, Hanne Guldsten, Tove Lekva, and Thor Ueland.

Thank you to my friends for much-needed breaks from research and reminders that interesting topics of conversation other than p values and scatter plots exist. I feel particularly lucky to have close friends with firsthand experience with medical research; you have been invaluable during this time. Mom and Dad, thank you for always cheering me on. Eivind, thank you for your genuine interest in my work and for always being my hype man. Sigurd, thank you for your timely reminders that I must never forget to chill out and live "the good life".

Oslo, August 1st, 2022

Ingilal K.Fa.

LIST OF PAPERS

Paper I: <u>Fosheim IK</u>, Alnaes-Katjavivi P, Redman C, Roald B, Staff AC, Størvold GL

Acute atherosis of decidua basalis; characterization of spiral arteries, endothelial status and activation

Placenta. 2019 Jul;82:10-16

Paper II: <u>Fosheim IK</u>, Johnsen GM, Alnaes-Katjavivi P, Turowski G, Sugulle M, Staff AC

Decidua basalis and acute atherosis: expression of atherosclerotic foam cell associated proteins

Placenta. 2021 Apr;107:1-7

Paper II corrigendum: <u>Fosheim IK</u>, Johnsen GM, Alnaes-Katjavivi P, Turowski G, Sugulle M, Staff AC

Corrigendum to "Decidua basalis and acute atherosis: expression of atherosclerotic foam cell associated proteins" [Placenta 107 (2021) 1-7] Placenta. 2022 Jan;117:28

Paper III: <u>Fosheim IK</u>, Jacobsen DP, Sugulle M, Alnaes-Katjavivi P, Fjeldstad HES, Ueland T, Lekva T, Staff AC

Serum amyloid A1 and pregnancy zone protein in pregnancy complications and correlation with markers of placental dysfunction *Submitted*

ABBREVIATIONS

AA	acute atherosis
ADRP	adipose differentiation-related protein
CD	cluster of differentiation
cFMC	cellular fetal microchimerism
CHT	chronic hypertension
CK7	cytokeratin 7
CVD	cardiovascular disease
DAB	diaminobenzidine
DM	diabetes mellitus
DoHAD	developmental origins of health and disease
DSM	decidual vacuum suction method
EDTA	ethylenediaminetetraacetic acid
ELISA	enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay
ER	endoplasmic reticulum
EVT	extravillous trophoblast
FABP4	fatty acid binding protein 4
FFPE	formalin fixed, paraffin embedded
FGR	fetal growth restriction
GH	gestational hypertension
HDL	high-density lipoprotein
HDP	hypertensive disorders of pregnancy
HE	hematoxylin-eosin
HRP	horseradish peroxidase
hsCRP	high-sensitivity C-reactive protein
ICAM-1	intercellular adhesion molecule 1
ISSHP	International Society for the Study of Hypertension in Pregnancy
LDL	low-density lipoprotein
LOX-1	lectin-like oxidized LDL receptor 1
MSB	Martius Scarlet Blue
NHLBI	National Heart, Lung, and Blood Institute
OPB	Oslo Pregnancy Biobank
OUS	Oslo University Hospital (Norwegian: Oslo universitetssykehus)
PAS	periodic acid-Schiff
PE	preeclampsia
PECAM-1	platelet endothelial cell adhesion molecule 1 (also known as CD31)

PlGF	placental growth factor
PZP	pregnancy zone protein
REK	Regional Committees for Medical and Health Research Ethics
	(Norwegian: Regionale komiteer for medisinsk og helsefaglig
	forskningsetikk)
SAA1	serum amyloid A1
sFlt-1	soluble fms-like tyrosine kinase-1
STB	syncytiotrophoblast
TMB	tetramethylbenzidine
VCAM-1	vascular cell adhesion molecule 1
VSMC	vascular smooth muscle cell
vWF	von Willebrand factor

SAMMENDRAG AV AVHANDLINGEN (NORWEGIAN SUMMARY)

Preeklampsi (svangerskapsforgiftning) er en svangerskapskomplikasjon definert ved nyoppstått hypertensjon og minst ett annet tegn på organdysfunksjon (f.eks. proteinuri, forhøyede levertransaminaser, koagulasjonsforstyrrelser eller eklampsi/svangerskapskramper), definisjonsmessig som oppstår etter 20. svangerskapsuke. Globalt forårsaker preeklampsi omfattende maternell sykelighet og dødelighet under svangerskapet. Syndromet kan også påvirke maternell helse senere i livet, ettersom overlevere av preeklampsi har økt risiko for å utvikle hjerte- og karsykdommer.

Akutt aterose er en svangerskapsspesifikk lesjon i uteroplacentære spiralarterier som forsyner morkaken med blod under svangerskapet. Denne arterielesjonen finnes hyppigst i decidua basalis, livmorslimhinnelaget som ligger direkte under morkaken. Akutt aterose er vanlig i svangerskap komplisert av preeklampsi eller diabetes mellitus, men kan også forekomme i ukompliserte svangerskap. Lesjonen likner på tidlige stadier av aterosklerose (ofte kalt «fatty streaks»), en lesjon som er viktig i utviklingen frem til kliniske manifestasjoner av hjerte- og karsykdom. Akutt aterose og «fatty streak»-lesjoner er begge karakterisert av lipidfylte (skum-)celler i karveggen, betennelse og oksidativt stress.

Vår forskningsgruppe har foreslått at akutt aterose, som ofte sees i svangerskap komplisert av preeklampsi, kan sees på som en mislykket stresstest av kvinnens hjerte- og karsystem under graviditeten. Preeklampsi er en kjønnsspesifikk risikofaktor for hjerte- og karsykdom, og vi har foreslått at akutt aterose kan representere en egen kjønnsspesifikk risikofaktor. Denne avhandlingen tar sikte på å avdekke morfologiske og molekylære vaskulære og sirkulerende biomarkøregenskaper ved akutt aterose og preeklampsi. Avhandlingen tar utgangspunkt i etablerte nøkkelkomponenter og biomarkører i ateroskleroseprosessen og vurderer uttrykk av disse i decidua basalis-vev med og uten akutt aterose, samt i blodprøver fra kvinner med og uten akutt aterose og/eller preeklampsi. Avhandlingens hypotese er at vaskulære og sirkulerende biomarkører som er av betydning i aterosklerose likeens er assosiert med akutt aterose og preeklampsi.

Studiene i avhandlingen bruker decidua basalis-vev og maternelle blodprøver fra Oslo Pregnancy Biobank, fra kvinner med ukompliserte svangerskap eller svangerskap komplisert av hypertensive svangerskapskomplikasjoner (inkludert preeklampsi) og/eller diabetes mellitus. De fleste prøvene ble tatt i forkant av og under elektivt keisersnitt, mens noen av blodprøvene ble tatt ved andre tidspunkter før forløsning.

Decidua basalis-vev ble samlet ved hjelp av vår tidligere utviklede vakuumsugeteknikk av livmorveggen under morkaken. Serieparallelle vevssnitt fra decidua basalis ble farget med immunhistokjemiske og histokjemiske fargemetoder. Alle vevssnitt ble evaluert av PhD-kandidaten, med bistand fra erfarne placentapatologer og erfarne medlemmer av forskningsgruppen. Spiralarterier ble identifisert i henhold til forhåndsdefinerte kriterier. Akutt aterose ble definert som minst to tilstøtende skumceller (vakuolerte og CD68-positive), et evidensbasert kriterium som tidligere er utviklet og publisert av vår gruppe. Endotelceller ble identifisert ved bruk av immunhistokjemi med CD31 og von Willebrand-faktor (vWF). Endotelaktivering, som står sentralt i ateroskleroseutvikling, ble vurdert ved intercellular adhesion molecule 1 (ICAM-1), og definert som minst tre tilstøtende ICAM-1-positive endotelceller. Lipidhåndteringsproteinene fatty acid binding protein 4 (FABP4), perilipin-2 og lectin-like oxidized LDL receptor 1 (LOX-1), som alle er uttrykt i aterosklerose, ble vurdert i decidua basalis-spiralarterier med og uten akutt aterose.

Maternelle blodprøver (EDTA-plasma) ble vurdert for konsentrasjon av serum amyloid A1 (SAA1) og pregnancy zone protein (PZP), sirkulerende markører

for proteinmisfolding, ved bruk av enzymkoblet immunadsorberende analyse (ELISA). Proteinmisfolding er vist å fremskynde aterosklerose.

Artikkel I og II studerte morfologiske og molekylære trekk ved spiralarterier og akutt aterose i ukompliserte og preeklamptiske svangerskap. Vi fant fullt og delvis fysiologisk remodellerte decidua basalis-spiralarterier, samt akutt aterose, i prøver fra både preeklamptiske og ukompliserte svangerskap. Studiene valgte bevisst en overrepresentasjon av decidua basalis-prøver som hadde spiralarterier med akutt aterose, både fra ukompliserte og preeklamptiske svangerskap.

Akutt aterose var signifikant assosiert med en endret endotelfenotype (Artikkel I). «Unormale» endotelceller ble definert som svulmede eller uregelmessig formet, i motsetning til et normalt, flatt endotelcellelag. «Ødelagt» endotel ble definert som ikke-kontinuerlig og stedvis løsnet fra karveggen. Nesten alle akutt aterose-lesjoner hadde unormalt eller ødelagt endotelcellelag, og hadde lavere fargeintensitet av CD31 enn endotelceller i spiralarterier uten akutt aterose. Akutt aterose var ikke assosiert med endotelaktivering.

Nesten alle (93 %) decidua basalis akutt aterose-lesjoner hadde minst en perilipin-2 positiv skumcelle, og 55 % av alle observerte skumceller var positive for perilipin-2 (Artikkel II). FABP4-farging ble sjeldnere observert, og var kun til stede i 36 % av akutt aterose-lesjoner og i 13 % av alle skumceller. LOX-1 ble ikke observert i skumceller eller andre deler av akutt aterose-lesjonen, men ble signifikant oftere funnet i vevsområdet rundt spiralarterier med akutt aterose enn rundt spiralarterier uten akutt aterose.

Det var ingen signifikante forskjeller i karakteristika (endotelmorfologi og -aktivering, forekomst av perilipin-2- og FABP4-uttrykk) for akutt aterose mellom ukompliserte og preeklamptiske svangerskap (Artikkel I og II).

Artikkel III studerte sirkulerende biomarkører som er assosiert med proteinmisfolding (SAA1 og PZP) i blod fra ukompliserte svangerskap, samt fra

15

svangerskap komplisert av hypertensive lidelser (inkludert preeklampsi) og/eller diabetes mellitus. Forekomst av akutt aterose i livmorslimhinnen til de inkluderte kvinnene i Artikkel III ble også dokumentert.

Akutt aterose var til stede hos 39 % av kvinner med hypertensive svangerskapskomplikasjoner (inkludert preeklampsi), mot 9 % av ukompliserte svangerskap (Artikkel III), som er sammenlignbart med tidligere studier av decidua basalis. Det var ingen signifikant assosiasjon mellom akutt aterose og sirkulerende nivåer av SAA1 eller PZP.

Sirkulerende nivå av SAA1 var økt og PZP var redusert i gruppen med preeklampsi med svært tidlig forløsning (fødsel før 34. svangerskapsuke), sammenlignet med ukompliserte svangerskap (Artikkel III). Videre var SAA1 og PZP assosiert med markører for placentadysfunksjon, slik som føtal veksthemning og dysregulerte angiogeniske biomarkører.

Denne doktorgradsavhandlingen demonstrerer likheter så vel som forskjeller mellom akutt aterose-lesjoner i små decidua basalis spiralarterier og tidligere beskrevne ateroskleroseforandringer i større arterier. Avhandlingen fant fremtredende likheter mellom de to arterielesjonene: oksidativt stress omkring lesjonene og lignende proteinuttrykk i skumceller. Betydelige forskjeller ble også funnet: mangel på endotelaktivering, fravær av LOX-1-proteinuttrykk og manglende assosiasjon til SAA1 i akutt aterose er av spesiell interesse, siden disse egenskapene er sentrale i tidlige stadier av aterosklerosedannelse.

Resultatene i avhandlingen indikerer både felles og forskjellige veier for utvikling av akutt aterose og aterosklerose. Likhetene mellom de to arterielesjonene kan støtte vår hypotese om akutt aterose som en indikator på økt risiko for fremtidig hjerte- og karsykdom hos kvinner, men flere longitudinelle studier trengs for å bekrefte denne hypotesen.

SUMMARY OF THE THESIS

Preeclampsia is a pregnancy complication defined by new-onset hypertension and at least one other sign of organ dysfunction (e.g. proteinuria, elevated liver transaminases, coagulopathy, or eclampsia/seizures), by definition appearing in the second half of pregnancy. Preeclampsia causes significant maternal morbidity and mortality during pregnancy worldwide. Maternal long-term health may also be affected, as preeclampsia survivors have an increased risk of developing cardiovascular disease.

Acute atherosis is a pregnancy-specific lesion of the uteroplacental spiral arteries, which supply the placenta with blood during pregnancy. These arterial wall foam cell lesions are most commonly found in the decidua basalis, which lies directly beneath the placenta. Acute atherosis is common in pregnancies complicated by preeclampsia and/or diabetes mellitus, but also occurs in uncomplicated pregnancies. The lesions morphologically resemble early stages of atherosclerosis ("fatty streaks"), a lesion which is a leading cause of clinical cardiovascular disease. Acute atherosis and fatty streak lesions are both characterized by arterial wall lipid-filled (foam) cells, inflammation, and oxidative stress.

Our research group has proposed that acute atherosis, commonly seen in preeclampsia, could be viewed as a failed stress test of the female cardiovascular system during pregnancy. Preeclampsia is a sex-specific risk factor for cardiovascular disease, and we have hypothesized that acute atherosis may represent another sex-specific risk factor. This thesis aims to uncover morphological and molecular vascular and circulating biomarker features of acute atherosis and preeclampsia. The thesis compares acute atherosis and atherosclerosis by studying established key components and biomarkers of atherosclerosis in decidua basalis tissue with and without acute atherosis lesions. The hypothesis of the thesis is that vascular and circulating biomarkers of known importance in atherosclerosis are associated with acute atherosis and preeclampsia as well.

The studies in this thesis use decidua basalis tissue and maternal blood samples from the Oslo Pregnancy Biobank, from women with uncomplicated pregnancies or pregnancies complicated by hypertensive disorders of pregnancy (including preeclampsia) and/or diabetes mellitus. Most biological samples were collected at the start of and during elective caesarean section, while some of the blood samples were collected at other times prior to delivery.

Decidua basalis tissue was collected using our previously developed vacuum suction technique. Decidua basalis serial tissue slides were stained with immunohistochemical and histochemical stains. All tissue sections were evaluated by the PhD candidate, with assistance from experienced placenta pathologists and experienced members of the research group. Spiral arteries were identified according to predefined criteria. Acute atherosis was defined as at least two adjacent foam cells (vacuolated and CD68-positive), an evidence-based criterion previously developed by our group. Endothelial cells were identified using immunohistochemical stains CD31 and von Willebrand factor (vWF). Endothelial activation, a central feature of early atherosclerosis, was assessed by intercellular adhesion molecule 1 (ICAM-1), and defined as at least three adjacent ICAM-1-positive endothelial cells. Foam cells were characterized by assessing the lipid-handling proteins fatty acid binding protein 4 (FABP4), perilipin-2, and lectin-like oxidized LDL receptor 1 (LOX-1), which are all present in atherosclerosis.

Maternal blood samples (EDTA plasma) were assessed for concentrations of serum amyloid A1 (SAA1) and pregnancy zone protein (PZP), circulating markers of protein misfolding, using enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay (ELISA). Protein misfolding has been shown to accelerate atherosclerosis.

Papers I-II studied spiral artery and acute atherosis morphology in uncomplicated and preeclamptic pregnancies. We observed fully and partially physiologically transformed decidua basalis spiral arteries, as well as acute atherosis, in samples from preeclamptic as well as uncomplicated pregnancies. The studies purposefully chose to over-represent acute atherosis decidua basalis samples from uncomplicated and preeclamptic pregnancies.

Decidua basalis acute atherosis was associated with an altered endothelial phenotype (Paper I). "Abnormal" endothelial cells were defined as swollen or irregularly shaped as opposed to a normal, flat endothelial cell layer. "Destroyed" endothelium was defined as disrupted and detached from the arterial wall. We found that almost all acute atherosis lesions had an abnormal or destroyed endothelial lining, and displayed lower staining intensity of CD31 than endothelial cells in spiral arteries without acute atherosis. Acute atherosis was not associated with endothelial activation.

Almost all (93%) decidua basalis acute atherosis lesions had at least one perilipin-2-positive foam cell, and 55% of all foam cells observed were positive for perilipin-2 (Paper II). FABP4 was less frequently observed, only present in 36% of acute atherosis lesions and in 13% of all foam cells. LOX-1 was not observed in foam cells or other parts of acute atherosis lesions, but was significantly more often found in the perivascular area of arteries with acute atherosis than around arteries without acute atherosis.

There were no significant differences in acute atherosis characteristics (endothelial morphology and activation, frequency of perilipin-2 and FABP4 expression) between uncomplicated and preeclamptic pregnancies (Papers I-II).

Paper III studied circulating biomarkers associated with protein misfolding (SAA1 and PZP) in blood samples from uncomplicated pregnancies and pregnancies complicated by hypertensive disorders (including preeclampsia)

and/or diabetes mellitus. Presence of acute atherosis in the pregnancies included to Paper III was also recorded.

Decidua basalis acute atherosis was present in 39% of the women with hypertensive disorders of pregnancy, compared to 9% of the uncomplicated pregnancies (Paper III), which is comparable to other decidua basalis studies. Acute atherosis was not associated with circulating levels of SAA1 or PZP.

Circulating levels of SAA1 were increased and PZP decreased, in pregnancies complicated by early-onset preeclampsia (delivery prior to 34 weeks' gestation) compared to uncomplicated pregnancies (Paper III). Further, SAA1 and PZP were associated with proxies for placental dysfunction, such as fetal growth restriction and dysregulated angiogenic biomarkers.

This PhD thesis demonstrates similarities as well as discrepancies between acute atherosis lesions of small decidua basalis spiral arteries and previously well described atherosclerosis lesions found in larger arteries. The thesis highlights some of the more prominent similarities between the two arterial lesions: local oxidative stress and similar foam cell protein expression. Significant discrepancies are also recognized. The lack of endothelial activation, LOX-1 protein expression, and circulating SAA1 in acute atherosis are particularly interesting differences, as these features are central in early stages of atherosclerosis.

In conclusion, the results of this thesis indicate both shared and differing pathways for development of acute atherosis and atherosclerosis. The similarities between the two lesions may support our hypothesis of acute atherosis as an indicator of increased future maternal cardiovascular risk, although additional longitudinal studies are needed to confirm this hypothesis.

1. INTRODUCTION

1.1 Spiral arteries: the end arteries of the uterine blood supply

The uterus receives its blood supply from the uterine arteries, which arise from the internal iliac arteries, and anastomose with the ovarian arteries (Figure 1.1). The uterine arteries give rise to the arcuate arteries, which run in the outer-middle part of the myometrium (the muscular layer of the uterine wall). The arcuate arteries give off branches called radial arteries, which penetrate the myometrium and end as the spiral arteries (named so because of their corkscrew shape), running through the inner myometrium through to the endometrium (the mucosal lining of the uterine cavity), supplying the functional layer of the endometries, which supply the basal layer of the endometrium (1-3).



Figure 1.1. The uterine blood supply, nonpregnant uterus. Illustration by Ingrid K. Fosheim, in part based on images from Servier Medical Art.

1.2 Placentation and placental blood supply

The endometrium (termed "decidua" during pregnancy) and the spiral arteries undergo immense changes during pregnancy to allow the fetus and placenta to develop. Structural changes in the endometrium to facilitate pregnancy begin even before conception. The endometrium undergoes hormone-dependent changes, largely driven by progesterone, toward the end of each menstrual cycle, preparing it to receive the conceptus (4). Immediately following implantation of the blastocyst (early stages of the conceptus), the placenta begins to form. Uteroplacental anatomy is summarized in Figure 1.2.



Figure 1.2. Uteroplacental anatomy and circulation. Illustration by Ingrid K. Fosheim.

Formation and development of the placenta is referred to as placentation. Normal placentation is vital for normal placental function throughout pregnancy (5). A healthy placenta is essential to a healthy pregnancy, as the placenta is a multi-talented organ responsible for several vital functions for the growing fetus, such as gas exchange, water and pH balance, numerous metabolic processes, endocrine functions, and more (6).

1.2.1 Early stages of placentation

After the blastocyst implants into the decidua, fetal cells (named trophoblasts) in the outer cell layer begin to invade the decidua (7).

The decidua is anatomically and functionally divided into two parts at term, illustrated in Figure 1.3. The decidua underlying the placenta is called "decidua basalis" (also named decidua placentalis), which is where spiral arteries that supply the placenta are located. "Decidua parietalis" (also named decidua vera) is the remaining decidua lining the uterine wall, where there is no placental tissue attached, and which has not been invaded by trophoblasts. "Decidua capsularis" refers to the part of decidua that grows over the embryo, but fuses with decidua parietalis by the fourth month of gestation (2). This thesis will focus on decidua basalis and the spiral arteries supplying the placenta (also referred to as uteroplacental spiral arteries).

There are two types of trophoblasts: the multinucleated syncytiotrophoblast and cytotrophoblasts (single nucleus). Cytotrophoblasts are further divided into extravillous trophoblasts (EVTs) and villous trophoblasts. Villous trophoblasts and the syncytiotrophoblast form the outer layers of the placental villi (Figure 1.2), while EVTs invade the decidua basalis and underlying myometrium (7).



Figure 1.3. Anatomy of the decidua at term. Decidua basalis (orange dashed line) underlying the placenta. Decidua parietalis fused with decidua capsularis (blue line). Created using Servier Medical Art.

EVTs are divided into interstitial and endovascular trophoblasts (8). Endovascular EVTs "plug" the uteroplacental spiral arteries during the first 8-12 weeks of pregnancy (9). The developing placenta requires a physiological hypoxic environment to thrive, and these EVT plugs hinder oxygen-rich blood from reaching the immature trophoblasts too early during placentation (10). Inadequate EVT plugging and premature uteroplacental circulation is associated with oxidative stress, damage to the developing placenta, and miscarriage (11).

While the spiral arteries are plugged early in pregnancy (prior to week 9 of pregnancy), and there is no uteroplacental circulation, the endometrial glands provide the placenta and fetus with nutrients, termed histiotrophic nutrition (12).

As the trophoblast plugs begin to dissolve around week 9 of pregnancy (9), the spiral arteries begin to perfuse the intervillous space of the placenta with maternal blood (Figure 1.2).

1.2.2 Physiological transformation of uteroplacental spiral arteries

The EVTs invade the decidua basalis and the spiral arteries at the blastocyst insertion site (i.e. where the placenta is developing). Consequently, trophoblast invasion of uteroplacental spiral arteries is typically more extensive in the spiral arteries directly underlying the placental center (i.e. cord insertion site), less in the placental margins, and not at all in the spiral arteries not involved in placental blood supply (i.e. decidua parietalis) (13-15).

Trophoblast invasion of the decidua basalis and spiral arteries is an important feature of spiral artery transformation, also referred to as remodeling or conversion. Spiral artery transformation is a physiological process involving changes in the spiral artery walls and is central for normal placentation and placental function (8, 16). Transformation involves both trophoblast independent and trophoblast dependent processes, and has been proposed to occur through five stages (8). The first stage begins before spiral arteries are in contact with trophoblasts (17), and includes beginning artery dilation and endothelial vacuolization. The following four stages (2nd: disorganization of vascular smooth muscle by interstitial EVTs, 3rd: endovascular EVT migration, 4th: EVTs embedded within intramural fibrinoid, 5th: re-endothelialization) all involve EVTs (8). Spiral arteries are transformed from both the luminal and adventitial sides in order to adequately meet the blood supply demands of the placenta. Interstitial EVTs invade the decidual tissue first, followed by endovascular EVTs after dissolution of the EVT plugs. EVTs (thought to be predominantly endovascular) migrate into the spiral artery wall (8). Endovascular and interstitial EVTs work together with maternal immune cells (18, 19), through complex cross-talk mechanisms (20), to break down the vascular smooth muscle layer, resulting in replacement by fibrinoid (8, 21). In the central part of the decidua basalis, spiral artery transformation with intramural trophoblasts and fibrinoid replacement of the artery wall is present even from week 10 of pregnancy, while the spiral arteries in the placental margin take longer to become transformed (13). Removing the smooth muscle layer from the uteroplacental spiral arteries exempts the arteries from blood pressure regulation exerted by vascular smooth muscle cells and ensures a steady, low-velocity blood flow to the placenta (22).

In normal pregnancy, EVT invasion and spiral artery transformation extends into the inner third of the myometrium (14, 23). Here, the EVTs fuse and become multinucleated "giant cells", marking the end point of normal trophoblast invasion depth (13).

1.3 Placental dysfunction: cause of main obstetrical syndromes

Failure of physiological transformation is called insufficient (also termed incomplete, partial, or failed) physiological transformation, and contributes to poor placentation. Shallow trophoblast invasion is assumed to mediate insufficient physiological transformation of the spiral arteries, and in particular in the myometrial segments (24). The spiral arteries thereby retain some or all of their vascular smooth muscle cells, resulting in a pulsatile blood flow and ischemia-reperfusion injuries to the placenta (22), including oxidative and endoplasmic reticulum stress (25, 26).

Poor placentation with insufficient transformation of uteroplacental spiral arteries may lead to placental dysfunction and subsequent "placental syndromes" with adverse outcome for mother and newborn. Placental syndromes include preeclampsia, fetal growth restriction, preterm delivery, preterm prelabor rupture of membranes, placental abruption, and intrauterine fetal death (27, 28). Among placental syndromes, preeclampsia, fetal growth restriction, and spontaneous preterm deliveries comprise the largest groups. In Norway, preeclampsia affects 3%, fetal growth restriction 10-15%, and preterm delivery (defined as delivery prior to gestational week 37) 6% of all deliveries, respectively (not excluding possible overlap) (29-31).

Preeclampsia is a hypertensive disorder of pregnancy (HDP). HDPs also include gestational hypertension, chronic hypertension, and chronic hypertension with superimposed preeclampsia, all defined in Table 3.1 in Chapter 3 (Materials and methods). The 2018 revised preeclampsia definition by ISSHP (International Society for the Study of Hypertension in Pregnancy) acknowledges the many clinical aspects of the syndrome, with proteinuria no longer being a mandatory criterion in addition to new-onset hypertension (Table 3.1) (32).

Preeclampsia has gained much research attention due to its large impact on maternal and fetal mortality and morbidity worldwide (33). As recently reviewed by us (3), placental malperfusion and injury caused by insufficient spiral artery transformation triggers release of pro-inflammatory placental molecules (e.g. antiangiogenic factors). This leads to excessive systemic maternal inflammation, ultimately resulting in maternal hypertension and preeclampsia-associated organ dysfunction, the clinical manifestation of preeclampsia.

Two distinct subtypes of preeclampsia are recognized: early- and late-onset preeclampsia (defined in Table 3.1). Redman and Staff have proposed that both early- and late-onset preeclampsia result from placental malperfusion and syncytiotrophoblast stress, but that the causes and timing of the placental dysfunction differ (28, 34-36), illustrated in Figure 1.4.



Figure 1.4. Reprinted from (28) via Open Access. The 2019 revised two-stage model of preeclampsia (PE): two placental pathways to clinical preeclampsia. Early-onset preeclampsia involves poor placentation with insufficient physiological transformation of uteroplacental spiral arteries, while late-onset preeclampsia is associated with placental hypoxia due to villous overcrowding towards term. ER: endoplasmic reticulum. FGR: fetal growth restriction. STB: syncytiotrophoblast.

Early-onset preeclampsia is characterized by shallow EVT invasion and insufficient spiral artery transformation. It has been a common misunderstanding that both interstitial and endovascular invasion routes are affected in early-onset preeclampsia. As discussed by Pijnenborg et al. (8), interstitial EVT invasion occurs prior to endovascular EVT invasion, but it is only the depth of the latter that is reduced in preeclampsia while the interstitial trophoblast invasion depth remains normal, as confirmed by Lyall et al. (37).

Late-onset preeclampsia is most often not affected by poor placentation and insufficient spiral artery transformation (5, 28, 35) (Figure 1.4). Per the two-stage model of preeclampsia, dysfunctional placentation, occurring in early pregnancy, constitutes the first stage in early-onset preeclampsia. In late-onset preeclampsia, the first stage may be caused by villous overcrowding and placental malperfusion in a large placenta towards term. The common second stage for both early- and late-onset preeclampsia is syncytiotrophoblast stress (36). This revised two-stage model of preeclampsia fits better with the clinical heterogeneity of preeclampsia as well as gestational hypertension, and with the role of the placenta-associated circulating angiogenic biomarkers soluble fms-like tyrosine kinase-1 (sFlt-1) and placental growth factor (PIGF) (28, 34-36).

1.4 Acute atherosis

Acute atherosis is a lesion affecting spiral arteries (Figure 1.5). It is most frequently found at the tips of decidua basalis spiral arteries, but is also found in spiral arteries in the decidua parietalis and myometrium (16, 38-40). Hertig was among the first to describe pathology of the decidual vessels, and in 1945 he described "an acute degenerative arteriolitis" with subintimal foamy leukocytes, fibrinoid degeneration of the tunica media and stenosis (41). This lesion was then termed "acute atherosis" by Zeek and Assali in 1950 (38).

Acute atherosis is typically found downstream of spiral arteries with insufficient or incomplete transformation in the myometrial segment of the artery (16). As reviewed by us (3), the frequency of acute atherosis varies greatly between different studies and is affected by sampling method (40), but is more prevalent in preeclampsia (10-52% of pregnancies) compared to normotensive pregnancies (0.4-11%) (42-44). Another possible explanation for the large variation in rates lies in the nature of acute atherosis lesions, as they do not necessarily affect the entire circumference or length of a spiral artery, nor all spiral arteries (8, 44). The highest acute atherosis rates are found in pregnancies with profound placentation problems and insufficient physiological transformation of spiral arteries, such as in autoimmune maternal disease like systemic lupus erythematosus (45), where the lesions have been found as early as gestational week 12 (46).



Figure 1.5. Decidua basalis spiral arteries. A, spiral artery without acute atherosis. B, spiral artery with acute atherosis. Photos by Ingrid K. Fosheim.

1.4.1 Defining acute atherosis: new evidence-based criteria by our group

Zeek and Assali expanded on Hertig's definition and described acute atherosis as containing intimal "fatty material" in "large mononuclear cells", "fibrinoid necrosis", and "inflammatory exudation" (38) – giving rise to the "classical" definition of acute atherosis consisting of subintimal foam cells, medial fibrinoid necrosis, and perivascular mononuclear inflammation.

As argued in several publications by our group (3, 44, 47), a clear, reproducible definition of what constitutes each of the three acute atherosis criteria has been lacking, making comparisons between studies on acute atherosis more difficult.

Our group has therefore suggested an evidence-based research definition of acute atherosis as two or more adjacent subintimal, vacuolated, CD68-positive cells ("foam cells"), omitting fibrinoid necrosis and perivascular inflammation as necessary for a diagnosis of acute atherosis (44).

Other researchers have studied spiral artery lesions in the decidua parietalis and/or basalis that are similar to acute atherosis. These lesions, termed "decidual vasculopathy" have artery wall fibrinoid necrosis (with or without foam cells) or smooth muscle hypertrophy as the main diagnostic features (48-50).

1.4.2 Potential mechanisms for acute atherosis development

The causes and development mechanisms of acute atherosis are not fully understood, though researchers for decades have worked towards a greater understanding of the lesion. As mentioned, acute atherosis typically occurs downstream of incomplete transformation of spiral arteries (16), which causes pulsatile flow through the spiral artery (22). This aberrance from normal pregnancy hemodynamics may result in disturbed shear stress and endothelial damage. Indeed, signs of endothelial damage are observed in acute atherosis, with resulting loss of endothelial barrier integrity and leakage of fibrin material into the artery wall (50-52). Endothelial damage and dysfunction in acute atherosis is further discussed in section 1.7 ("Endothelial cells").

There is substantial evidence in favor of an excessive inflammatory component to acute atherosis, and Labarrere proposed already in 1988 that acute atherosis represented a "hallmark of immune aggression" based on his and others' findings of immune involvement in the lesion (53). Several studies have documented immunoglobulin deposits, complement involvement, and increased levels of leukocytes (immunohistochemically identified as primarily consisting of macrophages and T-lymphocytes) in the artery wall and perivascular area of acute atherosis lesions (44, 48, 53, 54). Further, maternal immune tolerization is also involved, as certain genetic combinations of maternal and fetal protein expression thought to promote inflammation are associated with acute atherosis in preeclampsia (55).

We have recently reviewed (3) our concept of multiple pathways (56-58) leading to decidual inflammation and the formation of acute atherosis in decidua basalis. As illustrated in Figure 1.6, incomplete spiral artery transformation is not a mandatory prerequisite for downstream acute atherosis formation in our model. Other pathways to excessive decidual inflammation are also likely; thereby multiple pathways to acute atherosis are possible. This is in line with acute atherosis also being observed in late-onset preeclampsia (44), where spiral artery transformation most often is normal.



Figure 1.6. Reprinted from (3) via Open Access. Multiple possible pathways to excessive decidual inflammation and resulting acute atherosis.

Our two recent reviews (3, 47) summarize our concepts regarding possible mechanisms behind acute atherosis lesion initiation and development specifically for early- and late-onset preeclampsia, illustrated in Figure 1.7. This model highlights the likely shared pathways between acute atherosis and preeclampsia as well as the crosstalk between the two clinical entities. For early-onset preeclampsia, we propose that poor placentation caused by shallow endovascular EVT invasion with ensuing insufficient spiral artery transformation and placental malperfusion leads to excessive decidual inflammation and acute atherosis. Late-onset preeclampsia may also lead to acute atherosis through excessive decidual inflammation, but caused by senescent ("ageing") placenta or placental malperfusion caused by a overcrowding of placental villi towards the end of pregnancy. This theory fits with the proposed two-stage preeclampsia model (28) and converges at syncytiotrophoblast stress, known to cause inflammation (36), proposed by us to result in acute atherosis (3, 58).

1.4.3 Clinical consequences of acute atherosis and effect on pregnancy outcome

As illustrated in Figure 1.7, acute atherosis may in itself contribute to placental dysfunction and ensuing clinical syndromes such as preeclampsia and fetal growth restriction. Acute atherosis constricts the spiral artery lumen, which likely worsens the already dysfunctional uteroplacental flow (22, 47). Further, decidual vasculopathy (often resembling acute atherosis) is associated with increased uterine artery pulsatility index, indicating disturbed uteroplacental flow (59). Thrombosis is frequently observed in spiral arteries affected by acute atherosis (44, 60) and is associated with downstream placental infarcts (38, 61). Preeclamptic pregnancies with acute atherosis are associated with more severe clinical outcomes such as preterm delivery and fetal growth restriction (40, 48), and in some studies fetal death and perinatal infant mortality (43, 49).



Figure 1.7. Reprinted from (47) via Open Access. Acute atherosis in early- and late-onset placental dysfunction. The figure illustrates possible routes to acute atherosis formation in abnormal placentation caused by insufficient spiral artery transformation (as illustrated here for early-onset preeclampsia (PE)). Other routes than abnormal placentation may also lead to acute atherosis (as seen in late-onset preeclampsia). The figure also illustrates how acute atherosis may lead to or aggravate preexisting preeclampsia through dysfunctional uteroplacental perfusion. ER: endoplasmic reticulum.

1.5 Pregnancies with placental dysfunction: adverse long-term health outcomes for offspring and mother

Offspring that survive pregnancies complicated by placental dysfunction, such as preterm birth, fetal growth restriction, and preeclampsia, often have long-term health problems due to their prematurity at birth (62). Placental dysfunction may also lead to long-term maternal health problems, as discussed in the 5th Edition of Chesley's Hypertensive Disorders of Pregnancy (62). Over the last several decades, developmental origins of health and disease (DOHaD) has received much research attention, whereas less interest has been paid to the mother's long-term health, until the last two decades.

Chesley remarked almost 50 years ago that women with previous preeclampsiaeclampsia seemed to have increased risk of premature cardiovascular death (63). Population-based studies in Norway from over 20 years ago uncovered that women with a history of placental dysfunction, such as preeclampsia or preterm delivery, have increased long-term mortality compared to women with uncomplicated pregnancies (64). Furthermore, women with preeclampsia and preterm delivery have an 8-fold increased risk of death from cardiovascular disease (CVD) (64). Preeclampsia remains a risk factor for CVD after adjusting for established CVD risk factors (65).

CVD is the leading cause of death for females and males in most countries worldwide (66). Several different vasculopathies cause CVD, with atherosclerosis being the main cause (67). Atherosclerosis is the name of the pathological process ending in fatty ("athero-") lesions of the arterial wall, causing the arteries to harden ("-sclerosis"), obstructing the artery lumen as the lesion grows, with the final stage of the disease being rupture of the fatty and fibrous plaque causing thrombosis and occlusion of the affected artery (67). The understanding of atherosclerosis pathophysiology has evolved over time: from the view of atherosclerosis being a lipid storage disorder to the introduction of

smooth muscle cells as key players in the disease, to the current understanding of atherosclerosis as primarily being an inflammatory artery wall disease, with a vast number of risk factors and pathways (68).

1.6 Acute atherosis: a risk factor for premature cardiovascular disease?

Preeclampsia is related to vascular disease both during and after pregnancy, through the associations to acute atherosis and atherosclerotic CVD. Further, acute atherosis and atherosclerosis (particularly early stages of the lesion, often called "fatty streaks") share several morphological features, as reviewed by Staff and Redman (69). Thus, our group has hypothesized that acute atherosis itself could present a sex-specific risk factor for CVD in addition to preeclampsia (3, 56-58, 69).

As mentioned in section 1.4.3 ("Clinical consequences of acute atherosis"), acute atherosis has been associated with more severe clinical outcomes in patients with preeclampsia, in particular preterm delivery and fetal growth restriction. Such adverse outcomes further increase the woman's risk of premature CVD (64), again possibly linking acute atherosis to long-term CVD.

One of the most prominent similarities between acute atherosis and atherosclerosis is the presence of subintimal CD68-immunopositive foam cells (44, 70, 71). Both lesions are also characterized by inflammation (for acute atherosis further detailed in section 1.4.2 "Potential mechanisms for acute atherosis development"), with involvement from both the innate and adaptive immune systems (53, 54, 72), and dyslipidemia (73-75). We have argued (3) that there may be a role for oxidative stress in acute atherosis, which is also implicated in atherosclerosis (76), as increased oxidative stress is observed in decidua basalis from preeclamptic women (77), who have high rates of acute atherosis. Oxidative stress has been demonstrated in the related decidual
vasculopathy lesion (50). Sites of arterial branching or bifurcation are more prone to atherosclerosis development due to disturbed shear stress with ensuing endothelial dysfunction and inflammation (78). Acute atherosis is generally found in decidua basalis segments (i.e. downstream) of spiral arteries with insufficient physiological transformation of the myometrial segments, which generates a pulsatile flow through the decidua basalis (16), and implicates shear stress in acute atherosis.

There are important differences between the lesions as well. The size of the affected arteries greatly differs between acute atherosis and atherosclerosis. While spiral arteries at term are up to 2-3 mm in diameter where they open into the intervillous space (22), atherosclerosis affects larger arteries up to several centimeters in diameter (79). The time course of the two lesions also represents a major difference. Acute atherosis is only present during pregnancy (38), thus developing over the course of weeks or months, while atherosclerosis is a chronic vasculopathy that develops over decades before reaching symptomatic stages. The final stages of atherosclerosis development involve plaque formation with calcification and plaque rupture (67). Plaque stability in atherosclerosis relies on several factors, one being cholesterol crystal structure, which is also important for clinical endpoints (80). While plaque formation and calcification are not known to occur in acute atherosis, a recent study identified presence of cholesterol crystals in decidua basalis tissue and near decidual vessels in preeclampsia, with in vitro findings of cholesterol crystals activating an inflammasome pathway similar to what is seen in atherosclerosis (81). Though the study did not report acute atherosis presence, this finding supports our concept of decidual inflammation at the fetal-maternal border as similar to inflammation in atherosclerosis (58). Whether acute atherosis lesions have the capacity to form fibrous plaques with calcification if pregnancy and lesion duration were longer, is unknown.

1.7 Endothelial cells: key players in vascular health and disease

1.7.1 Normal endothelial function

Vascular endothelial cells line all blood vessels of the human body. The endothelium is involved in processes such as thrombosis, inflammation, and blood pressure regulation (82). A healthy endothelium is essential for normal regulation of these processes and a healthy and well-functioning cardiovascular system. Consequently, endothelial dysfunction is central to several cardiovascular diseases (83).

1.7.2 Endothelial dysfunction in atherosclerosis and preeclampsia

Atherosclerotic lesions typically occur in places of bifurcation or other areas of the arterial tree where the normal laminar blood flow is altered, leading to disturbed shear stress (78, 84). Endothelial shear stress also promotes atherosclerosis lesion development and affects plaque stability (85).

The endothelium also plays a role in atherogenesis through endothelial activation, a process in which the endothelial cells express adhesion molecules to promote attachment and recruitment of circulating leukocytes, inducing proatherogenic vascular inflammation (82). Endothelial activation is considered an important stage during early atherosclerosis lesion development (72). Adhesion molecules shown to be expressed in atherosclerosis include intercellular adhesion molecule 1 (ICAM-1), E-selectin, and vascular cell adhesion molecule 1 (VCAM-1) (86).

The endothelium is also important in preeclampsia pathogenesis. As described in section 1.3 ("Placental dysfunction"), placental malperfusion and dysfunction following insufficient spiral artery transformation (as in early-onset preeclampsia) or senescence and villous overcrowding (as in late-onset preeclampsia) leads to systemic inflammation (3). Systemic endothelial dysfunction (87, 88) and activation (89) have been identified as important features of this systemic maternal response, leading to the clinical features of preeclampsia (34).

1.7.3 Endothelial cells in uteroplacental spiral arteries: some controversies

Over the years, there has been considerable controversy regarding whether uteroplacental spiral arteries are lined by invading EVTs or maternal endothelial cells (90), as recently reviewed by us (3). One proposed scenario is that EVTs for a short period of time replace the endothelial cells, and that the spiral arteries later are re-endothelialized (8).

Endothelial cells have been studied in acute atherosis and the related decidual vasculopathy lesion, with several authors reporting signs of endothelial damage in relation to the lesion (50-52), describing the endothelium as being "locally discontinuous" (51) and "disrupted" (52). Further, our group has demonstrated that plasma concentration of thrombomodulin, a marker of endothelial dysfunction, was increased in women with preeclampsia who also had decidua basalis acute atherosis, compared to women with preeclampsia without acute atherosis (91).

Little work has been performed to explore whether endothelial activation and expression of adhesion molecules may play a role in acute atherosis. One study found endothelial activation (demonstrated by presence of ICAM-1) in spiral arteries in placentae where acute atherosis was detected in neighboring arteries, but they did not report endothelial activation in the spiral arteries that had acute atherosis (92).

1.8 Lipid-handling proteins in atherosclerotic lesions

As described in section 1.6 ("Acute atherosis"), one of the more striking similarities between acute atherosis and fatty streak lesions of atherosclerosis is the presence of numerous foam cells. Histologically, foam cells of acute atherosis and atherosclerosis are similar: they are vacuolated, rather large, with a single small nucleus, have little cytoplasm, and label positive for CD68 (44, 71, 93).

Foam cells have been studied in detail in atherosclerosis, with particular focus on cellular origin of the foam cells, different development mechanisms, and intracellular lipid metabolism, as reviewed by several authors (94, 95).

The vacuoles of the foam cells represent cytoplasmic lipid droplets in both acute atherosis and atherosclerosis – as confirmed by Oil Red O and Sudan Black B staining (96-98). In atherosclerosis, foam cells contain triglycerides, phospholipids, and cholesterol esters, and accumulate neutral lipids in lipid droplets (96). Several different proteins are located on the surface of lipid droplets. Perilipin-2, also called adipophilin or adipose differentiation-related protein (ADRP), is the most abundant of these surface proteins (95). Increased expression of perilipin-2 in macrophages leads to intracellular lipid accumulation (99) and foam cell formation (98), and a mouse model showed that perilipin-2 deficiency protected mice from atherosclerosis (100).

Fatty acid binding protein 4 (FABP4) is involved in intracellular lipid transport and is located to macrophages and endothelial cells in atherosclerotic lesions (71, 101). Lectin-like oxidized low-density lipoprotein (LDL) receptor 1 (LOX-1) promotes lipid accumulation by binding and internalizing oxidized LDL (102). LOX-1 is expressed by endothelial cells in early stages of atherosclerosis (103) and is suggested to promote foam cell formation from smooth muscle cells and macrophages (76, 103). FABP4, perilipin-2, and LOX-1 are not only of importance in atherosclerosis. Studies of preeclamptic placentae (using villous tissue) have shown increased protein expression of FABP4 and LOX-1 and increased gene expression of perilipin-2 compared to normotensive pregnancies (104-106). FABP4, perilipin-2, and LOX-1 have not been studied in uteroplacental acute atherosis, and their potential role in the lesion is unknown.

1.9 Protein misfolding and hypercoagulability

1.9.1 Protein folding and misfolding

Following protein synthesis, the polypeptide chain (also termed the "primary" protein structure) folds (or coils) into the secondary protein structure, such as the α -helix or β -sheet. Protein folding is an important process to ensure normal function of the synthesized protein (107).

Protein folding may go wrong and form misfolded proteins, or the protein may lose its ability to maintain its functional fold (108). Misfolded proteins either lose their normal function or gain potentially undesirable functions (108). They may form fibrous aggregates called amyloid (from Greek; "starch-like"), consisting of numerous fibrils with a cross- β -sheet structure (109). This makes the amyloid fibrils stable, with a slow spontaneous dissociation. Because of their stability as well as large size, amyloid fibrils have been linked to several chronic diseases, as they accumulate in various tissues, disturb cellular and tissue structure, and cause organ dysfunction (109, 110).

1.9.2 Evidence of protein misfolding in atherosclerosis and preeclampsia

Protein misfolding and amyloid accumulation have long been associated with several chronic, progressive, and inflammatory diseases including Alzheimer's disease, arthritis, and atherosclerosis (109, 110). Protein misfolding has been identified in preeclampsia as well over the last decade, with amyloid accumulating in the urine, serum, and placenta of women with preeclampsia (111, 112). Kell and Pretorius have proposed that a common mechanism for these inflammatory diseases may lie in stress-induced iron dysregulation which awakens dormant microbes in the host (113, 114), resulting in release of microbe-associated inflammatory molecules such as lipopolysaccharide, in turn promoting thrombosis, cell death, and further inflammation.

1.9.3 Serum amyloid A1 and pregnancy zone protein: knowledge gaps in placental dysfunction

Several different proteins may form amyloid (109). One such protein is serum amyloid A1 (SAA1), an acute phase protein that is highly upregulated by the liver following inflammatory stimuli (110). SAA1 is elevated in patients with risk of CVD like myocardial infarction (115) and cerebral thrombosis (116), and has been proposed to promote early stages of atherosclerosis (117). SAA1 forms amyloid when SAA1 levels are elevated over time (110), but may also promote amyloid formation by displacing apolipoproteins from LDL or high-density lipoprotein (HDL) (118). SAA1 has been shown to affect platelets to become more prothrombotic *in vitro* (119), linking SAA1 and hypercoagulability.

Apart from being involved in amyloidosis and atherosclerosis, SAA1 may play a role in initiating parturition (120, 121). A possible relationship between SAA1 and placental dysfunction is unclear, as few studies have examined SAA1 in relation to preeclampsia (122-127) and other syndromes of placental dysfunction (128), and existing studies are small and with conflicting findings.

Protein folding is aided by chaperones, which may prevent protein misfolding and amyloid formation (107). An example of one such protein chaperone is pregnancy zone protein (PZP). PZP binds misfolded proteins and prevents aggregation into amyloid fibrils. PZP is highly upregulated during normal pregnancy, and dysregulation of PZP has been suggested to play a role in placentation and risk of preeclampsia (129), though this theory has not been tested.

The roles of SAA1 and PZP are unclear in preeclampsia. Studies from other syndromes of placental dysfunction, like fetal growth restriction, are largely lacking. Likewise, data of SAA1 or PZP in relation to uteroplacental acute atherosis or any form of decidual vasculopathy have not been published.

2. AIMS OF THE THESIS

Uteroplacental spiral artery acute atherosis is a poorly understood and understudied pregnancy-specific lesion. The prevalence of this arterial wall foam cell lesion is high in pregnancies with a dysfunctional placenta, such as in preeclampsia. The lesion bears resemblance to early stages of atherosclerosis. Women who survive preeclampsia have an increased risk of premature atherosclerotic cardiovascular disease, but the mechanisms remain largely unknown. Rates of severe cardiovascular disease such as acute myocardial infarction are rising in young women (130), underscoring the importance of identifying female-specific risk factors and disease mechanisms. We have previously hypothesized that women with acute atherosis (affecting small-caliber spiral arteries) are at higher risk for premature atherosclerotic cardiovascular disease (affecting larger arteries).

The main aim of the thesis was therefore to study vascular and circulating biomarkers in pregnancies affected by preeclampsia and/or uteroplacental acute atherosis in order to uncover shared and discrepant molecular features of preeclampsia, acute atherosis, and atherosclerosis.

Specifically, the thesis aims to answer the following questions:

1. Fetal trophoblasts have been proposed to replace maternal endothelial cells in spiral arteries during pregnancy (90). Are third trimester decidua basalis spiral arteries, with or without acute atherosis lesions, lined by maternal endothelial cells or fetal trophoblasts?

2. If decidua basalis spiral arteries are lined by endothelial cells; is the cellular morphology of the endothelial layer in acute atherosis similar or discrepant to what is known from atherosclerotic lesions, including evidence of endothelial cell activation?

3. Do arterial wall foam cells of decidua basalis acute atherosis lesions express lipid-handling proteins similar or discrepant to what is known of foam cell formation in larger artery atherosclerosis?

4. Preeclampsia is associated with oxidative stress in decidua basalis (77). Does decidua basalis tissue surrounding acute atherosis artery lesions (interstitial tissue) express increased levels of lipid-handling proteins and signs of oxidative stress?

5. Are there differences in molecular properties of decidua basalis acute atherosis when present in preeclamptic pregnancies versus uncomplicated normotensive pregnancies regarding endothelial morphology and activation, as well as lipid-handling protein expression?

6. Is decidua basalis acute atherosis associated with circulating signs of protein misfolding, as in early stages of atherosclerosis?

7. Are pregnancies complicated by preeclampsia or signs of placental dysfunction (e.g. fetal growth restriction or dysregulated angiogenic biomarkers) associated with circulating signs of protein misfolding, as seen in atherosclerosis and cardiovascular disease?

3. MATERIALS AND METHODS

3.1 Study population

This PhD study utilizes clinical data and biological samples from women recruited to the Oslo Pregnancy Biobank (OPB) during pregnancy or prior to elective caesarean delivery.

The OPB is an ongoing, prospective biobank study established in 2001 by Professor Annetine Staff, and is located at the Division of Obstetrics and Gynaecology, Oslo University Hospital, location Ullevål. OPB has since its conception recruited pregnant women with clinically uncomplicated pregnancies as well as pregnancies complicated by hypertensive disorders of pregnancy (HDP), fetal growth restriction, diabetes mellitus (DM; pregestational or gestational), and more (e.g. postterm pregnancies). The overarching goal of the OPB study is, as communicated to study participants, to improve the understanding of pregnancy complications and their short- and long-term effect on maternal and offspring health.

The OPB collects biological samples from pregnancy, including prior to elective caesarean delivery, and at postpartum follow-up. Samples collected during pregnancy include maternal blood and urine. At caesarean delivery, comprehensive biological samples are harvested: maternal blood and urine, subcutaneous fat, amniotic fluid, placental biopsies, decidua basalis biopsies, and umbilical cord biopsies, as well as cord arterial and venous blood.

The Biobank coordinator, PhD candidates, and Medical Student Research Program students recruit study participants, gather comprehensive clinical data, and collect biological samples. Clinical data and biological samples are collected, processed, and stored in accordance with strict predefined OPB protocols, which are in line with international state-of-the-art procedures (131). The collection, processing, and storage of biological samples used in this PhD

47

study are further detailed in sections 3.3 "Decidua basalis tissue collection and processing", 3.4 "Tissue sectioning and staining", 3.6 "Maternal blood sampling", and 3.7 "Blood sample analysis".

3.1.1 Formal study approval

The OPB study is approved by the Regional Committee for Medical and Health Research Ethics (REK) in South-Eastern Norway, as are all specific research projects utilizing data and samples from OPB. All OPB study participants provide informed written consent prior to collection of clinical and biological data. The work in the present thesis is part of the REK approved OPB sub-studies HAPPY/PATH (ref no. 2013/2092) and Compass (ref no. 8949), which include acute atherosis studies and circulating biomarker studies.

3.1.2 OPB study participants selected for this PhD thesis

This PhD study comprises biomarker studies of decidua basalis tissue and maternal blood. In women delivered by caesarean section, the indication for caesarean delivery was always decided by a clinician (following informed and shared decision making with the woman), independent of the OPB studies. Participation in the OPB study does not affect choice of delivery method.

OPB study participants selected for the papers of this thesis were recruited to the biobank between 2001 and 2017. Among those recruited during 2016-17, several were recruited by the PhD candidate during her time in the Medical Student Research Program at the University of Oslo. In total, 567 pregnant women have contributed with comprehensive health data and biological samples to this thesis. Figure 3.1 provides an overview of OPB study participants selected for this PhD thesis.



Figure 3.1. Overview of study participant selection to Papers I-III. OPB: Oslo Pregnancy Biobank, FFPE: formalin fixed, paraffin embedded tissue, HDP: hypertensive disorders of pregnancy, DM: diabetes mellitus (pregestational or gestational), NP: normal (normotensive and euglycemic) pregnancy, AA: acute atherosis (in decidua basalis tissue).

All biological samples used in this thesis are collected from women with intact fetal membranes, without regular laboring contractions or signs of infection. For samples collected at caesarean delivery, all (except 16 women with HDP included to Paper III, of which 2 were also included to Paper II) were fasting (defined by us as no food or fluid intake in the last 6 hours). The majority of samples collected prior to delivery (only applies to Paper III; 70 of 81) were from non-fasting women.

Study participants in this thesis contributing with decidual tissue and/or blood collected at caesarean delivery were diagnosed according to final obstetric outcome at delivery (Papers I-III). Participants contributing with blood samples from pregnancy (n = 81 participants in Paper III) were diagnosed according to their obstetric diagnosis at blood sampling. The thesis includes participants with (euglycemic and clinically uncomplicated normotensive) pregnancies, HDP (preeclampsia, gestational hypertension, chronic hypertension, superimposed preeclampsia), DM (pregestational (both type I and II) or gestational), and HDP+DM (participants with an HDP and a DM diagnosis).

For Papers I and II, preeclampsia was defined using "classical" criteria (132): new-onset hypertension (blood pressure $\geq 140 \text{ mmHg}$ systolic and/or $\geq 90 \text{ mmHg}$ diastolic) and new-onset proteinuria (repeated $\geq 1+$ protein on dipstick in the absence of urinary tract infection or $\geq 30 \text{ mg/mmol}$ total protein/creatinine ratio (29)) at ≥ 20 weeks' gestation. For Paper III, preeclampsia and other HDP were defined according to the 2018 International Society for the Study of Hypertension in Pregnancy (ISSHP) classification (32), permitting new-onset signs of organ dysfunction other than proteinuria as sufficient for diagnosing preeclampsia in the presence of new-onset hypertension. The diagnostic criteria for types of HDP included in this thesis are further detailed in Table 3.1. DM (pregestational or gestational) was diagnosed in the clinic by endocrinologists, according to current guidelines (133, 134). **Table 3.1.** Definitions of hypertensive disorders of pregnancy (HDP) categories, and those used in the papers of this thesis

HDP category	Definition	Ref.	Paper
СНТ	Chronic hypertension: hypertension (\geq 140 mmHg systolic and/or \geq 90 mmHg diastolic on \geq 2 occasions \geq 6 hours apart) present prior to pregnancy or discovered during the first half of pregnancy	(29, 32, 132, 135, 136)	II, III
GH (prior to 2018)	Gestational hypertension: new-onset hypertension without proteinuria, developing after 20 weeks' gestation	(132, 135, 136)	Not used
GH (from 2018)	Gestational hypertension: new-onset hypertension without other preeclampsia-related features, developing after 20 weeks' gestation	(29, 32)	III
PE (prior to 2018)	Preeclampsia: new-onset hypertension and proteinuria (\geq 1+ protein on dipstick more than once or \geq 30 mg/mmol total protein/ creatinine ratio), developing after 20 weeks'	(132, 135, 136)	I, II
PE (from 2018)	Preeclampsia: new-onset hypertension and ≥ 1 preeclampsia-related feature(s), such as proteinuria, acute kidney injury, elevated liver transaminases, neurological symptoms (e.g. eclampsia), hematological complications, and fetal growth restriction, developing after 20 weeks' gestation	(29, 32)	Ш
Early-onset PE	PE and delivery < 34 weeks' gestation	(28, 137)	I-III
Late-onset PE	PE and delivery \geq 34 weeks' gestation	(28, 137)	I-III
Superimposed PE (prior to 2018)	A woman with CHT develops de novo proteinuria after 20 weeks' gestation	(132, 136)	II
Superimposed PE (from 2018)	A woman with CHT develops ≥ 1 preeclampsia- related feature(s) after 20 weeks' gestation	(29, 32)	III

Gestational age at delivery was defined by routine ultrasound at 17-20 weeks' gestation, offered to all pregnant women in Norway as part of the public health antenatal care program. Where ultrasound was unavailable (n = 32 participants)in Paper III), gestational age was defined by embryo transfer date in the case of in vitro fertilization (n = 25), or first day of the last menstrual period before pregnancy (assuming pregnancy length of 282 days, n = 7). Sex-specific newborn weight percentages were calculated according to Norwegian fetal ultrasound-based growth curves of uncomplicated pregnancies (138). Small for gestational age (used in Papers I-II) was defined as birth weight $\leq 10^{\text{th}}$ percentile. Fetal growth restriction was defined in Paper I as birth weight \leq 3rd percentile, with or without pathological antenatal fetal Dopplers (absent or reversed umbilical flow. umbilical artery pulsatility arterv index $>95^{\text{th}}$ percentile, cerebral artery pulsatility index $<5^{\text{th}}$ percentile, and/or cerebroplacental ratio ≤ 1.08) (139, 140), and in Paper III as birth weight $\leq 3^{rd}$ percentile.

3.2 Study design

3.2.1 Study design of Papers I -II

Papers I-II control studies using histochemistry are case and immunohistochemistry methodology to evaluate detailed features of decidua basalis acute atherosis lesions. OPB study participants whose decidua basalis tissue sample had previously been assessed and where presence of spiral arteries (with or without acute atherosis) was confirmed, and who had additional decidua basalis tissue sections available in the OPB, were selected for these studies (Figure 3.1). Cases were participants with confirmed decidua basalis acute atherosis. Controls were participants without decidua basalis acute atherosis (but with present decidua basalis spiral arteries in the tissue section). We included participants with preeclampsia as well as participants with normotensive pregnancies in both the case (acute atherosis present) and control (acute atherosis absent) groups.

Papers I-II only include OPB study participants with normotensive or preeclamptic pregnancies (all included were euglycemic throughout pregnancy). In Paper I, participants with normotensive pregnancies were termed "normotensive controls". From a study design perspective, these participants could be part of both the control (acute atherosis absent) and case (acute atherosis present) groups. In Paper II, two of the participants in the preeclampsia group had preexisting chronic hypertension, with new-onset proteinuria after 20 weeks' gestation (= superimposed preeclampsia). All other participants in the preeclampsia group in Papers I-II had new-onset hypertension and proteinuria after 3.1.

3.2.2 Study design of Paper III

Paper III is a cross-sectional study where OPB study participants (pregnant women recruited pre-delivery and/or at caesarean delivery) with sufficient volume of available maternal plasma in the biobank were included. A subset of the participants included at caesarean delivery had been assessed for decidua basalis acute atherosis. The study used enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay (ELISA) to describe circulating biomarkers in preeclampsia and acute atherosis.

Paper III includes OPB study participants with euglycemic and normotensive pregnancies (termed "controls"), as well as HDP, DM, and HDP+DM pregnancies.

3.3 Decidua basalis tissue collection and processing

Decidua basalis tissue was collected using the decidual vacuum suction method previously developed and evaluated by our group (40, 77, 141, 142). Following delivery of the fetus and placenta at elective caesarean delivery, the placental bed is gently suctioned with a vacuum curette (as routinely used during surgical evacuation of the uterus following retained pregnancy tissues of early abortions) by the obstetrician performing the caesarean delivery. The collected tissue is immediately flushed with 500 mL sterile 0.9% saline solution at room temperature to remove blood. A representative part of the decidua basalis tissue is then covered with 4% formalin for fixation and subsequently embedded in paraffin.

3.4 Tissue sectioning and staining

3.4.1 Decidua basalis tissue sectioning and preparation

Decidua basalis formalin fixed, paraffin embedded (FFPE) blocks were cut to $3 \mu m$ thick sections using a Micron HM 355 microtome (Thermo Fisher Scientific Inc., USA). Sections were mounted on SuperFrost slides (Menzel Gläser, Germany).

Prior to staining, FFPE sections were deparaffinized and rehydrated (detailed in Appendix 1). A complete list of immunohistochemical stains, including antibodies, dilutions, clones, manufacturers, and positive control tissues used in Papers I-II is shown in Table 3.2.

Stain	Target antigen	Clone / Producer / Dilution	Positive control tissue
Monoclonal mouse anti-human Cytokeratin 7	Cytokeratin (CK) 7	OV-TL 12/30 / Dako, Denmark / 1:300	Placenta
Monoclonal mouse anti-human CD68	CD68 scavenger receptor	KP1 / Dako, Denmark / 1:1500	Appendix (appendicitis), tonsil
Monoclonal mouse anti-human CD31	CD31	JC70A / Dako, Denmark / 1:400	Appendix (appendicitis), kidney
Monoclonal mouse anti-human ICAM-1	Intercellular adhesion molecule 1	23G12 / Thermo Fisher Scientific, USA / 1:10 + amplification	Appendix (appendicitis), kidney
Polyclonal rabbit anti-human vWF	von Willebrand factor	polyclonal / Dako, Denmark / 1:120000	Kidney, placenta
Polyclonal rabbit anti-human FABP4	Fatty acid binding protein 4	polyclonal / Sigma- Aldrich, USA / 1:1000	Placenta
Monoclonal mouse anti-human PLIN2	Perilipin-2	AP125 / Progen, Germany / 1:300	Liver
Monoclonal mouse anti-human LOX-1	Lectin-like oxidized LDL receptor 1	9E12.1 / Millipore, USA / 1:750	Placenta

Table 3.2. Overview of immunohistochemical stains used in Papers I-II

3.4.2 Histochemical and immunohistochemical staining for Paper I

Serial 3 μ m sections of decidua basalis tissue were stained with CD31 (also known as platelet endothelial cell adhesion molecule 1 (PECAM-1)), intercellular adhesion molecule 1 (ICAM-1), von Willebrand factor (vWF) +

periodic acid-Schiff (PAS), and Martius Scarlet Blue (MSB). Sections were stained with CD31, ICAM-1, and vWF using a Ventana BenchMark XT automated immunostainer (Roche, USA), a system based on the avidin-biotinperoxidase complex method. Positive control tissues used are listed in Table 3.2. Appropriate negative reagent controls (mouse or rabbit, depending on antibody) were used. Staining with MSB and co-staining with PAS (for vWF slides) was performed manually according to routine (detailed in Appendix 1).

In addition, serial sections stained with hematoxylin-eosin (HE; in Paper I, the term H+E was used), desmin+PAS, CK7+PAS, and CD68+PAS were already available for the cohort selected for Paper I, as these sections had been used in a previously published study by our group (44).

3.4.3 Histochemical and immunohistochemical staining for Paper II

All sections used for Paper II were manually stained. Serial 3 µm sections of decidua basalis tissue were stained with HE, CK7+PAS, CD68+PAS, fatty acid binding protein 4 (FABP4), perilipin-2, and lectin-like oxidized low-density lipoprotein receptor 1 (LOX-1). Antibody clones listed in the original publication (Paper II) were incorrect; correct clones are provided in the Corrigendum to Paper II and in Table 3.2.

Following deparaffinization and rehydration, sections were stained with HE according to standard routines or immunostained: by heat-induced antigen retrieval, background peroxidase blocking, target detection with primary antibody (Table 3.2) and horseradish peroxidase (HRP)-labelled secondary antibody (anti-mouse or anti-rabbit depending on primary antibody), visualization with chromagen diaminobenzidine, and counterstaining with hematoxylin. Staining protocols are detailed in Appendix 1.

Positive control tissues used are listed in Table 3.2. Non-immune mouse or rabbit ascites was used as primary antibody for negative reagent control.

Co-staining with PAS (for sections immunostained with CK7 and CD68) was performed as for Paper I, detailed in Appendix 1.

One human aorta sample with early atherosclerotic lesions ("fatty streaks") and one sample with advanced atherosclerotic lesions were stained with FABP4, perilipin-2, and LOX-1. The same antibodies in the same dilutions as for decidua basalis sections were used for methodological comparison of subcellular location of immunostaining.

3.5 Decidua basalis tissue evaluation

All decidua basalis tissue sections used in Papers I-II were evaluated by the PhD candidate after training with an experienced placenta pathologist as well as a PhD candidate with extensive experience in the field of decidua basalis microscopy. For Paper I, decidua basalis serial sections were assessed using a Motic BA410E light microscope, using x4, x10, and x40 objectives. Pictures used for publication were obtained using an Axio Scan slide scanner (Zeiss, Germany) and Zen Blue 2.6 (Zeiss, Germany). For Paper II, all sections were scanned using an Axio Scan slide scanner (Zeiss, Germany) was used for tissue evaluation and for obtaining images for publication. Table 3.3 gives a summary of definitions and terminology regarding decidua basalis tissue evaluation.

Entity	Definition	Ref.	Paper
Trophoblast (extravillous)	Large CK7-positive cell, found in spiral artery walls (intramural) or scattered in the decidual interstitium	(93)	I-II
Decidual stromal cell	Identified using HE slides as large cells with a round-oval shape and a central, rather large, single nucleus, located in the decidual interstitium	(143)	I-II
Decidua basalis tissue	Decidua basalis tissue origin confirmed by presence of extravillous (interstitial) trophoblasts and decidual stromal cells	(93)	I-II
Decidua basalis spiral artery	Arteries in decidua basalis with a diameter \geq 140 µm, measured from outer to outer artery wall border	(44, 93)	I-II
Vacular smooth muscle cell	Desmin-positive cell, typically with a spindle shape, located in the spiral artery wall	(93)	Ι
Foam cell	Vacuolated (in HE slides), mononuclear, CD68-positive cell	(44, 93)	I-II
Physiological fibrinoid (of spiral artery wall)	Bright purple or magenta PAS stain, appearing with a grainy or heterogeneous texture, typically with embedded intramural trophoblasts	(93)	I-II
Fibrinoid necrosis (of spiral artery wall)	Pale pink PAS stain, sometimes with a grey or blue shade, appearing glassy or homogeneous, often with embedded foam cells	(93)	I-II
Complete physiological transformation (of spiral artery)	Spiral artery with intramural trophoblasts, physiological fibrinoid, and absence of mural vascular smooth muscle cells. Also referred to as "completely transformed spiral artery" and (by other authors) "fully remodeled/converted"		Ι

Table 3.3. Morphological classifications and definitions used in the evaluation of decidua basalis tissue in Papers I-II

Partial physiological transformation	Spiral artery with a combination of intramural trophoblasts and physiological fibrinoid, and area(s) with remaining mural vascular smooth muscle cells (lacking fibrinoid in these areas). Also referred to as "partially transformed spiral artery" and (by other authors) "partially/ incompletely remodeled/converted"		Ι
Non- transformed spiral artery	Spiral artery with smooth muscle cells in entire artery wall circumference, absence of physiological fibrinoid and trophoblasts. By other authors also referred to as "unremodeled spiral artery" or "failure of physiological remodeling"		Ι
Acute atherosis	\geq 2 adjacent intramural foam cells in a spiral artery wall	(44)	I-II
non-AA artery	Spiral artery without acute atherosis. Includes completely transformed and partially transformed spiral arteries		I-II
AA artery	Spiral artery with acute atherosis lesion		I-II
non-AA sample	Decidua basalis tissue sample with only <i>non-AA arteries</i>		I-II
AA sample	Decidua basalis tissue sample with $\geq 1 \text{ AA artery}$		I-II
Endothelial cell	CD31- and vWF-positive cell lining the vascular wall (CK7-negative)		Ι
Normal endothelium	Flat, continuous endothelial cells		Ι
Abnormal endothelium	Swollen or irregularly shaped endothelial cells. If a spiral artery has both normal and abnormal endothelium, the endothelium is classified as abnormal if $> 25\%$ of the endothelium has this phenotype		Ι
Destroyed endothelium	Disrupted endothelial cells, often detached from the artery wall		Ι
Endothelial activation	≥ 3 adjacent ICAM-1-positive endothelial cells	(144)	Ι

Perivascular area	The interstitial decidua basalis area surrounding spiral arteries, stretching up to 100 µm from the outer artery wall margin, avoiding other vascular structures	(54)	ΙΙ
Scattered perivascular staining pattern	Single immunopositive cells		II
Focal perivascular staining pattern	\geq 5 immunopositive clustered cells		II
Generalized perivascular staining pattern	Larger portions of the perivascular cells are immunopositive		II

3.5.1 Spiral artery identification

Decidua basalis serial tissue sections were evaluated systematically, using a predefined chart (Appendix 2), based on Appendix 1 of a previous PhD thesis by a candidate from our group (145). First, the HE section was evaluated in order to identify and count spiral arteries. Only arteries with a diameter $\geq 140 \ \mu m$, measured from outer to outer artery wall border, were evaluated, in order to exclude basal arteries (44, 93).

Next, desmin+PAS (Paper I) and CK7+PAS (Papers I-II) slides were assessed. Desmin is an intermediate filament (cytoskeleton component) in smooth muscle cells, and identifies vascular and myometrial smooth muscle cells (93, 146). Desmin positivity in spiral artery tunica media was noted, in particular the location in the artery wall, using a modified categorization after Lyall et al. (37). The degree of disruption of the media was categorized as "no desmin positivity", "separate desmin positive cells", "disrupted/discontinuous desmin positive cells", or "continuous/intact desmin positivity" (Appendix 2). CK7, also a cytoskeleton component, is frequently used as a marker of glandular epithelium, and identifies decidual glandular epithelium and trophoblasts (93, 147). Presence of interstitial trophoblasts was noted and used as confirmation of decidua basalis tissue origin. Presence or absence of intramural trophoblasts was logged for each spiral artery (Appendix 2).

In Paper I, degree of physiological spiral artery transformation was noted. We defined complete physiological transformation as spiral arteries with intramural trophoblasts, physiological fibrinoid, and absence of mural vascular smooth muscle cells. Partial physiological transformation was defined as spiral arteries with a combination of intramural trophoblasts and physiological fibrinoid, and area(s) with remaining mural smooth muscle cells. Non-transformed (the term untransformed was used in Paper I) spiral arteries were defined as containing smooth muscle cells in the entire artery wall circumference, being entirely absent of physiological fibrinoid and trophoblasts (Table 3.3).

3.5.2 Acute atherosis diagnosis

Spiral artery acute atherosis was diagnosed using an evidence-based research definition previously published by our group (44). This definition identifies acute atherosis as presence of ≥ 2 adjacent foam cells, identified as subintimal, vacuolated, and CD68-positive cells. CD68 is a scavenger receptor, and is used to identify monocytes and macrophages. Subintimal, vacuolated cells were identified on HE sections, then assessed for CD68 positivity. As listed in Table 3.3, spiral arteries with acute atherosis were termed *AA arteries* (term used in Papers I-II and throughout the thesis). Conversely, spiral arteries lacking acute atherosis were termed *non-AA arteries* (term used in Paper II and throughout the thesis; in Paper I, the term *nonAA arteries* was used). Decidua basalis tissue samples with ≥ 1 *AA artery* were termed *AA samples* (term used in Papers I-II and throughout the thesis); tissue samples containing only

non-AA arteries were termed *non-AA samples* (term used in Paper II and throughout the thesis; in Paper I, the term *nonAA samples* was used).

3.5.3 Fibrinoid characterization

Spiral artery mural fibrinoid was assessed and characterized using HE, PAS, and MSB. Fibrinoid was identified on HE and PAS, and presence was graded by visually estimating the proportion of fibrinoid in the artery wall circumference ranging from no fibrinoid, < 25%, 25-49%, 50-74%, to \geq 75%, as in our group's previous publication on acute atherosis (44). Mural fibrinoid was categorized using PAS as normal/physiological (bright purple or magenta stain, appearing grainy or with a heterogeneous texture, typically with embedded trophoblasts) or fibrinoid necrosis (pale pink, sometimes with a grey or blue shade, appearing glassy or homogeneous) (93). In Paper I, MSB was used to assess which color of the trichrome stain (blue, red, or yellow) the mural fibrinoid adopted.

3.5.4 Assessment of spiral artery endothelium (Paper I)

In Paper I, spiral artery endothelium was described according to morphology and activation status. Endothelial cells were identified using CD31 and vWF (148). Endothelial cell morphology was categorized qualitatively as "normal" (flattened endothelial cells lining the artery wall), "abnormal" (endothelial cells that were swollen or more irregular in shape compared to normal, flat endothelium), or "destroyed" (disrupted endothelial cell layer, often detached from the artery wall, or artery walls partly lacking endothelial lining). If a spiral artery showed signs of both normal and abnormal endothelial cell morphology, the endothelium was classified as abnormal if > 25% of the endothelium was abnormal. Veins, capillaries, and arteries measuring < 140 μ m were used as internal positive controls for CD31 and vWF. Additionally, the intensity of CD31 positivity in endothelial cells was measured. CD31 slides were scanned as described in section 3.5 ("Decidua basalis tissue evaluation"). The endothelial cell layer was outlined and representative sections of "low" and "high" CD31 intensity were indicated manually in Zen Blue 2.6, after which the total CD31 positive (endothelial) area as well as areas of "high" and "low" CD31 staining intensity were calculated by the software.

Endothelial activation was defined according to a definition used in a previous publication on endothelium in atherosclerotic plaques as ≥ 3 adjacent ICAM-1-positive endothelial cells (144).

We initially planned on using vascular cell adhesion molecule 1 (VCAM-1) and E-selectin to identify endothelial activation in addition to ICAM-1 as all three adhesion molecules had previously been used to identify endothelial activation in atherosclerotic endothelium (86). Unfortunately, we were unsuccessful in achieving a satisfying staining quality using the VCAM-1 (clone 1.4C3, Thermo Fisher Scientific) and E-selectin (clone BBIGE4, R&D Solutions) stains we acquired, and we only went forward with ICAM-1.

3.5.5 Assessment of lipid-handling proteins in foam cells and decidua basalis (Paper II)

Foam cells, identified on HE and CD68 slides, were manually marked and counted in Zen Blue 2.6. We counted the number of foam cells per lesion by counting foam cell nuclei. Co-localization of FABP4, perilipin-2, and LOX-1 was assessed for each identified foam cell.

Expression of FABP4, perilipin-2, and LOX-1 surrounding the spiral arteries (i.e. perivascularly) was also assessed. We defined "perivascularly" as a perimeter extending 100 μ m from the outer artery wall (Figure 3.2) (avoiding other vascular structures or decidual glands), as previously described by our

group (54). Perivascular expression of FABP4, perilipin-2, and LOX-1 was categorized as "no stain" (no immunopositive cells), "scattered" (single immunopositive cells, but seemingly without relation to one another), "focal" (clusters of ≥ 5 immunopositive cells), and "generalized" (large areas of immunopositive cells) (Table 3.3).



Figure 3.2. Perivascular area surrounding an *AA artery*. The perivascular area was predefined as the area extending up to 100 μ m (solid line) from the outer artery wall (dotted line) (54). Photo by Ingrid K. Fosheim.

3.6 Maternal blood sampling

For OPB participants contributing with blood samples during pregnancy (Paper III), blood was sampled from an antecubital vein into ethylenediaminetetraacetic acid (EDTA) and serum gel tubes. For participants contributing with blood sampled immediately prior to caesarean section, blood was obtained from an antecubital vein or an intravenous cannula (prior to flushing or administration of fluids through the cannula) into EDTA and serum gel tubes. For 20 participants, blood was collected from an arterial catheter. EDTA blood samples were immediately placed on ice, and centrifuged at 1800g for 10 min at 4 °C within two hours after sampling. EDTA plasma was then isolated and aliquoted into 0.5 mL Matrix storage vials (Thermo Scientific, USA) before storage at -80 °C until thawing and immunoassay. Serum gel tubes were kept at room temperature for 30-60 min after sampling and then centrifuged at 1800g for 10 min at room temperature. Serum was aliquoted and stored as described for plasma samples.

3.7 Blood sample analyses

EDTA plasma samples were analyzed for concentrations of serum amyloid A1 (SAA1) and pregnancy zone protein (PZP) in duplicates using indirect sandwich enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay (ELISA). Reagents were obtained from R&D Systems, USA; catalogue number for SAA1: DY3019-05, for PZP: DY8280-05. All assays were performed according to the manufacturer's instructions (detailed in Appendix 3); 96-well microtiter plates were coated and incubated with a capture antibody and blocked as plate preparation. Plates were then incubated with samples or standards and washed. Plates were incubated with a biotinylated detection antibody and washed, incubated with streptavidin-HRP and washed, then incubated with a chromophore substrate (TMB, tetramethylbenzidine), before the enzymatic reaction was stopped with sulfuric

acid. Optical density was determined at 450 nm and corrected at 540 nm. Coefficients of variation were 6.4% for SAA1 and 2.4% for PZP.

Serum concentration of soluble fms-like tyrosine kinase-1 (sFlt-1) and placental growth factor (PIGF) were available for 547 of the included 549 pregnancies, and had been measured as previously described (149); using Elecsys® immunoassays (Roche Diagnostics, Rotkreuz, Switzerland) utilizing Cobas E analyzer, a fully automated electrochemiluminescence immunoassay platform (Roche Diagnostics). Different modules were used for analyses; 306 samples were analyzed using module E170, 186 using module 601, and 55 using module 801. sFlt-1 and PIGF results were comparable across the different modules used (data not published).

Serum levels of high-sensitivity C-reactive protein (hsCRP) were available for 380 pregnancies, and had been measured in either fresh (n = 219) or thawed (n = 161) samples in accordance with clinical routine at the Department of Clinical Biochemistry, Oslo University Hospital, using a particle-enhanced turbidimetric method (Cobas 8000 c702, Roche Diagnostics), as described previously (74).

3.8 Statistical analyses

Statistical analyses in all three papers were performed using SPSS Statistics (IBM, USA). For Papers I-II: version 25, for Paper III: version 26.

For Papers I-II, Fisher's exact test was used for comparison of categorical data, expected cell count < 5. For Paper III, Chi-square test was used for categorical data; Fisher's exact test was used for analyses with expected cell count < 5. For all three papers, non-parametric Mann-Whitney U test was used for continuous data. For Paper III, Spearman's rank correlation test (r_s) was used to analyze correlations between continuous variables. A probability (p value) < 0.05 was

considered statistically significant. The statistical analyses for Paper I were performed by postdoc/researcher Gro L. Størvold. The analyses for Papers II-III were performed by the candidate.

The main focus of Papers I-II was the acute atherosis lesion, its morphology, and its molecular characteristics. For this reason, spiral arteries were primarily analyzed artery by artery (comparing *non-AA arteries* to *AA arteries*) instead of tissue sample by tissue sample in Paper I. Foam cell expression of lipid-handling proteins in Paper II were analyzed both *AA artery* by *AA artery* and cell by cell.

4. SUMMARY OF RESULTS

Figure 4.1 presents a graphical overview of the results in Papers I-III.



Figure 4.1. Summary of the main results of Papers I-III. AA: acute atherosis. vWF: von Willebrand factor. ICAM-1: intercellular adhesion molecule 1. FABP4: fatty acid binding protein 4. LOX-1: lectin-like oxidized LDL receptor 1. SAA1: serum amyloid A1. PZP: pregnancy zone protein. Spiral artery photos by Ingrid K. Fosheim. Created in part using Servier Medical Art.

4.1 Spiral artery morphology (Papers I-II)

Papers I-II describe decidua basalis spiral artery morphology and presence or absence of spiral artery acute atherosis.

In Paper I, 32 decidua basalis samples were evaluated; 12 with acute atherosis 7 from present (AA samples; preeclamptic pregnancies and 5 from uncomplicated, normotensive pregnancies), and 20 without acute atherosis (non-AA samples; 9 from preeclamptic pregnancies and 11 from uncomplicated pregnancies). In Paper II, a total of 35 decidua basalis samples were evaluated; 20 AA samples (16 preeclampsia, 4 uncomplicated, normotensive pregnancies) 15 non-AA samples (7 preeclampsia, 8 uncomplicated, and normotensive pregnancies).

In Paper I, the median number of spiral artery sections per decidua basalis tissue sample was 3 (range 1-10), similar to the median number of spiral artery sections in Paper II (4, range 1-16). There were no significant differences in number of observed spiral artery sections per tissue sample between the normotensive and preeclampsia groups in Paper I or Paper II. Similarly, there differences in number of spiral arteries when no comparing were non-AA samples to AA samples, neither in Paper I nor in Paper II (Table 1 in Paper I and Supplemental Table 1 in Paper II). All observed spiral artery sections had artery wall periodic acid-Schiff (PAS)-positive fibrinoid. Fibrinoid was further classified into "physiological fibrinoid" (mostly found in arteries without acute atherosis; non-AA arteries) or "fibrinoid necrosis" (mostly found arteries with atherosis; AA arteries), further detailed in acute in section 4.1.2 ("Acute atherosis morphology"), defined in Table 3.3.

Upon Martius Scarlet Blue (MSB) staining, physiological fibrinoid stained blue, while fibrinoid necrosis stained red (Figure 1 in Paper I).

4.1.1 AA samples have fewer completely transformed spiral arteries (Paper I)

Complete and partial physiological transformation (types of *non-AA arteries*) of decidua basalis spiral arteries are defined in Table 3.3. Spiral arteries with complete physiological transformation (intramural trophoblasts, physiological fibrinoid, absence of mural smooth muscle cells) were observed in tissue samples from preeclamptic as well as normotensive pregnancies, and there was no significant difference in number of spiral arteries with complete physiological transformation between the groups (Table 1 in Paper I). Spiral arteries with complete physiological transformation were observed in both non-AA samples and AA samples, and the fraction of spiral arteries with complete physiological transformation was significantly lower in AA samples compared to *non-AA samples* within the normotensive and preeclampsia group (33% vs. 100%, p < 0.05 both for the normotensive and the preeclampsia group;Table 1 in Paper I). We also observed some partially transformed spiral arteries, although less frequently and with no significant differences between the study groups. Non-transformed decidua basalis spiral arteries, defined as arteries with a diameter $\geq 140 \ \mu m$ having an intact desmin-positive vascular smooth muscle layer and lacking PAS-positive mural fibrinoid (Table 3.3), were not observed. For Paper II, we did not stain decidua basalis tissue sections with desmin; hence degree of physiological spiral artery transformation was not assessed.

4.1.2 Acute atherosis morphology (Papers I-II)

All *AA arteries* contained, as predefined by us, ≥ 2 adjacent vacuolated and CD68-positive (foam) cells. All *AA arteries* assessed in Paper I had intramural fibrinoid necrosis (homogeneous, pale pink PAS stain, Table 3.3) in part of or in the entire artery wall circumference. In Paper II, we observed six *AA arteries* (10.9%) that did not have fibrinoid necrosis, but instead had varying amounts of normal/physiological fibrinoid (purple or magenta PAS stain, Table 3.3, data not

published). Almost all *AA arteries* were absent of CK7-positive intramural trophoblasts. To our interest, three *AA samples* in Paper I had one *AA artery* each that displayed a combination of foam cells (thereby defining the spiral artery section as containing acute atherosis), fibrinoid necrosis in part of the artery wall, and physiological fibrinoid with embedded CK7-positive trophoblasts. The physiological fibrinoid was found as an outer layer covering the foam cell lesion and fibrinoid necrosis (representative artery shown in Figure 1d in Paper I), or found in another part of the artery wall (without foam cells and fibrinoid necrosis). We also observed this combination of features in eight *AA arteries* distributed across five *AA samples* in Paper II (data not published).

4.2 Endothelial cells in third trimester decidua basalis spiral arteries (Paper I)

Paper I also describes endothelial cell morphology and presence of endothelial activation in decidua basalis spiral arteries.

<u>4.2.1 Spiral arteries at term are lined by endothelial cells, not by CK7-positive</u> <u>trophoblasts</u>

We observed endothelial cells (positive for CD31 and von Willebrand factor (vWF)) lining all decidua basalis spiral arteries. In some samples, we observed CK7-positive trophoblasts within the spiral artery lumen (data not published), but we never observed trophoblasts lining the spiral artery wall.
4.2.2 "Normal" endothelium is significantly more common in non-AA arteries

The endothelium of each spiral artery section was categorized as appearing "normal", "abnormal", or "destroyed", as defined in Table 3.3. Representative examples are shown in Figure 2 in Paper I. There were no significant differences in distribution between the endothelial phenotypes when comparing fully and partially transformed spiral arteries. For this reason, fully and partially transformed arteries were merged into the "non-AA arteries" category (the term nonAA arteries was used in the publication) for subsequent analyses (Supplementary Table 2 in Paper I). Nor did we observe any such differences when comparing the normotensive and preeclampsia groups (Supplementary Table 2 in Paper I). There were no differences in the frequencies of the and "destroyed" "normal", "abnormal", endothelial phenotypes in non-AA arteries when comparing AA samples to non-AA samples (Figure 3a in "Normal" endothelium was significantly more common in Paper I). non-AA arteries, both in non-AA arteries from non-AA samples (45%) and non-AA arteries from AA samples (61%), compared to AA arteries (17%, $p \le 0.02$ for both comparisons, Figure 3a in Paper I).

4.2.3 AA arteries are associated with an altered endothelial phenotype

AA arteries significantly more often displayed a "destroyed" endothelium compared to *non-AA arteries* in *non-AA samples* (33% vs. 7%, p = 0.004) and *non-AA arteries* in *AA samples* (33% vs. 3%, p = 0.007, Figure 3a in Paper I). Further, the endothelium of *AA arteries* showed significantly lower intensity of CD31 expression than *non-AA arteries* in *non-AA samples* (p < 0.001) and *non-AA arteries* in *AA samples* (p = 0.03) within the "abnormal" endothelial phenotype (Figure 3b in Paper I).

4.2.4 Acute atherosis is not associated with endothelial activation

Nearly all decidua basalis spiral artery sections had single, scattered endothelial cells positive for intercellular adhesion molecule 1 (ICAM-1). This was not considered "endothelial activation" by us, as we for this categorization used the definition of \geq 3 adjacent ICAM-1-positive endothelial cells (Table 3.3) (144). We chose not to assess spiral arteries with a "destroyed" endothelial phenotype for endothelial activation, as the endothelial cells in these arteries were disintegrated. Thus, only spiral arteries with a "normal" or "abnormal" endothelial phenotype were assessed for endothelial activation. Within the endothelial phenotypes, there were no significant differences in frequency of endothelial activation when comparing *non-AA arteries* to *AA arteries* (Figure 3c in Paper I). There was no difference in frequency of endothelial activation when comparing *non-AA arteries*, regardless of endothelial phenotype (23% vs. 44%, p = 0.12, Supplementary Table 3 in Paper I).

When comparing samples from preeclamptic pregnancies to uncomplicated, normotensive pregnancies, there were no differences in how frequently neither *non-AA arteries* nor *AA arteries* showed endothelial activation (Supplementary Table 3 in Paper I).

4.3 Lipid-handling proteins in and around acute atherosis lesions (Paper II)

Paper II describes foam cells of acute atherosis lesions and their expression of atherosclerosis-related lipid-handling proteins, as well as expression of these proteins in decidua basalis tissue surrounding spiral arteries.

We found that the median number of foam cells per *AA artery* wall was 4 foam cells in the normotensive group and 16 foam cells in the preeclampsia group, but this difference was not statistically significant (p = 0.6).

4.3.1 Perilipin-2 is abundantly expressed in acute atherosis lesions

Perilipin-2, associated with foam cell formation in atherosclerosis, was expressed in foam cells in nearly all *AA arteries* (93%), and in 55% of all observed foam cells. Fatty acid binding protein 4 (FABP4) was found in foam cells in roughly one third of *AA arteries* (36%), but in only 13% of all foam cells (Figure 2 in Paper II). Perilipin-2 was significantly more frequently detected in *AA arteries* than was FABP4 (p < 0.001). We did not observe lectin-like oxidized LDL receptor 1 (LOX-1) expression in acute atherosis foam cells, nor in other cell types in the *AA artery* wall. We observed LOX-1 stain in the cell membrane of decidua basalis stromal cells (Figure 1 a6, b6, and c6 in Paper II). This was in line with the manufacturer's report of decidual cells in placental tissue as being positive control for LOX-1 (membrane stain expected), and with the observed positive membrane stain of decidual cells in our positive control tissue (placenta). LOX-1 was occasionally observed in intramural trophoblasts and endothelial cells in *non-AA arteries*.

We did not find any significant differences between the normotensive and preeclampsia groups when comparing the frequency of perilipin-2 (p = 0.76) or FABP4 (p = 0.37) expression in foam cells for each *AA artery*. Perilipin-2 and FABP4 were rarely expressed by cell types other than foam cells in *AA arteries*.

As detailed in section 3.4.3 ("Histochemical and immunohistochemical staining for Paper II"), we stained aorta atherosclerosis samples (one early and one advanced lesion) for methodological comparison of subcellular location of FABP4, perilipin-2, and LOX-1. In CD68-positive foam cells, FABP4 was located to cytoplasmic granules, while perilipin-2 was located to intracellular lipid droplets. Foam cells did not label for LOX-1 (Methods section 2.3 in Paper II).

4.3.2 LOX-1 and perilipin-2 are frequently expressed surrounding AA arteries

The three assessed lipid-handling proteins in Paper II were also assessed in the perivascular area (up to 100 µm from the outer artery wall, Figure 3.2) of both *AA arteries* and *non-AA arteries*. Expression of these three proteins was observed in three distinct patterns: "scattered", "focal", and "generalized", as defined in Table 3.3. Representative examples are shown in Figure 1 in Paper II. LOX-1 was often observed in the "generalized" pattern surrounding *AA arteries*, and significantly more frequently than around *non-AA arteries* (38% vs. 15%, p < 0.001). Perilipin-2 was also significantly more often expressed in the perivascular area of *AA arteries* compared to *non-AA arteries* (59% vs. 32%, p < 0.001). In contrast, FABP4 was more frequently expressed surrounding *non-AA arteries* compared to *AA arteries* (70% vs. 53%, p = 0.03).

Perilipin-2 and LOX-1 were often expressed around the same *AA arteries*, though not necessarily by the same perivascular cells. Both proteins were most commonly found in decidual stromal cells: perilipin-2 in intracellular lipid droplets (number of positive droplets was not quantified, but varied between the stromal cells), and LOX-1 in the cell membrane. LOX-1 was occasionally found in interstitial CK7-positive trophoblasts.

There were no significant differences in how often *AA arteries* and *non-AA arteries* displayed the different staining patterns ("scattered", "focal", and "generalized") for each of FABP4, perilipin-2, and LOX-1, in the perivascular area (Supplemental Figure 1 in Paper II). Similarly, there were no differences in perivascular staining patterns for FABP4, perilipin-2, or LOX-1 when comparing the normotensive and preeclampsia groups (data not published).

4.4 Protein misfolding markers in acute atherosis and preeclampsia (Paper III)

Paper III investigated proteins associated with atherosclerosis, protein misfolding, and hypercoagulability and their relation to acute atherosis, preeclampsia, and markers of placental dysfunction.

4.4.1 SAA1 correlates positively with some proxies for placental dysfunction, but not acute atherosis

Circulating levels of serum amyloid A1 (SAA1), which is associated with protein misfolding and cardiovascular disease outside pregnancy, was increased in women with hypertensive disorders of pregnancy (HDP, defined in Table 3.1) when compared to normotensive and euglycemic controls (9.9 vs. 5.1 μ g/mL, p < 0.001; Table 1 in Paper III). In contrast, median SAA1 levels did not differ between women with diabetes mellitus (DM) and controls, neither for DM alone nor for DM in combination with HDP (HDP+DM) (Table 1 in Paper III).

The highest median concentration of SAA1 was found in women with early-onset preeclampsia (17.1 μ g/mL, Supplemental Table 1 in Paper III). This was significantly increased compared to controls (5.1 μ g/mL, p < 0.001, Supplemental Table 1 in Paper III), and when compared to all remaining subgroups of HDP (Figure 1a in Paper III). We found no differences in SAA1 levels when comparing the control group to late-onset preeclampsia, gestational hypertension, or chronic hypertension (Figure 1a and Supplemental Table 1 in Paper III).

We then assessed whether circulating SAA1 levels correlated with different proxies for placental dysfunction. We did not find any association between SAA1 levels and acute atherosis presence within any of the pregnancy groups (Supplemental Table 3 in Paper III). Circulating SAA1 was, however, increased in pregnancies complicated by fetal growth restriction (13.3 vs. $5.1 \mu g/mL$,

p < 0.001). Further, SAA1 levels correlated positively with the antiangiogenic soluble fms-like tyrosine kinase-1 (sFlt-1) to placental growth factor (PlGF) ratio in the total cohort ($r_s = 0.24$, p < 0.001) as well as in the HDP group ($r_s = 0.40$, p < 0.001). This was also the case for the early-onset preeclampsia group ($r_s = 0.24$, p = 0.04), but not for the other HDP subgroups (data not published).

SAA1 showed a positive correlation with the inflammation marker high-sensitivity C-reactive protein (hsCRP) in the total cohort ($r_s = 0.46$, p < 0.001) as well as in all study groups (controls: $r_s = 0.35$; HDP: $r_s = 0.58$; DM: $r_s = 0.35$; HDP+DM: $r_s = 0.62$, all $p \le 0.04$). SAA1 was also significantly increased in pregnancies with hsCRP above the upper reference range (4 mg/L); 9.4 vs. 4.3 µg/mL (p < 0.001). Similarly, hsCRP was significantly increased in the HDP group compared to controls (4.4 vs. 3.1 mg/L, p = 0.002, Table 1 in Paper III). Of the HDP subgroups, hsCRP was increased in early-onset preeclampsia compared to controls (6.8 vs. 3.1 mg/L, p < 0.001), but not in any other HDP subgroup compared to controls (Supplemental Table 1 in Paper III).

SAA1 and pregnancy zone protein (PZP) did not correlate in the total cohort or in any of the study groups, except for HDP+DM ($r_s = -0.37$, p = 0.01). Neither levels of SAA1 nor levels of PZP were affected by fetal sex (Supplemental Results in Paper III).

<u>4.4.2 PZP is decreased in early-onset preeclampsia and correlates negatively</u> with sFlt-1/PIGF

Circulating levels of PZP, which may act as a chaperone and prevent protein misfolding, did not differ significantly between the HDP group and controls (Table 1 in Paper III). However, PZP levels were lower both in the DM group and the HDP+DM group compared to controls (DM: $683 \mu g/mL$,

HDP+DM: 548 μ g/mL, controls: 892 μ g/mL, both comparisons p = 0.01, Table 1 in Paper III).

Although the HDP group as a whole did not display any difference in circulating PZP levels when compared to controls, PZP levels were significantly decreased in early-onset preeclampsia when compared to the control group, (590 vs. 892 μ g/mL, p = 0.002, Supplemental Table 1 in Paper III), and when compared to women with chronic hypertension (590 vs. 1302 μ g/mL, p = 0.04, Figure 1b in Paper III). The other HDP subgroups did not differ in PZP levels compared to controls (Supplemental Table 1 in Paper III).

Further, PZP was lower in pregnancies with pregestational DM compared to controls (controls: 892 μ g/mL; DM type 1: 683 μ g/mL, p = 0.02; DM type 2: 580 μ g/mL, p = 0.003, Supplemental Table 2 in Paper III). In contrast, PZP in pregnancies complicated by gestational DM did not differ from the control group.

PZP correlated negatively with antiangiogenic sFlt-1/PIGF ratio in the total cohort ($r_s = -0.13$, p = 0.002) as well as in the HDP group ($r_s = -0.19$, p = 0.02) and the HDP+DM group ($r_s = -0.30$, p = 0.049). PZP did not correlate with sFlt-1/PIGF within any of the HDP subgroups (data not published). PZP did, however, correlate positively with PIGF in early-onset preeclampsia ($r_s = 0.24$, p = 0.04), but not in any other HDP subgroup (data not published). Of the DM subgroups, PZP correlated with sFlt-1/PIGF only in DM type 1 ($r_s = -0.29$, p = 0.02), not in DM type 2 or gestational DM (data not published). PZP levels were not different when comparing pregnancies with and without acute atherosis within each pregnancy group (Supplemental Table 3 in Paper III). PZP did not correlate with hsCRP (data not published), in contrast to SAA1 (as presented above).

5. DISCUSSION

5.1 Methodological discussion

5.1.1 Study population

Women scheduled to deliver at Oslo University Hospital (OUS), location Ullevål, are invited to participate in the Oslo Pregnancy Biobank (OPB) study. OUS has two delivery locations and is the local obstetric hospital for most women living in Oslo, Norway. OUS is also a secondary and tertiary center for many women in South-Eastern Norway with fetal or maternal complications during pregnancy requiring intensified obstetric care. Thus, both healthy women with clinically uncomplicated pregnancies as well as women with underlying diseases and/or pregnancy complications are delivered at the hospital, and available for invitation to participate in the OPB.

Only women who can communicate in Norwegian and/or English are eligible for recruitment to the OPB, as a requirement for recruitment is ability to understand written and oral information from study personnel. OPB has not produced study information material in more languages and has no funding for interpreters, disabling recruitment of women who do not understand Norwegian or English, often applying to newly immigrated women. As a consequence, pregnant women with non-white ethnicities are under-represented in the OPB compared to the general Oslo population (unpublished data). Preeclampsia is more prevalent in non-whites (33), introducing a selection bias to our biobank. The same bias may also apply to decidual acute atherosis, as this lesion is more prevalent in preeclampsia than in uncomplicated pregnancies (42, 44), though few studies have assessed acute atherosis in relation to ethnicity (49).

While there is potential selection bias in the recruitment process, sampling of biological material and clinical data is standardized through predefined

protocols. This ensures that samples harvested by different study personnel or in different years are still comparable.

Due to restricted resources, the recruited women also represent a convenience population, as personnel (mostly PhD candidates or medical students in a Medical Student Research Program) were not available for recruitment every day. Recruitment was also often limited outside daytime Monday-Friday due to the same resource restriction. We do however believe that this convenience recruitment did not induce a systematic population bias within the clinical study groups.

5.1.2 Study design of Papers I-III

The case control design in Papers I-II, detailed in section 3.2 ("Study design"), allowed for us to study molecular features of decidua basalis spiral arteries with acute atherosis compared to decidua basalis spiral arteries without acute atherosis. As there were pregnancies with and without preeclampsia in both the case (acute atherosis present) and control (acute atherosis absent) groups, we were able to further discern whether any of the features studied and observed were primarily associated with preeclampsia or with acute atherosis. We are, through these studies, unable to determine whether the reported molecular characteristics associated with acute atherosis lead to or are a consequence of acute atherosis. Longitudinal data are required to accurately determine cause and effect. Acute atherosis is currently impossible to study longitudinally, as all available methods of harvesting enough tissue of decidua basalis require delivery of the placenta (40, 93), making repeated decidual biopsies within the same pregnancy impossible.

The cross-sectional design of Paper III, detailed in section 3.2 ("Study design"), allowed for identification of possible relationships between acute atherosis, preeclampsia, placental dysfunction, and the protein misfolding markers serum

amyloid A1 (SAA1) and pregnancy zone protein (PZP). We had available longitudinal blood samples from only 4 pregnancies complicated by hypertensive disorders of pregnancy (HDP) included in Paper III. We chose not to include the longitudinal results in Paper III or this thesis as the data were limited in number (n = 4), diagnosis (only HDP pregnancies), and short time from first to second sample (1-11 days). Similar to Papers I-II, the study design of Paper III is not suitable for evaluation of causality between circulating protein misfolding markers and preeclampsia or acute atherosis.

5.1.3 Clinical diagnosis criteria

Types of HDP and diagnostic criteria used in this thesis are summarized in Table 3.1. Papers I-II include pregnancies with preeclampsia and uncomplicated normotensive pregnancies. All pregnancies included in Papers I-II were euglycemic throughout pregnancy. Paper III includes pregnancies with any type of HDP, diabetes mellitus (DM, pregestational or gestational), and pregnancies with both HDP and DM (HDP+DM), as well as uncomplicated normotensive and euglycemic pregnancies.

Although Papers I-II were published after the 2018 International Society for the Study of Hypertension in Pregnancy (ISSHP) criteria (32) were published, we chose to use the "classic" preeclampsia diagnostic criteria (new-onset hypertension and proteinuria after 20 weeks' gestation), as listed by the 2003 National Heart, Lung, and Blood Institute (NHLBI) (132), as these were the criteria used worldwide at the time of patient recruitment to our study. The clinical diagnosis (e.g. preeclampsia) of each participant included to OPB is recorded by the OPB recruiter at time of recruitment and reevaluated after delivery. A clinical HDP diagnosis prior to the recruitment is based on the working diagnosis set in the clinic, and as such, it is not always a final diagnosis. To reduce misdiagnosis, the laboratory and medical chart information collected

on all study participants later undergo comprehensive review by the OPB Diagnosis Revisory Group, consisting of experienced obstetricians and translational researchers, ensuring that the final diagnosis used in our analyses and publications is in line with the chosen guideline. Our publication diagnoses are therefore based on comprehensive revision of all singular and documented elements that feed into the final HDP diagnosis.

Papers I-II did not include any OPB study participants with gestational hypertension. Two participants in Paper II had chronic hypertension and new-onset proteinuria after 20 weeks' gestation, thus classifying as superimposed preeclampsia. Because Papers I-II did not include pregnancies complicated by gestational hypertension or chronic hypertension (without superimposed preeclampsia), we avoided the risk of "missing" a preeclampsia diagnosis per the 2018 ISSHP criteria. All participants in Papers I-II classified as having preeclampsia or superimposed preeclampsia per the 2003 NHLBI criteria would therefore have been diagnosed similarly had we applied the 2018 ISSHP criteria.

Between the publication of Paper II and Paper III, the OPB undertook an extensive review of the medical charts of each study participant, and gathered even more detailed unique data to facilitate diagnosing HDP according to the 2018 ISSHP criteria, which are summarized in Table 3.1. The HDP diagnosis was then determined using a syntax-based model in SPSS. In a few cases where the syntax was unable to generate a diagnosis, such as conflicting data input or insufficient data, the clinical data were reviewed and a diagnosis was set by two PhD candidates and the principal investigator (Professor Staff). Thus, the criteria for HDP differ slightly between Papers I-II and Paper III. The consequence of utilizing different criteria is likely minimal, although some participants with preeclampsia in Paper III would have been classified as having gestational hypertension if 2003 NHLBI criteria were used, as they lacked documented

presence of new-onset proteinuria, but had other new-onset preeclampsiaassociated features, such as elevated liver transaminases, fetal growth restriction, acute kidney injury, hematological complications, and so on (Table 3.1).

5.1.4 Collection and preparation of decidua basalis tissue samples

Decidua basalis tissue was harvested by vacuum suction of the placental bed following delivery of the fetus and placenta at caesarean delivery. The technique, termed the Decidual Suction Method (DSM), was developed by Staff et al. (77, 141) in 1997 (published in 1999), and its clinical safety as well as efficacy in providing biopsies with decidua basalis spiral arteries was later assessed by Harsem et al. (142). The DSM technique has a higher success rate of sampling decidua basalis spiral arteries and in detecting acute atherosis compared to other frequently used biopsy techniques, including placenta basal plate biopsies, membrane roll biopsies, and placental bed biopsies (40, 142).

Following vacuum suction and flushing of the harvested tissue, the OPB recruiter places the tissue sampling box on ice, and assesses whether the decidua basalis tissue appears to be contaminated by other tissues, such as membranes, placental villous tissue, or myometrial tissue. Decidua basalis tissue macroscopically is near transparent compared to the brick red villous placental tissue. The harvested decidua basalis is portioned by the OPB recruiter and approximately equal portions are either fixated in formalin or snap-frozen in liquid nitrogen. This tissue aliquotation is done at random, and poses the possibility of loss of acute atherosis detection, as we generally use FFPE samples and not frozen samples to diagnose acute atherosis. A few of our frozen samples have been used for immunohistochemistry (including acute atherosis diagnosis), but the majority of these samples have been used for decidua basalis gene expression analyses. Acute atherosis is a focal lesion, and in theory it is possible that in some biopsies all spiral arteries with acute atherosis lesions were

portioned to snap freezing and not FFPE, or vice versa. Such an instance could affect the outcome of acute atherosis frequency reported in Paper III, however it likely did not, as the acute atherosis frequency we found (39% for HDP pregnancies, 9% for uncomplicated normotensive pregnancies) is comparable to previous decidua basalis studies (42, 44). Over- or under-representation of acute atherosis frequency due to tissue aliquotation would not have affected the outcome of Papers I-II, as OPB participant selection for these papers was based in part on existing acute atherosis diagnosis from previous studies (44), allowing us to purposefully over-represent acute atherosis in both the normotensive and preeclampsia groups to study the molecular biology of the lesion and not its frequency.

While the DSM technique provides high success rates of sampling spiral arteries, as discussed above, tissue orientation is lost during vacuum suction. We are generally able to follow the (assumed) same spiral artery across several serial DSM tissue sections, but due to lack of orientation, we cannot make statements regarding which end of the spiral artery is closer to the placenta or myometrium. Consequently, we cannot assess what is upstream or downstream from any spiral artery pathology we may observe (acute atherosis, thrombi, etc.) within the same artery. For the same reason, we are unable to comment on whether any given part of the biopsy is from the central or peripheral part of the placental bed.

By definition, traditional placental bed biopsies should contain myometrial tissue (93) and tissue orientation is kept, making these biopsies superior to DSM biopsies for studying deeper placentation problems and insufficient spiral artery transformation in the myometrium. However, the highest rates of acute atherosis are found in the decidual portion of the uteroplacental spiral arteries (39). Thus, DSM sampling of decidua basalis tissue is superior in decidual spiral artery evaluation and the major tissue location of acute atherosis lesions. In addition,

the placental bed biopsy procedure is more invasive and the success rate of sampling spiral arteries is lower than for the DSM technique, due to less tissue volume being collected (142).

The DSM technique, like the placental bed biopsy technique, can only be performed at caesarean section. This of course limits the number of women available for obtaining DSM biopsies, as the majority of women (with or without pregnancies complicated by HDP) in Norway deliver vaginally (150), but it does not affect the outcome of this thesis, as study participants for the papers in this thesis were selected from the OPB based on availability of previously harvested biological samples. For vaginally delivered placentae, placental basal plate biopsies or membrane roll biopsies may be collected, but offer a lower success rate in sampling spiral arteries and detecting acute atherosis, repeatedly demonstrated by our group (40, 142).

5.1.5 Staining and evaluation of decidua basalis tissue samples

All tissue samples used in this thesis are FFPE, a method well suited for providing long-lasting tissue blocks. However, FFPE preparation limits usable staining methods. During deparaffinization, all lipids, intra- and extracellular, are removed from the tissue. Thus, it is impossible to study lipids directly (e.g. stain with Oil Red O or Sudan Black B) in FFPE tissue. Frozen tissue samples are better suited for such studies. This limits us from identifying foam cells by their lipid content in our sampled decidual tissue; we have instead chosen immunohistochemical staining of the scavenger receptor CD68 to detect foam cells. CD68 also labels (non-vacuolated) macrophages, monocytes, and fibroblasts (151), which is why we only consider CD68-positive cells that are also vacuolated to be foam cells (Table 3.3). Lipid-loss through deparaffinization also affected the selection of stains for Paper II. As FFPE tissue does not permit direct assessment of the lipids associated with foam cells and acute atherosis, we instead studied lipid-associated proteins.

5.1.5.1 Defining the degree of spiral artery transformation (Paper I)

Spiral arteries with insufficient physiological transformation retain some or all of their vascular smooth muscle cell layer (93), so we chose to define non-transformed and partially transformed spiral arteries accordingly (Table 3.3). For accurate identification of retained vascular smooth muscle cells in the spiral artery walls, we used desmin immunohistochemistry staining instead of relying on identification of smooth muscle cells by morphology alone (e.g. by using hematoxylin-eosin (HE) stained slides). Thus, we were only able to comment on degree of spiral artery transformation in Paper I, as we did not stain decidua basalis tissue sections with desmin for Paper II.

5.1.5.2 Identifying acute atherosis lesions and fibrinoid necrosis (Papers I-II)

Papers I-III use our evidence-based research definition of acute atherosis (Table 3.3) as this has proven a reliable definition with low inter-observer variability (44). The definition does not require fibrinoid necrosis or perivascular inflammatory infiltrates for a diagnosis of acute atherosis, although fibrinoid necrosis was frequently, though not always, observed in spiral arteries with acute atherosis in Papers I-II. Fibrinoid necrosis may be detected using HE, periodic acid-Schiff (PAS), or Martius Scarlet Blue (MSB, or other trichrome) stains. However, these are all histochemical stains and lack the specificity of immunostains. There are, at present, no uniform, specific criteria to diagnose fibrinoid necrosis (or decidual vasculopathy) diagnosis. For these reasons, we chose to not include fibrinoid necrosis in our acute atherosis diagnosis, but rather describe the phenomenon in Papers I-II.

5.1.5.3 Endothelial markers and endothelial activation (Paper I)

CD31, von Willebrand factor (vWF), and intercellular adhesion molecule 1 (ICAM-1) had all been tested on decidual tissue prior to our studies in Paper I (52, 92). One weakness of our investigation of endothelial activation in acute atherosis of decidua basalis spiral arteries lies in that it only utilizes one adhesion molecule (ICAM-1) to assess endothelial activation.

The method applied for measuring intensity of CD31 stain is vulnerable to bias, as several steps were carried out manually (outlining the endothelial cell layer, indicating examples of "high" and "low" intensity CD31 stain) before the Zen blue 2.6 software calculated the areas of "high" vs. "low" CD31 staining intensity. "High" intensity was checked against an internal positive control (vein or capillary), whereas "low" was subjectively determined. We did not measure staining intensity for vWF, as we did not observe differences in intensity for vWF.

Our definition of endothelial activation (≥ 3 adjacent ICAM-1-positive endothelial cells, Table 3.3), based on a previous atherosclerosis publication (144), had not previously been applied to or validated in uteroplacental spiral arteries. Paper I does not attempt at validating this definition for use in spiral arteries. Applying a specific definition attempts to reduce bias. However, we may only speculate whether our chosen definition accurately detects endothelial activation of biological or clinical significance.

5.1.5.4 Markers of lipid-handling proteins (Paper II)

In Paper II, foam cells of acute atherosis lesions were marked and counted if they were CD68-positive, vacuolated, and had a nucleus present. Each counted foam cell was then followed in the next serial slides to assess expression of fatty acid binding protein 4 (FABP4), perilipin-2, and lectin-like oxidized low-density lipoprotein (LDL) receptor 1 (LOX-1). Due to the nature of serial slides, not all foam cells could be rediscovered on subsequent slides (3 μ m farther into the tissue). The total number of foam cells identified is higher than the total number of FABP4- and perilipin-2-positive foam cells, respectively (no foam cells expressed LOX-1). We did not exclude foam cells that were not located on all serial slides from analysis, thus the reported fractions of FABP4- and perilipin-2-positive foam cells (13% and 55%, respectively) are likely underestimating the true prevalence.

Similarly, FABP4 and perilipin-2 (never LOX-1) were sometimes observed in cells appearing to be foam cells. These cells were not present on the HE and CD68 slides and could not be verified to be foam cells per our definition (Table 3.3), and were excluded from further analysis, possibly also contributing to underestimation of the true prevalence of FABP4- and perilipin-2-positive foam cells. We did not perform co-staining of different immunostains on our FFPE slides. It is possible that triple immunostaining with CD68, FABP4, and perilipin-2 on the same slides could have corrected the potential underestimation.

5.1.6 Collection, preparation, and storage of maternal blood samples (Paper III)

Maternal EDTA blood samples were collected and prepared in a uniform way (section 3.6 "Maternal blood sampling"), reducing variation in pre-analytical factors. However, some variation in collection method occurred, as detailed below.

A few of the blood samples were collected from arterial catheters (n = 20, of which early-onset preeclampsia: 11, late-onset preeclampsia: 7, gestational hypertension: 1, gestational DM: 1), as opposed to venous cannula or catheter, from which the majority of blood samples were collected. We have not found any reports suggesting that levels of serum amyloid A1 (SAA1) or pregnancy zone protein (PZP) would be different in arterial vs. venous blood. Levels of

SAA1 or PZP were not significantly different between arterial and venous samples in our cohort, except in the late-onset preeclampsia group, where SAA1 was increased in arterial samples (57.0 vs. 5.4 μ g/mL, p = 0.02). As we did not see any significant difference in SAA1 levels when comparing arterial to venous samples in other HDP subgroups or in DM, we hypothesize that the observed difference in the late-onset preeclampsia group may be explained by a worse placental dysfunction and more severe clinical phenotype in participants with late-onset preeclampsia with arterial catheters, as this intervention is generally reserved for unstable patients requiring intensified clinical monitoring.

Not all participants were fasting at sampling time. While fasting status affects many biochemical analyses, we have been unable to find reports addressing the potential impact of non-fasting on plasma levels of SAA1 or PZP in pregnant women. Levels of SAA1 or PZP were not significantly different between fasting and non-fasting samples in our cohort (data not published).

Aliquots of plasma samples were kept at -80 °C until assay, and had been frozen for 4-20 years before assay. One study found PZP to be stable when PZP purified from plasma samples was stored at -20 or -70 °C for 2 years (152). We have not found reports assessing PZP assays from thawed vs. fresh plasma samples, or any reports assessing whether freezing affects SAA1 levels. Our reported levels of SAA1 and PZP are largely comparable to other publications from pregnancy (124, 126, 129) where samples were also frozen prior to enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay (ELISA). However, freezing time was not specified in any of these publications.

5.1.7 Analysis of maternal plasma samples (Paper III)

ELISA was performed in one single laboratory, under similar conditions, and by the same personnel. Assay coefficients of variation were 6.4% for SAA1 and 2.4% for PZP, indicating that the data are accurate and reliable.

SAA1 has been suggested to play a role in initiating parturition (120), and elevated levels may be a sign of imminent parturition. None of the participants included in this thesis had signs of labor (intact fetal membranes, no uterine contractions). We did not document whether the included participants had had a cervical examination, though we would not have any reason to suspect they might show cervical ripening, as none included had any other signs of labor. We cannot exclude that some of the included participants would have gone into spontaneous labor soon after sampling, had they not been delivered by caesarean section first. If that were the case, we assume this would be equally distributed between the study groups, as they appeared similar in terms of absent signs of labor.

Glucocorticoids are frequently used to enhance lung maturity in cases of iatrogenic or spontaneous early preterm labor (prior to 34 weeks' gestation), and while glucocorticoids generally reduce the expression of acute-phase proteins such as SAA1, direct glucocorticoid stimulation of epithelial cells has been shown to increase SAA1 expression (153), though it is not clear whether this increased tissue expression results in increased circulating SAA1 levels. Some of the participants with HDP (n = 72) received glucocorticoids (Celestone, administered intramuscularly) prior to OPB recruitment and blood sampling. SAA1 levels were increased in this group compared to participants with HDP who did not receive glucocorticoids (15.8 vs. 5.5 μ g/mL, p < 0.001). However, we believe this difference is primarily explained by the fact that the majority of who received glucocorticoids (67 of 86) had participants early-onset preeclampsia, which was the group with the highest median SAA1 values. There was no statistically significant difference in SAA1 levels within the early-onset preeclampsia group when comparing participants who received glucocorticoids (median: 17.1 μ g/mL) to those who did not (median: 27.4 μ g/mL, p = 0.92). We

therefore believe that intramuscular glucocorticoid treatment likely did not significantly alter circulating SAA1 levels in our study.

5.1.8 Statistical analyses

We did not perform sample size estimation for Papers I-III as previous studies were mostly lacking. Papers I-III therefore represent pilot studies and are intended to explore molecular characteristics of acute atherosis and preeclampsia, not epidemiological data on acute atherosis or preeclampsia prevalence.

Sample sizes in Papers I-II were small (n = 32 and 35, respectively), and continuous variables did not follow normal distribution, as assessed by histograms and the Shapiro-Wilk test (data not published). For Paper III, the Shapiro-Wilk test revealed that maternal age was normally distributed, while all other continuous variables (including SAA1 and PZP levels) did not follow normal distribution (data not published). For these reasons, Mann-Whitney U test was used for continuous data in Papers I-III.

For Paper III, we did not correct for gestational age at sampling. Gestational age at sampling correlated significantly with SAA1 and PZP only in the early-onset preeclampsia group ($r_s = -0.25$ and 0.30, respectively, both $p \le 0.04$, Supplemental Results in Paper III), believed by us to reflect a more severe clinical phenotype requiring earlier delivery. As gestational age did not correlate with SAA1 or PZP in any other groups, we do not believe gestational age to significantly affect the levels of SAA1 or PZP in our samples from the second half of pregnancy. Similarly, body mass index, early pregnancy blood pressures, or fetal sex did not correlate with SAA1 or PZP levels, except in a few instances (listed in Supplemental Results in Paper III). For this reason, we did not correct for these exposures in our analyses of SAA1 and PZP.

In Paper III, circulating biomarker concentrations (SAA1, PZP, high-sensitivity C-reactive protein (hsCRP), soluble fms-like tyrosine kinase-1 (sFlt-1), and placental growth factor (PIGF)) were not significantly different in blood samples collected during pregnancy up to 31 days prior to delivery (n = 81; for hsCRP: n = 28) compared to blood samples collected at delivery (n = 468; for hsCRP: n = 352) (data not published), and were analyzed together. Levels of hsCRP were not significantly different in fresh vs. thawed samples, except in the control group (2.8 vs. 4.7 mg/L, p = 0.003), and were analyzed together.

5.2 Results discussion

5.2.1 Are acute atherosis lesions only found in non-transformed spiral arteries?

Acute atherosis has been suggested to only occur in spiral arteries that have not undergone physiological transformation (non-transformed spiral arteries) (43, 92), while others claim acute atherosis mainly occurs downstream (in decidua basalis segments) of spiral arteries whose myometrial segments are non-transformed (16, 154). In a few decidua basalis tissue samples explored in Papers I-II, we observed acute atherosis lesions in combination with intramural trophoblasts and "physiological" artery wall fibrinoid (Table 3.3, representative spiral artery shown in Figure 1d in Paper I). This finding demonstrates that acute atherosis indeed can occur in segments of spiral arteries that have undergone physiological transformation, in contrast to some previous suggestions. We did not have access to samples from the myometrial parts of the placental bed and therefore cannot state whether the spiral arteries with decidua basalis acute atherosis had undergone physiological transformation or not in their myometrial segments.

Despite the few spiral arteries showing a combination of physiological transformation and acute atherosis, the majority of decidua basalis spiral arteries

with acute atherosis were absent of intramural CK7-positive trophoblasts and desmin-positive vascular smooth muscle cells (VSMCs) (Papers I-II). However, all acute atherosis lesions we report occurred in spiral arteries measuring $\geq 140 \ \mu\text{m}$. Basal arteries and non-transformed spiral arteries are reported to measure < 100 μ m (93). Thus, it is likely that all decidua basalis spiral arteries in which we observe acute atherosis lesions have undergone some degree of physiological transformation in their decidual parts despite lacking intramural trophoblasts, as reported by our group and others previously (44, 154).

Almost all decidua basalis samples with acute atherosis spiral arteries also contained spiral arteries without acute atherosis (Papers I-II). In Paper I, spiral arteries without acute atherosis were further classified as showing complete or partial physiological transformation. Spiral arteries with complete physiological transformation were far more common than arteries with partial transformation, also in samples with concomitant acute atherosis arteries. This finding suggests that decidua basalis acute atherosis is not an indicator of generalized defects in physiological transformation, at least not in the decidua basalis segment of spiral arteries.

5.2.2 Third trimester spiral arteries: lined by maternal endothelium or fetal trophoblasts?

Some authors have claimed that maternal endothelial cells are replaced by fetal trophoblasts during pregnancy (90), while others argue that this replacement is only temporary (8). This controversy prompted us to investigate whether spiral arteries in our third trimester decidua basalis samples were lined by fetal trophoblasts or maternal endothelial cells. In our samples, all uteroplacental spiral arteries (with or without acute atherosis) were lined by cells positive for CD31 and vWF and negative for CK7, inferring that these cells are endothelial cells and not trophoblasts (Paper I). Decidua basalis spiral arteries are lined by

endothelial cells in the third trimester, in line with the five-stage model proposed by Pijnenborg et al. for physiological transformation of uteroplacental spiral arteries (8).

5.2.3 Endothelial damage in acute atherosis: what is the significance?

Paper I found that spiral arteries with acute atherosis were associated with an altered endothelial phenotype, such as "destroyed" or "abnormal" endothelium (defined in Table 3.3), and lower intensity of CD31 stain in the endothelium. An altered endothelial phenotype in acute atherosis may be the result of preceding endothelial damage, potentially caused by locally disturbed shear stress, upstream thrombosis, or local vascular inflammation, all of which are features associated with acute atherosis (22, 54, 61). Whether such an altered endothelial phenotype is the cause or consequence of acute atherosis is not known, as longitudinal studies of acute atherosis are not feasible, for methodological and (further discussed in section 5.1.2 "Study ethical reasons design of Papers I-III"). However, it is tempting to speculate that the "destroyed" phenotype represents the extreme on a scale of endothelial damage, with the "abnormal" phenotype either representing a preceding step toward "destroyed" endothelium or a response to less severe endothelial damage than that causing the "destroyed" endothelium.

Previous reports have also shown endothelial damage in acute atherosis (50-52), and de Wolf et al. proposed that endothelial damage may cause fibrin leakage into the vessel wall (51). We found fibrinoid necrosis (identified by MSB and PAS stain) of the vessel wall in nearly all acute atherosis arteries (Papers I-II), in line with the hypothesis put forward by de Wolf.

When assessing spiral arteries without acute atherosis (*non-AA arteries*) in *non-AA samples* and *non-AA arteries* in *AA samples*, we consistently found that the endothelium in these arteries displayed similar endothelial morphology, such

as a "normal" type endothelium and strong intensity of CD31 endothelial stain (Paper I). Thus, the presence of neighboring spiral arteries with acute atherosis did not affect the endothelial phenotype of *non-AA arteries* in *AA samples*, reflecting the focal nature of acute atherosis lesions.

5.2.4 Is the endothelium of acute atherosis spiral arteries activated?

One previous study using basal plate biopsies found endothelial activation (assessed by ICAM-1 expression) to associate with spiral arteries in biopsies where acute atherosis was also identified (92). Whether ICAM-1 was found in the endothelium of spiral arteries with acute atherosis was not specified in the study. We were unable to find associations between acute atherosis and endothelial activation, assessed by ICAM-1 endothelial expression (Paper I). Endothelial activation did not associate with decidua basalis spiral arteries with or without acute atherosis, in contrast to previous reports (92).

Our results do not entirely exclude the possibility that endothelial activation plays a role in the pathogenesis of acute atherosis. ICAM-1 is only one of several markers of endothelial activation (86). We may only speculate whether adhesion molecule 1 (VCAM-1) vascular endothelial and E-selectin (section 3.5.4 "Assessment of spiral artery endothelium") would have demonstrated results similar to those of ICAM-1 had we succeeded in optimizing the antibodies for staining on decidua basalis tissue. Endothelial activation has been implicated in first trimester samples of decidua basalis (17), and may play a role in attracting endovascular trophoblasts into the spiral artery wall during physiological transformation. However, should this process become dysregulated and result in excessive endothelial activation, one may speculate that such excessive endothelial activation could represent an early event in acute atherosis development, which would be in line with endothelial activation in early atherosclerosis lesions (144). If this were true, it may also explain the absence of endothelial activation in our third trimester decidua basalis samples with acute atherosis.

5.2.5 What are the potential sources of foam cells in acute atherosis?

Foam cells in acute atherosis lesions are CD68-positive and likely from a monocyte-macrophage origin (44, 97). Circulating monocytes may be attracted to the spiral artery walls through endothelial activation, and have been suggested to phagocytose VSMCs (97). Alternatively, decidual interstitial macrophages may be recruited to the artery wall. However, other cell types may also be sources of acute atherosis foam cells; electron microscopy studies have indicated VSMCs as a source of foam cells in acute atherosis (51).

Our group has previously found that oxidative stress induces lipid uptake and LOX-1 expression in a trophoblastic cell line (155) (further discussed in section 5.2.7 "Outside foam cell lesions"). Though LOX-1 was mostly expressed by decidual stromal cells in our samples, we also observed LOX-1 expression by intramural trophoblasts in spiral arteries without acute atherosis. We therefore propose that trophoblasts may also be a source of foam cells in spiral arteries, particularly in an oxidative environment, such as in preeclampsia (77) and acute atherosis (50). In line with this hypothesis, Zhang and Baergen have previously reported "foamy cells" of proposed trophoblast origin (CD56-positive, CD68-negative) in spiral arteries from basal plate biopsies, and termed this lesion "atherosis of trophoblast type" (156). However, they did not stain with CK7, our chosen trophoblast marker. Acute atherosis foam cells in our samples were negative for CK7, a cytoskeleton protein. We hypothesize that if trophoblasts accumulate lipid droplets (as sometimes observed by us as perilipin-2-positive droplets in CK7-positive trophoblasts) and develop into foam cells, their intracellular structure may become altered by the accumulating lipid droplets to the extent that they no longer stain positive for CK7. A similar trend is seen in foam cells of VSMC origin: VSMCs represent a foam cell source in both acute atherosis and atherosclerosis (51, 94). Atherosclerotic foam cells, despite sometimes being of VSMC origin, do not stain positive for frequently used VSMC markers such as desmin or α -actin (71), indicating that the cytoskeleton/contractile filaments may disappear or become significantly altered and no longer label for desmin or α -actin.

LOX-1 is frequently expressed by endothelial cells during early atherogenesis, and promotes foam cell formation (103). LOX-1 protein expression was never found in endothelial cells (or foam cells) in acute atherosis in our third trimester decidua basalis samples (Paper II). Lack of LOX-1 protein expression in acute atherosis endothelium in the third trimester could indicate differing development mechanisms for atherosclerosis and acute atherosis. As discussed for ICAM-1, it is possible that the endothelium of acute atherosis arteries has expressed LOX-1 at earlier gestation. This theory is strengthened by our observation of LOX-1 sporadically being positive in endothelial cells in spiral arteries without acute atherosis (Paper II), perhaps indicating that LOX-1 is predominantly present in the endothelium prior to foam cell formation, though longitudinal studies (infeasible in decidua basalis studies) would be needed to test such a hypothesis.

As recently reviewed by our group (47, 157), fetal cells may be transferred to the mother during pregnancy, termed cellular fetal microchimerism (cFMC). cFMC is more frequent in preeclampsia, and may have beneficial as well as detrimental effects on maternal health both short and long term (157). cFMC has also been linked to cardiovascular disease (158). To our knowledge, cFMC has not been studied in acute atherosis. We speculate that trophoblasts may, as discussed above, represent a source of foam cells in acute atherosis (Paper II), and through cFMC (47) also be involved in future maternal cardiovascular disease.

5.2.6 What is the significance of atherosclerosis-related lipid-handling proteins in acute atherosis foam cells?

Both FABP4 and perilipin-2 have been identified in atherosclerotic foam cells previously, and participate in foam cell formation (71, 98).

To our knowledge, comparisons of frequency of FABP4 and perilipin-2 expression in atherosclerotic foam cells are lacking. Despite the possible underestimation of FABP4 and perilipin-2 expression in acute atherosis foam cells (section 5.1.5.4 "Markers of lipid-handling proteins"), we believe the observed difference in frequency between FABP4 (positive in 36% of acute atherosis lesions) and perilipin-2 (positive in 93% of acute atherosis lesions) reflects that perilipin-2 truly is more frequently expressed in acute atherosis lesions) reflects that perilipin-2 truly is more frequently expressed in acute atherosis lesions than FABP4 (Paper II). High levels of perilipin-2 is linked to lipid loading and foam cell generation (98, 99), indicating that third trimester acute atherosis foam cells are still scavenging lipids, and not fully developed. Increased FABP4 is, in atherosclerosis, an indicator of advanced lesions and plaque instability (71, 101). Acute atherosis lesions do not form calcified plaques as in atherosclerosis, though it is possible that acute atherosis lesions with higher fraction of FABP4-positive foam cells represent more advanced acute atherosis lesions.

5.2.7 Outside foam cell lesions: what is the expression of lipid-handling proteins in the decidua basalis interstitium?

Both perilipin-2 and LOX-1 were significantly more frequently expressed surrounding spiral arteries with acute atherosis (Paper II), suggesting increased lipid metabolism and lipid contents in decidua basalis tissue immediately surrounding spiral arteries with acute atherosis. Perilipin-2 coats lipid droplets consisting of neutral lipids (95), pointing to generally increased lipid contents surrounding spiral arteries with acute atherosis. Increased levels of phospholipids, cholesterol, and neutral lipids (demonstrated by Oil Red O staining) in decidua basalis tissue in preeclampsia has been shown by our group (141) and others (159) previously, though these studies did not state whether increased decidua basalis lipid contents also associated with acute atherosis presence.

Increased LOX-1 indicates increased levels of oxidized LDL locally surrounding spiral arteries with acute atherosis, implying a role for oxidative stress in the pathophysiology of acute atherosis. Indeed, signs of oxidative stress have been identified in decidua parietalis (the part of the decidua not underlying the placenta, Figure 1.3) samples with acute atherosis (50). Our group has previously described signs of oxidative stress in decidua basalis tissue from women with preeclampsia (77), and found that oxidative stress induces lipid uptake and LOX-1 expression in a trophoblastic cell line (155). Though we predominantly found LOX-1 expression in decidual stromal cells (Paper II), we also observed positive LOX-1 staining of interstitial trophoblasts. These results suggest a role for oxidative stress in interstitial trophoblasts and stromal cells of decidua basalis in the pathophysiology of acute atherosis, likely leading to increased local inflammation and acute atherosis formation, in line with our hypothesis (3, 57, 58). This suggestion is strengthened by the recent finding of cholesterol crystals in decidua basalis tissue in preeclampsia and their in vitro ability to induce inflammation (81).

Interestingly, FABP4 was significantly more often expressed surrounding spiral arteries without acute atherosis (Paper II), suggesting that different lipid-related proteins and thus, different types of lipids, may have differing roles in normal and pathological pregnancies.

5.2.8 Circulating proteins associated with amyloid in acute atherosis and preeclampsia: what is the relevance to atherosclerosis development?

In atherosclerosis, aggregates of misfolded protein (amyloid depositions) have been discovered within lesions (160). Increased gene expression of SAA1, a circulating precursor of amyloid, has been found in atherosclerotic endothelium (144), and increased circulating levels induce atherosclerosis lesion progression in mice (117). Amyloid also accumulates in the urine, serum, and placenta of women with preeclampsia (111, 112), though the range of different amyloidogenic proteins involved in preeclampsia is unknown. Protein misfolding and amyloid has until now (Paper III) not been explored in acute atherosis.

Presence of decidua basalis acute atherosis was not associated with circulating levels of amyloidogenic SAA1 or anti-amyloidogenic PZP (Paper III). However, levels of SAA1 were increased, and PZP decreased, in early-onset preeclampsia (Paper III), one of the pregnancy complications most often affected by acute atherosis (43, 44) and with high risk of future cardiovascular disease (64), indicating that SAA1 and PZP may play a role in connecting pregnancy complications and future maternal health. Further, SAA1 and PZP correlated with a dysregulated angiogenic biomarker profile (i.e. increased sFlt-1/PIGF ratio) and fetal growth restriction, proxies for placental dysfunction. Although fetal sex may impact placental function (161), and SAA1 and PZP correlated with placental dysfunction, we did not find an association between SAA1 or PZP and fetal sex (Paper III).

Increased SAA1 and decreased PZP may indicate increased amyloid deposition, as increased SAA1 may lead to amyloid-A deposition (the amyloid type associated with SAA1) (110). PZP has been found to prevent aggregation of amyloidogenic proteins other than SAA1 (129). Whether PZP may also inhibit amyloid-A aggregation from SAA1 is unknown. We speculate that PZP may

have a similar role in SAA1 amyloidogenesis, thus decreased PZP together with increased SAA1 in preeclampsia and placental dysfunction may further indicate increased amyloid-A deposition in these pregnancies. Mechanistic studies are needed to confirm this hypothesis.

Existing studies of SAA1 in pregnancy and preeclampsia vary in size and conclusions differ considerably (122-127). Of HDPs, we found that only early-onset preeclampsia was associated with increased SAA1 (Paper III). No previous study of SAA1 has made a similar distinction between early- and late-onset preeclampsia (delivery $< vs. \ge 34$ weeks' gestation). We consider this, in addition to the relatively large population size (549 pregnancies), to be some of the main strengths of Paper III, which establishes that circulating SAA1 is increased in early-onset preeclampsia and placental dysfunction.

Circulating PZP levels in placental dysfunction have not been well described previously. Two small studies using immunodiffusion gel methodology demonstrated low PZP levels in preeclampsia (162, 163). Interestingly, we found immunoassay levels of PZP to be decreased both in early-onset preeclampsia and in pregestational diabetes mellitus. As low circulating PZP levels have been linked to pregnancy loss (164), we suggest that low PZP in women with pregestational diabetes and early-onset preeclampsia may reflect the profound placentation issues typically associated with these conditions. We speculate that low PZP may identify women with inadequate placentation, who are at risk of early-onset placental dysfunction.

Additional studies are required to elucidate the mechanistic role of SAA1 and PZP in preeclampsia and acute atherosis. Dysregulation of circulating SAA1 and PZP in early-onset preeclampsia may be an indicator of amyloid-A deposition. Tissue studies, such as immunohistochemistry of placenta or decidua basalis tissue, could be used to test our hypothesis of amyloid deposition correlating

with circulating SAA1. We have suggested this as a potential future study in continuation of Paper III (Chapter 7, Future studies).

SAA1 is an acute-phase protein synthesized by the liver in response to inflammatory stimuli (110). Another acute-phase protein, hsCRP, is often used to monitor inflammatory diseases, and hsCRP measurements are typically more accessible in the routine clinical setting. SAA1 and hsCRP correlate in several clinical populations (115, 124), including ours (Paper III). Further, hsCRP is elevated in atherosclerosis (115). In our cohort, hsCRP was increased in preeclampsia (Paper III), reaffirming that preeclampsia is characterized by excessive inflammation, and linking pregnancy to future cardiovascular disease. These results are also a further indication of possible amyloid-A depositions in preeclampsia, as chronic low-grade inflammation is the typical mechanism for SAA1 aggregation into amyloid-A (110). Though hsCRP measurements are more readily available, measuring hsCRP alone would not necessarily give indication of amyloid deposition in preeclampsia, as hsCRP does not form amyloid, in contrast to SAA1 (109).

In a mouse model, elevated circulating SAA1 was shown to associate with increased size of atherosclerotic lesions, even in the case of short-lasting (14 days) SAA1 elevation (117). We speculate that elevated SAA1 in preeclampsia may promote atherogenesis, both through short-term elevation (by increasing existing atherosclerosis lesions during pregnancy) and through long-term elevation (leading to amyloid-A deposition), and thereby cardiovascular disease. Longitudinal and mechanistic studies are needed to test our hypothesis that amyloid and acute-phase proteins in women with a history of preeclampsia and placental dysfunction are contributing factors in the development of atherosclerotic cardiovascular disease.

5.2.9 Characteristics of acute atherosis lesions: affected by pregnancy outcome?

Several studies show that acute atherosis not only affects preeclamptic pregnancies, but also a low rate of uncomplicated, normotensive pregnancies (42-44). The question as to whether acute atherosis characteristics differ or are similar in preeclampsia and normotensive pregnancies remains to be discussed. Previous studies including acute atherosis in both preeclamptic and normotensive pregnancies show that the lesion is characterized by foam cells, fibrinoid necrosis, and a varying degree of inflammatory infiltrates (42-44). Although attention to acute atherosis mainly has been directed at preeclamptic pregnancies, our group has previously identified that lymphocyte types in and around acute atherosis lesions in normotensive and preeclamptic pregnancies do not differ significantly (54).

Acute atherosis is, as previously reported by our group and others before us (42-44, 60), more common in pregnancies complicated by preeclampsia (Paper III), but lesion characteristics are similar across different pregnancy outcomes. For pregnancies with acute atherosis, we found no differences between the normotensive and preeclampsia groups in terms of local endothelial activation (Paper I) or expression of lipid-handling proteins (Paper II). Morphologically, acute atherosis lesions displayed similar characteristics of endothelial damage, number of foam cells per lesion, fibrinoid necrosis, and absence of trophoblasts and vascular smooth muscle cells across the different pregnancy outcome groups (Papers I-II). Circulating levels of SAA1 and PZP were not affected by acute atherosis presence in any pregnancy group (Paper III).

The results from Papers I-III imply that acute atherosis presents morphologically and molecularly similar regardless of clinical diagnosis or pregnancy outcome, fitting our hypothesis of acute atherosis potentially being an independent identifier of women with an increased cardiovascular risk (3, 57, 58).

5.2.10 Clinical implications: does acute atherosis represent an accelerated form of atherosclerosis, fueled by the excessive inflammatory processes in pathologic pregnancies?

Staff and Redman (69) have previously discussed some of the similarities and most important differences between uteroplacental acute atherosis and early stages of atherosclerosis ("fatty streak" lesions) of larger arteries. The morphological and molecular results from Papers I-III expand on the similarities and differences between the two arterial lesions, as summarized in Table 5.1.

Among the most prominent similarities uncovered in this thesis is the finding that acute atherosis and atherosclerotic foam cells express similar lipid-handling proteins. It was known from previous work that the two lesions, per definition, have CD68-positive foam cells in common; however, the finding that foam cells from both lesions express perilipin-2 and FABP4 is novel (Paper II). This result further strengthens the notion that acute atherosis resembles early atherosclerosis lesions (69), as the perilipin-2 abundance indicates foam cell generation and formation (98, 99), similar to early stages of atherogenesis.

One significant difference between acute atherosis and atherosclerosis is the lack of ICAM-1- and LOX-1-positive endothelial cells in acute atherosis (Papers I-II). We interpret these results as a lack of endothelial activation (lack of ICAM-1) and that endothelial cells do not assist in oxidized LDL-uptake (lack of LOX-1) in third trimester acute atherosis, though both processes have been identified as important in early atherogenesis (103, 144). The lack of LOX-1-positive endothelium may also imply that endothelial cells do not play a in foam cell formation in acute atherosis. differing role from atherosclerosis (103).

Table 5.1. Major similarities and discrepancies between uteroplacental acute atherosis and atherosclerosis. Expanded on from Staff and Redman (69). Roman numerals (I-III) refer to findings presented in Papers I-III included in this thesis

	Atherosclerosis	Acute atherosis
Artery diameter	Typically > 0.5 mm	Typically from
	(165), up to several cm	120-140 µm
	(79)	up to 2-3 mm (22, 93)
Time course	Long (years)	Short (pregnancy:
		months)
CD68+ foam cells	Yes (71)	Yes (I-II) (44, 97)
Foam cells: perilipin-2,	Yes (71, 99, 101)	Yes (II)
FABP4 positivity		
Foam cells: origin		
1. Monocyte-	1. Yes (71, 94)	1. Yes (I-II) (44, 97)
macrophages		
2. VSMCs	2. Yes (94)	2. Likely (51, 97)
3. Endothelial cells	3. Yes (94)	3. Possible (II)
4. Trophoblasts	4. Possible,	4. Possible (II)
	through fetal	
	microchimerism	
	(157)	
Vascular inflammation	Yes (72)	Yes (54)
Fibrinoid necrosis	No (not reported)	Yes (I-II)
Fibrosis	Yes, in late stages (67)	No (I-II)
Plaque formation	Yes, in late stages (67)	No (I-II)
Thrombosis	Yes, in late stages (67)	Yes, variably (44, 61)
Complement deposition	Yes, previously reviewed	Yes, previously reviewed
	by the candidate (166)	by the candidate (166)
Endothelial damage/	No (85)	Yes (I) (50-52)
disruption		
Endothelial activation	Yes (86, 144)	No (I)
Oxidative stress	Yes (103)	Yes (II) (50)
Protein misfolding,	Yes (115, 117)	No (III)
circulating		
Protein misfolding,	Yes (160)	Unknown (to be explored
locally		by us)

Rather than endothelial activation, we found damaged endothelium in acute atherosis (Paper I). This is in contrast to atherosclerosis, where the endothelium is reported as being intact at all times, at least according to one report (85). This implies a different role for endothelium in acute atherosis versus atherosclerosis, and the results may be explained by the unique hemodynamic conditions in uteroplacental spiral arteries, both with and without acute atherosis present (22). The role of protein misfolding in atherosclerosis and cardiovascular disease is gaining increasing awareness (110, 160). The full extent of different amyloid precursors involved in atherosclerosis remains to be uncovered. SAA1 represents one of several amyloid-associated proteins that play a role in atherosclerotic lesions on a local (144) and systemic (117) level. The lack of an association between decidua basalis acute atherosis and circulating SAA1 (Paper III) sets this arterial lesion apart from atherosclerosis. Whether SAA1 may play a role in acute atherosis pathogenesis locally remains to be investigated. However, the distinct association between circulating SAA1 and early-onset preeclampsia as well as with proxies for placental dysfunction (Paper III) supports a link between placental dysfunction in pregnancy and future cardiovascular disease.

While atherosclerosis is one of the leading causes of cardiovascular disease for both sexes (66, 67), women are more likely to be affected by coronary microvascular dysfunction than men (167). Microvascular dysfunction, like acute atherosis, affects smaller (< 0.5 mm diameter) vessels (165), and is associated with inflammation (168, 169), endothelial dysfunction (170), and oxidative stress (increased LOX-1) (171). While SAA1 has not been studied in coronary microvascular dysfunction, CRP is elevated in the disease (169). In contrast to acute atherosis, microvascular dysfunction lacks foam cell lesions, and is associated with endothelial activation (172).
The results from Papers I-III reflect that acute atherosis and atherosclerosis likely have shared as well as unique development mechanisms. The shared features and the potentially shared development mechanisms of acute atherosis and atherosclerosis may be indicative of two opposing concepts. One being that the shared features may be general, non-specific features of any arterial foam cell lesion (another example of foam cell lesions being graft vasculopathy). The other possibility is that acute atherosis represents an accelerated atherosclerotic process, and that the short time aspect of acute atherosis gives rise to some of the observed differences between the two lesions, exemplified by the lack of plaque formation in acute atherosis. Alternatively, that the observed differences are pregnancy-specific and influenced by the unique hemodynamic and pro-inflammatory conditions of pregnancy.

Further studies are needed to explore potential similarities between acute atherosis and atherosclerosis, and to fully uncover the pathophysiological mechanisms of pregnancy-specific spiral artery acute atherosis, further discussed in Chapter 7 (Future studies). Increasing knowledge of the potential links between acute atherosis and atherosclerosis may aid in understanding whether uteroplacental acute atherosis poses a sex-specific risk factor for premature cardiovascular disease in women, although longitudinal studies are needed to confirm this hypothesis.

6. CONCLUSIONS

The studies and results presented in this PhD thesis add to existing knowledge of vascular and circulating biomarkers associated with preeclampsia and acute atherosis of the uteroplacental spiral arteries in decidua basalis tissue. Understanding the links between preeclampsia, preeclampsia-associated acute atherosis, and cardiovascular disease is essential to improving female cardiovascular health outcomes. The thesis explores whether preeclampsia and acute atherosis may share local and circulating molecular features with chronic, larger artery atherosclerosis.

The main conclusions from the thesis are illustrated in Figure 6.1.

1. Uteroplacental spiral arteries (both with and without acute atherosis) in third trimester decidua basalis samples are lined by maternal endothelial cells, not fetal extravillous trophoblasts (Paper I).

2. Endothelial cells in spiral arteries with acute atherosis show signs of endothelial damage, but not endothelial activation. These findings differ from endothelial activation seen in early stages of atherosclerosis (Paper I).

3. Arterial wall foam cells of acute atherosis lesions express lipid-handling proteins (perilipin-2 and fatty acid binding protein 4) similar to what is found in atherosclerosis. At the same time, endothelial cells lining acute atherosis artery walls do not express the lipid-scavenging receptor lectin-like oxidized LDL receptor 1 (LOX-1), as opposed to endothelial cells in early atherosclerotic lesions (Paper II).

4. Interstitial decidua basalis tissue (stromal cells) surrounding spiral arteries with acute atherosis was frequently positive for the lipid-scavenging LOX-1 receptor, indicating increased oxidative stress surrounding acute atherosis lesions (Paper II).

5. Acute atherosis of decidua basalis spiral arteries displays similar morphological and molecular properties across pregnancy outcomes, with no major differences in local lesion characteristics between pregnancies complicated by preeclampsia and uncomplicated, normotensive pregnancies (Papers I-II).

6. Decidua basalis acute atherosis is not associated with circulating serum amyloid A1 (SAA1) or pregnancy zone protein (PZP), potential markers of protein misfolding and amyloid aggregation, in contrast to increased circulating SAA1 in atherosclerosis (Paper III).

7. Amyloidogenic SAA1 is increased in early-onset preeclampsia, while anti-amyloidogenic PZP is decreased. Similarly, SAA1 and PZP correlate with an antiangiogenic biomarker profile and fetal growth restriction. This suggests increased amyloid-A deposition in early-onset preeclampsia and placental dysfunction, providing a possible link between placental dysfunction and the observed epidemiological increased risk of future cardiovascular disease (Paper III).



Figure 6.1. Main conclusions of the thesis. AA: acute atherosis. Spiral artery photos by Ingrid K. Fosheim. Created in part using Servier Medical Art.

7. FUTURE STUDIES

This PhD thesis has identified some hitherto unknown vascular and circulating features of uteroplacental spiral artery acute atherosis of decidua basalis. Still, more studies are needed to completely understand the development of acute atherosis, as well as the potential effects on long-term maternal cardiovascular health. Some future study ideas include:

1. In continuation of Paper III, our group has plans of studying local amyloid deposition in decidua basalis acute atherosis, similar to what has been identified in atherosclerosis (160). To identify whether amyloid depositions may play a role in acute atherosis pathogenesis, we will stain decidua basalis sections with Congo red or thioflavin T. These stains are specific for amyloid, but do not indicate which amyloidogenic protein the deposition consists of. Serum amyloid A1 (SAA1) is associated with amyloid-A depositions and atherosclerosis. Hence, we will stain decidua basalis tissue for SAA1 and amyloid-A as well.

2. Cholesterol crystals, which are part of the atherosclerotic lesion, have recently been identified in decidua basalis tissue (81). We hope to explore whether cholesterol crystals may be located to decidua basalis acute atherosis lesions, further linking acute atherosis to atherosclerosis.

3. The onset of acute atherosis is unknown, though lesions have been identified in first trimester abortion samples from women with systemic lupus erythematosus (45). High uterine artery pulsatility index near delivery has been associated with acute atherosis (59, 173). Longitudinal measurements of uterine artery pulsatility index during such high-risk pregnancies as well as other risk pregnancies (e.g. previous early-onset preeclampsia with fetal growth restriction) may therefore be explored to improve identification of the onset of acute atherosis formation. Development of other imaging methods, including tissue strain/elasticity and deep learning algorithms that have been used in

vascular research (174), may also represent new ways to explore vascular tissue changes during pregnancy in the decidua basalis (175).

4. Ultimately, if a tool for detecting *in vivo* development of acute atherosis were available, medical therapy may be tested during pregnancy and effect on spiral artery acute atherosis could be evaluated. Statins are anti-atherogenic and anti-inflammatory (176), and may be introduced after the first trimester fetal organogenesis period. Our group has suggested that use of statins may improve uteroplacental perfusion and thereby pregnancy outcome in pregnancies with acute atherosis (3, 58). In support of this, small studies of statin use in women with antiphospholipid syndrome have shown promising results with improved uteroplacental perfusion (177), but randomized trials are lacking.

8. OTHER RELEVANT PUBLICATIONS DURING THE PHD PERIOD

Staff AC, Fjeldstad HE, <u>Fosheim IK</u>, Moe K, Turowski G, Johnsen GM,
Alnaes-Katjavivi P, Sugulle M
Failure of physiological transformation and spiral artery atherosis: their roles in preeclampsia
Am J Obstet Gynecol. 2022 Feb;226(2S):S895-S906.
doi: 10.1016/j.ajog.2020.09.026. Epub 2020 Sep 21

Jacobsen DP, Fjeldstad HE, Johnsen GM, <u>Fosheim IK</u>, Moe K, Alnæs-Katjavivi P, Dechend R, Sugulle M, Staff AC Acute Atherosis Lesions at the Fetal-Maternal Border: Current Knowledge and Implications for Maternal Cardiovascular Health Front Immunol. 2021 Dec 14;12:791606. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2021.791606

9. REFERENCES

- 1. Robertson WB. Uteroplacental vasculature. J Clin Pathol Suppl (R Coll Pathol). 1976;10:9-17.
- Benirschke K, Burton GJ, Baergen RN. Nonvillous Parts and Trophoblast Invasion. Pathology of the Human Placenta. Sixth ed: Springer, Berlin, Heidelberg; 2012. p. 157-240.
- 3. Staff AC, Fjeldstad HE, Fosheim IK, Moe K, Turowski G, Johnsen GM, et al. Failure of physiological transformation and spiral artery atherosis: their roles in preeclampsia. Am J Obstet Gynecol. 2022;226(2S):S895-S906.
- 4. James JL, Carter AM, Chamley LW. Human placentation from nidation to 5 weeks of gestation. Part I: What do we know about formative placental development following implantation? Placenta. 2012;33(5):327-34.
- 5. Burton GJ, Cindrova-Davies T, Yung HW, Taylor RN. Placentation and Placental Function in Normal and Preeclamptic Pregnancies. In: Taylor RN, Conrad KP, Davidge ST, Staff AC, Roberts JM, editors. Chesley's Hypertensive Disorders in Pregnancy. Fifth ed. United Kingdom: Academic Press; 2022. p. 95-116.
- 6. Benirschke K, Burton GJ, Baergen RN. Placental Types. Pathology of the Human Placenta. Sixth ed: Springer, Berlin, Heidelberg; 2012. p. 27-39.
- Benirschke K, Burton GJ, Baergen RN. Early Development of the Human Placenta. Pathology of the Human Placenta. Sixth ed: Springer, Berlin, Heidelberg; 2012. p. 41-53.
- 8. Pijnenborg R, Vercruysse L, Hanssens M. The uterine spiral arteries in human pregnancy: facts and controversies. Placenta. 2006;27(9-10):939-58.
- 9. Burton GJ, Jauniaux E, Watson AL. Maternal arterial connections to the placental intervillous space during the first trimester of human pregnancy: the Boyd collection revisited. Am J Obstet Gynecol. 1999;181(3):718-24.
- 10. Red-Horse K, Zhou Y, Genbacev O, Prakobphol A, Foulk R, McMaster M, et al. Trophoblast differentiation during embryo implantation and formation of the maternal-fetal interface. J Clin Invest. 2004;114(6):744-54.
- 11. Burton GJ, Jauniaux E. Placental oxidative stress: from miscarriage to preeclampsia. J Soc Gynecol Investig. 2004;11(6):342-52.
- 12. Burton GJ, Watson AL, Hempstock J, Skepper JN, Jauniaux E. Uterine glands provide histiotrophic nutrition for the human fetus during the first trimester of pregnancy. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2002;87(6):2954-9.
- 13. Pijnenborg R, Dixon G, Robertson WB, Brosens I. Trophoblastic invasion of human decidua from 8 to 18 weeks of pregnancy. Placenta. 1980;1(1):3-19.
- 14. Pijnenborg R, Bland JM, Robertson WB, Dixon G, Brosens I. The pattern of interstitial trophoblastic invasion of the myometrium in early human pregnancy. Placenta. 1981;2(4):303-16.
- 15. Pijnenborg R, Bland JM, Robertson WB, Brosens I. Uteroplacental arterial changes related to interstitial trophoblast migration in early human pregnancy. Placenta. 1983;4(4):397-413.
- 16. Robertson WB, Brosens I, Dixon G. Uteroplacental vascular pathology. Eur J Obstet Gynecol Reprod Biol. 1975;5(1-2):47-65.
- 17. Craven CM, Morgan T, Ward K. Decidual spiral artery remodelling begins before cellular interaction with cytotrophoblasts. Placenta. 1998;19(4):241-52.

- 18. Smith SD, Dunk CE, Aplin JD, Harris LK, Jones RL. Evidence for immune cell involvement in decidual spiral arteriole remodeling in early human pregnancy. Am J Pathol. 2009;174(5):1959-71.
- 19. Robson A, Harris LK, Innes BA, Lash GE, Aljunaidy MM, Aplin JD, et al. Uterine natural killer cells initiate spiral artery remodeling in human pregnancy. Faseb j. 2012;26(12):4876-85.
- 20. Choudhury RH, Dunk CE, Lye SJ, Aplin JD, Harris LK, Jones RL. Extravillous Trophoblast and Endothelial Cell Crosstalk Mediates Leukocyte Infiltration to the Early Remodeling Decidual Spiral Arteriole Wall. J Immunol. 2017;198(10):4115-28.
- 21. Harris LK, Keogh RJ, Wareing M, Baker PN, Cartwright JE, Aplin JD, et al. Invasive trophoblasts stimulate vascular smooth muscle cell apoptosis by a fas ligand-dependent mechanism. Am J Pathol. 2006;169(5):1863-74.
- 22. Burton GJ, Woods AW, Jauniaux E, Kingdom JC. Rheological and physiological consequences of conversion of the maternal spiral arteries for uteroplacental blood flow during human pregnancy. Placenta. 2009;30(6):473-82.
- 23. Brosens I, Robertson WB, Dixon HG. The physiological response of the vessels of the placental bed to normal pregnancy. J Pathol Bacteriol. 1967;93(2):569-79.
- 24. Brosens IA, Robertson WB, Dixon HG. The role of the spiral arteries in the pathogenesis of preeclampsia. Obstet Gynecol Annu. 1972;1:177-91.
- 25. Hung TH, Skepper JN, Burton GJ. In vitro ischemia-reperfusion injury in term human placenta as a model for oxidative stress in pathological pregnancies. Am J Pathol. 2001;159(3):1031-43.
- 26. Yung HW, Calabrese S, Hynx D, Hemmings BA, Cetin I, Charnock-Jones DS, et al. Evidence of placental translation inhibition and endoplasmic reticulum stress in the etiology of human intrauterine growth restriction. Am J Pathol. 2008;173(2):451-62.
- 27. Avagliano L, Bulfamante GP, Morabito A, Marconi AM. Abnormal spiral artery remodelling in the decidual segment during pregnancy: from histology to clinical correlation. 2011;64(12):1064-8.
- 28. Staff AC. The two-stage placental model of preeclampsia: An update. J Reprod Immunol. 2019;134-135:1-10.
- 29. Staff AC, Kvie A, Langesæter E, Michelsen TM, Moe K, Strand KM, et al. Hypertensive svangerskapskomplikasjoner og eklampsi. Norsk gynekologisk forening Veileder i fødselshjelp (2020). In Norwegian. Norwegian Society of Gynecology and Obstetrics: Guideline for hypertensive pregnancy disorders and eclampsia. English version of patient information available at same web site. ePub. ISBN 978-82-692382-0-4 2020. [accessed 23.05.2022]. Available from: <u>https://www.legeforeningen.no/foreningsledd/fagmed/norsk-gynekologiskforening/veiledere/veileder-i-fodselshjelp/hypertensive-svangerskapskomplikasjonerog-eklampsi/.</u>
- Karlsen HO, Ebbing C, Acharya G, Sitras V, Myklestad K. Intrauterin veksthemming. Norsk gynekologisk forening Veileder i fødselshjelp (2020). In Norwegian. Norwegian Society of Gynecology and Obstetrics: Guideline for intrauterine growth restriction. ePub. ISBN 978-82-692382-0-4 2020. [accessed 06.01.2022]. Available from: <u>https://www.legeforeningen.no/foreningsledd/fagmed/norsk-gynekologisk-</u> forening/veiledere/veileder-i-fodselshjelp/intrauterin-veksthemming/.

- 31. Michelsen TM, Bergøy Ø, Ellingsen L, Klingenberg C, Lang A, Morken N-H, et al. Preterm fødsel. Norsk gynekologisk forening Veileder i fødselshjelp (2020). In Norwegian. Norwegian Society of Gynecology and Obstetrics: Guideline for preterm delivery. ePub. ISBN 978-82-692382-0-4 2020. [accessed 06.01.2022]. Available from: <u>https://www.legeforeningen.no/foreningsledd/fagmed/norsk-gynekologiskforening/veiledere/veileder-i-fodselshjelp/preterm-fodsel/.</u>
- 32. Brown MA, Magee LA, Kenny LC, Karumanchi SA, McCarthy FP, Saito S, et al. Hypertensive Disorders of Pregnancy: ISSHP Classification, Diagnosis, and Management Recommendations for International Practice. Hypertension. 2018;72(1):24-43.
- 33. WHO recommendations for prevention and treatment of pre-eclampsia and eclampsia: World Health Organization; 2011. [accessed 30.10.2017]. Available from: http://apps.who.int/iris/bitstream/10665/44703/1/9789241548335_eng.pdf.
- 34. Redman CW, Sargent IL, Staff AC. IFPA Senior Award Lecture: Making sense of preeclampsia – Two placental causes of preeclampsia? Placenta. 2014;35:S20-S5.
- 35. Redman CW, Staff AC. Preeclampsia, biomarkers, syncytiotrophoblast stress, and placental capacity. Am J Obstet Gynecol. 2015;213(4 Suppl):S9 e1, S9-11.
- 36. Redman CWG, Staff AC, Roberts JM. Syncytiotrophoblast stress in preeclampsia: the convergence point for multiple pathways. Am J Obstet Gynecol. 2022;226(2S):S907-S27.
- 37. Lyall F, Robson SC, Bulmer JN. Spiral artery remodeling and trophoblast invasion in preeclampsia and fetal growth restriction: relationship to clinical outcome. Hypertension. 2013;62(6):1046-54.
- 38. Zeek PM, Assali NS. Vascular changes in the decidua associated with eclamptogenic toxemia of pregnancy. Am J Clin Pathol. 1950;20(12):1099-109.
- 39. Meekins JW, Pijnenborg R, Hanssens M, van Assche A, McFadyen IR. Immunohistochemical detection of lipoprotein(a) in the wall of placental bed spiral arteries in normal and severe preeclamptic pregnancies. Placenta. 1994;15(5):511-24.
- 40. Alnaes-Katjavivi P, Roald B, Staff AC. Uteroplacental acute atherosis in preeclamptic pregnancies: Rates and clinical outcomes differ by tissue collection methods. Pregnancy Hypertens. 2020;19:11-7.
- 41. Hertig AT. Vascular pathology in the hypertensive albuminuric toxemias of pregnancy. Clinics. 1945;4(602).
- 42. Harsem NK, Roald B, Braekke K, Staff AC. Acute atherosis in decidual tissue: not associated with systemic oxidative stress in preeclampsia. Placenta. 2007;28(8-9):958-64.
- 43. Kim YM, Chaemsaithong P, Romero R, Shaman M, Kim CJ, Kim JS, et al. The frequency of acute atherosis in normal pregnancy and preterm labor, preeclampsia, small-for-gestational age, fetal death and midtrimester spontaneous abortion. J Matern Fetal Neonatal Med. 2015;28(17):2001-9.
- 44. Alnaes-Katjavivi P, Lyall F, Roald B, Redman CW, Staff AC. Acute atherosis in vacuum suction biopsies of decidua basalis: An evidence based research definition. Placenta. 2016;37:26-33.
- 45. Abramowsky CR, Vegas ME, Swinehart G, Gyves MT. Decidual vasculopathy of the placenta in lupus erythematosus. N Engl J Med. 1980;303(12):668-72.
- 46. Nayar R, Lage JM. Placental changes in a first trimester missed abortion in maternal systemic lupus erythematosus with antiphospholipid syndrome; a case report and review of the literature. Human pathology. 1996;27(2):201-6.

- 47. Jacobsen DP, Fjeldstad HE, Johnsen GM, Fosheim IK, Moe K, Alnaes-Katjavivi P, et al. Acute Atherosis Lesions at the Fetal-Maternal Border: Current Knowledge and Implications for Maternal Cardiovascular Health. Front Immunol. 2021;12(5269):791606.
- 48. Stevens DU, Al-Nasiry S, Bulten J, Spaanderman ME. Decidual vasculopathy and adverse perinatal outcome in preeclamptic pregnancy. Placenta. 2012;33(8):630-3.
- 49. Stevens DU, Al-Nasiry S, Bulten J, Spaanderman ME. Decidual vasculopathy in preeclampsia: lesion characteristics relate to disease severity and perinatal outcome. Placenta. 2013;34(9):805-9.
- 50. Hecht JL, Zsengeller ZK, Spiel M, Karumanchi SA, Rosen S. Revisiting decidual vasculopathy. Placenta. 2016;42:37-43.
- 51. De Wolf F, Robertson WB, Brosens I. The ultrastructure of acute atherosis in hypertensive pregnancy. Am J Obstet Gynecol. 1975;123(2):164-74.
- 52. Khong TY, Mott C. Immunohistologic demonstration of endothelial disruption in acute atherosis in pre-eclampsia. Eur J Obstet Gynecol Reprod Biol. 1993;51(3):193-7.
- 53. Labarrere C. Acute atherosis. A histopathological hallmark of immune aggression? Placenta. 1988;9(1):95-108.
- 54. Johnsen GM, Storvold GL, Alnaes-Katjavivi PH, Roald B, Golic M, Dechend R, et al. Lymphocyte characterization of decidua basalis spiral arteries with acute atherosis in preeclamptic and normotensive pregnancies. J Reprod Immunol. 2019;132:42-8.
- 55. Johnsen GM, Storvold GL, Drabbels JJM, Haasnoot GW, Eikmans M, Spruyt-Gerritse MJ, et al. The combination of maternal KIR-B and fetal HLA-C2 is associated with decidua basalis acute atherosis in pregnancies with preeclampsia. J Reprod Immunol. 2018;129:23-9.
- 56. Staff AC, Dechend R, Pijnenborg R. Learning from the placenta: acute atherosis and vascular remodeling in preeclampsia-novel aspects for atherosclerosis and future cardiovascular health. Hypertension. 2010;56(6):1026-34.
- 57. Staff AC, Dechend R, Redman CW. Review: Preeclampsia, acute atherosis of the spiral arteries and future cardiovascular disease: two new hypotheses. Placenta. 2013;34 Suppl:S73-8.
- 58. Staff AC, Johnsen GM, Dechend R, Redman CW. Preeclampsia and uteroplacental acute atherosis: immune and inflammatory factors. J Reprod Immunol. 2014;101-102:120-6.
- 59. Stevens D, Schiffer V, Severens-Rijvers C, de Nobrega Teixeira J, van Haren A, Spaanderman M, et al. The association between decidual vasculopathy and abnormal uterine artery Doppler measurement. Acta Obstet Gynecol Scand. 2022.
- 60. Robertson WB, Brosens I, Dixon HG. The pathological response of the vessels of the placental bed to hypertensive pregnancy. J Pathol Bacteriol. 1967;93(2):581-92.
- 61. Brosens I, Renaer M. On the pathogenesis of placental infarcts in pre-eclampsia. J Obstet Gynaecol Br Commonw. 1972;79(9):794-9.
- 62. Staff AC, Figueiro-Filho E, Davidge ST. Long-Term Effects of Preeclampsia on Mothers and Offspring. In: Taylor RN, Conrad KP, Davidge ST, Staff AC, Roberts JM, editors. Chesley's Hypertensive Disorders in Pregnancy. Fifth ed. United Kingdom: Academic Press; 2022. p. 419-34.
- 63. Conrad KP, Taylor RN, Davidge ST, Staff AC, Roberts JM, Lindheimer MD. The Spectrum of Hypertensive Disorders in Pregnancy: Dr. Leon Chesley's Legacy. In: Taylor RN, Conrad KP, Davidge ST, Staff AC, Roberts JM, editors. Chesley's Hypertensive Disorders in Pregnancy. Fifth ed. United Kingdom: Academic Press; 2022. p. 1-20.

- 64. Irgens HU, Reisaeter L, Irgens LM, Lie RT. Long term mortality of mothers and fathers after pre-eclampsia: population based cohort study. BMJ. 2001;323(7323):1213-7.
- 65. Riise HKR, Sulo G, Tell GS, Igland J, Egeland G, Nygard O, et al. Hypertensive pregnancy disorders increase the risk of maternal cardiovascular disease after adjustment for cardiovascular risk factors. Int J Cardiol. 2019;282:81-7.
- 66. Roth GA, Johnson C, Abajobir A, Abd-Allah F, Abera SF, Abyu G, et al. Global, Regional, and National Burden of Cardiovascular Diseases for 10 Causes, 1990 to 2015. J Am Coll Cardiol. 2017;70(1):1-25.
- 67. Libby P, Buring JE, Badimon L, Hansson GK, Deanfield J, Bittencourt MS, et al. Atherosclerosis. Nature Reviews Disease Primers. 2019;5(1):56.
- 68. Libby P, Hansson GK. From Focal Lipid Storage to Systemic Inflammation: JACC Review Topic of the Week. J Am Coll Cardiol. 2019;74(12):1594-607.
- 69. Staff AC, Redman CW. IFPA Award in Placentology Lecture: preeclampsia, the decidual battleground and future maternal cardiovascular disease. Placenta. 2014;35 Suppl:S26-31.
- 70. Stary HC, Chandler AB, Glagov S, Guyton JR, Insull W, Jr., Rosenfeld ME, et al. A definition of initial, fatty streak, and intermediate lesions of atherosclerosis. A report from the Committee on Vascular Lesions of the Council on Arteriosclerosis, American Heart Association. Circulation. 1994;89(5):2462-78.
- 71. Agardh HE, Folkersen L, Ekstrand J, Marcus D, Swedenborg J, Hedin U, et al. Expression of fatty acid-binding protein 4/aP2 is correlated with plaque instability in carotid atherosclerosis. J Intern Med. 2011;269(2):200-10.
- 72. Libby P. The changing landscape of atherosclerosis. Nature. 2021;592(7855):524-33.
- 73. Veerbeek JH, Brouwers L, Koster MP, Koenen SV, van Vliet EO, Nikkels PG, et al. Spiral artery remodeling and maternal cardiovascular risk: the spiral artery remodeling (SPAR) study. J Hypertens. 2016;34(8):1570-7.
- 74. Moe K, Alnaes-Katjavivi P, Storvold GL, Sugulle M, Johnsen GM, Redman CWG, et al. Classical Cardiovascular Risk Markers in Pregnancy and Associations to Uteroplacental Acute Atherosis. Hypertension. 2018;72(3):695-702.
- 75. Arnett DK, Blumenthal RS, Albert MA, Buroker AB, Goldberger ZD, Hahn EJ, et al. 2019 ACC/AHA Guideline on the Primary Prevention of Cardiovascular Disease: A Report of the American College of Cardiology/American Heart Association Task Force on Clinical Practice Guidelines. Circulation. 2019;140(11):e596-e646.
- 76. Kattoor AJ, Kanuri SH, Mehta JL. Role of Ox-LDL and LOX-1 in Atherogenesis. Curr Med Chem. 2019;26(9):1693-700.
- 77. Staff AC, Halvorsen B, Ranheim T, Henriksen T. Elevated level of free 8-isoprostaglandin F2alpha in the decidua basalis of women with preeclampsia. Am J Obstet Gynecol. 1999;181(5 Pt 1):1211-5.
- 78. Caro CG, Fitz-Gerald JM, Schroter RC. Arterial Wall Shear and Distribution of Early Atheroma in Man. Nature. 1969;223(5211):1159-61.
- Buja LM, McAllister HA. Atherosclerosis: Pathologic Anatomy and Pathogenesis. In: Willerson JT, Wellens HJJ, Cohn JN, Holmes DR, editors. Cardiovascular Medicine. London: Springer London; 2007. p. 1581-91.
- 80. Nidorf SM, Fiolet A, Abela GS. Viewing atherosclerosis through a crystal lens: How the evolving structure of cholesterol crystals in atherosclerotic plaque alters its stability. J Clin Lipidol. 2020;14(5):619-30.
- 81. Silva GB, Gierman LM, Rakner JJ, Stodle GS, Mundal SB, Thaning AJ, et al. Cholesterol Crystals and NLRP3 Mediated Inflammation in the Uterine Wall Decidua in Normal and Preeclamptic Pregnancies. Front Immunol. 2020;11:564712.

- 82. Gimbrone MA, Jr., García-Cardeña G. Endothelial Cell Dysfunction and the Pathobiology of Atherosclerosis. Circulation research. 2016;118(4):620-36.
- 83. Boulanger CM. Endothelium. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol. 2016;36(4):e26-31.
- 84. Chatzizisis YS, Coskun AU, Jonas M, Edelman ER, Feldman CL, Stone PH. Role of endothelial shear stress in the natural history of coronary atherosclerosis and vascular remodeling: molecular, cellular, and vascular behavior. J Am Coll Cardiol. 2007;49(25):2379-93.
- 85. Cheng C, Tempel D, van Haperen R, van der Baan A, Grosveld F, Daemen MJAP, et al. Atherosclerotic Lesion Size and Vulnerability Are Determined by Patterns of Fluid Shear Stress. Circulation. 2006;113(23):2744-53.
- 86. Davies MJ, Gordon JL, Gearing AJ, Pigott R, Woolf N, Katz D, et al. The expression of the adhesion molecules ICAM-1, VCAM-1, PECAM, and E-selectin in human atherosclerosis. J Pathol. 1993;171(3):223-9.
- 87. Grundmann M, Woywodt A, Kirsch T, Hollwitz B, Oehler K, Erdbruegger U, et al. Circulating endothelial cells: a marker of vascular damage in patients with preeclampsia. Am J Obstet Gynecol. 2008;198(3):317.e1-5.
- 88. Mannaerts D, Faes E, Goovaerts I, Stoop T, Cornette J, Gyselaers W, et al. Flowmediated dilation and peripheral arterial tonometry are disturbed in preeclampsia and reflect different aspects of endothelial function. Am J Physiol Regul Integr Comp Physiol. 2017;313(5):R518-r25.
- 89. Greer IA, Lyall F, Perera T, Boswell F, Macara LM. Increased concentrations of cytokines interleukin-6 and interleukin-1 receptor antagonist in plasma of women with preeclampsia: a mechanism for endothelial dysfunction? Obstet Gynecol. 1994;84(6):937-40.
- 90. Zhou Y, Damsky CH, Chiu K, Roberts JM, Fisher SJ. Preeclampsia is associated with abnormal expression of adhesion molecules by invasive cytotrophoblasts. J Clin Invest. 1993;91(3):950-60.
- 91. Lekva T, Sugulle M, Moe K, Redman C, Dechend R, Staff AC. Multiplex Analysis of Circulating Maternal Cardiovascular Biomarkers Comparing Preeclampsia Subtypes. Hypertension. 2020;75(6):1513-22.
- 92. Labarrere CA, DiCarlo HL, Bammerlin E, Hardin JW, Kim YM, Chaemsaithong P, et al. Failure of physiologic transformation of spiral arteries, endothelial and trophoblast cell activation, and acute atherosis in the basal plate of the placenta. Am J Obstet Gynecol. 2017;216(3):287 e1- e16.
- 93. Pijnenborg R, Ball E, Bulmer JN, Hanssens M, Robson SC, Vercruysse L. In vivo analysis of trophoblast cell invasion in the human. Methods Mol Med. 2006;122:11-44.
- 94. Chistiakov DA, Melnichenko AA, Myasoedova VA, Grechko AV, Orekhov AN. Mechanisms of foam cell formation in atherosclerosis. J Mol Med (Berl). 2017;95(11):1153-65.
- 95. Yuan Y, Li P, Ye J. Lipid homeostasis and the formation of macrophage-derived foam cells in atherosclerosis. Protein Cell. 2012;3(3):173-81.
- 96. Lang PD, Insull W, Jr. Lipid droplets in atherosclerotic fatty streaks of human aorta. J Clin Invest. 1970;49(8):1479-88.
- 97. Katabuchi H, Yih S, Ohba T, Matsui K, Takahashi K, Takeya M, et al. Characterization of macrophages in the decidual atherotic spiral artery with special reference to the cytology of foam cells. Med Electron Microsc. 2003;36(4):253-62.
- 98. Persson J, Degerman E, Nilsson J, Lindholm MW. Perilipin and adipophilin expression in lipid loaded macrophages. Biochem Biophys Res Commun. 2007;363(4):1020-6.

- 99. Larigauderie G, Furman C, Jaye M, Lasselin C, Copin C, Fruchart JC, et al. Adipophilin enhances lipid accumulation and prevents lipid efflux from THP-1 macrophages: potential role in atherogenesis. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol. 2004;24(3):504-10.
- 100. Paul A, Chang BH, Li L, Yechoor VK, Chan L. Deficiency of adipose differentiationrelated protein impairs foam cell formation and protects against atherosclerosis. Circulation research. 2008;102(12):1492-501.
- 101. Holm S, Ueland T, Dahl TB, Michelsen AE, Skjelland M, Russell D, et al. Fatty Acid binding protein 4 is associated with carotid atherosclerosis and outcome in patients with acute ischemic stroke. PLoS One. 2011;6(12):e28785.
- 102. Sawamura T, Kume N, Aoyama T, Moriwaki H, Hoshikawa H, Aiba Y, et al. An endothelial receptor for oxidized low-density lipoprotein. Nature. 1997;386(6620):73-7.
- 103. Kataoka H, Kume N, Miyamoto S, Minami M, Moriwaki H, Murase T, et al. Expression of lectinlike oxidized low-density lipoprotein receptor-1 in human atherosclerotic lesions. Circulation. 1999;99(24):3110-7.
- 104. Lee H, Park H, Kim YJ, Kim HJ, Ahn YM, Park B, et al. Expression of lectin-like oxidized low-density lipoprotein receptor-1 (LOX-1) in human preeclamptic placenta: possible implications in the process of trophoblast apoptosis. Placenta. 2005;26(2-3):226-33.
- 105. Trifonova EA, Gabidulina TV, Ershov NI, Serebrova VN, Vorozhishcheva AY, Stepanov VA. Analysis of the placental tissue transcriptome of normal and preeclampsia complicated pregnancies. Acta Naturae. 2014;6(2):71-83.
- 106. Yan Y, Peng H, Wang P, Wang H, Dong M. Increased expression of fatty acid binding protein 4 in preeclamptic Placenta and its relevance to preeclampsia. Placenta. 2016;39:94-100.
- 107. Hartl FU. Protein Misfolding Diseases. Annu Rev Biochem. 2017;86:21-6.
- 108. Gavrin LK, Denny RA, Saiah E. Small molecules that target protein misfolding. J Med Chem. 2012;55(24):10823-43.
- 109. Benson MD, Buxbaum JN, Eisenberg DS, Merlini G, Saraiva MJM, Sekijima Y, et al. Amyloid nomenclature 2020: update and recommendations by the International Society of Amyloidosis (ISA) nomenclature committee. Amyloid. 2020;27(4):217-22.
- 110. Sack GH, Jr. Serum Amyloid A (SAA) Proteins. Subcell Biochem. 2020;94:421-36.
- 111. Kalkunte SS, Neubeck S, Norris WE, Cheng SB, Kostadinov S, Vu Hoang D, et al. Transthyretin is dysregulated in preeclampsia, and its native form prevents the onset of disease in a preclinical mouse model. Am J Pathol. 2013;183(5):1425-36.
- 112. Buhimschi IA, Nayeri UA, Zhao G, Shook LL, Pensalfini A, Funai EF, et al. Protein misfolding, congophilia, oligomerization, and defective amyloid processing in preeclampsia. Sci Transl Med. 2014;6(245):245ra92.
- 113. Pretorius E, Mbotwe S, Bester J, Robinson CJ, Kell DB. Acute induction of anomalous and amyloidogenic blood clotting by molecular amplification of highly substoichiometric levels of bacterial lipopolysaccharide. J R Soc Interface. 2016;13(122).
- 114. Kell DB, Pretorius E. No effects without causes: the Iron Dysregulation and Dormant Microbes hypothesis for chronic, inflammatory diseases. Biol Rev Camb Philos Soc. 2018;93(3):1518-57.
- 115. Ridker PM, Rifai N, Pfeffer MA, Sacks FM, Moye LA, Goldman S, et al. Inflammation, pravastatin, and the risk of coronary events after myocardial infarction in patients with average cholesterol levels. Circulation. 1998;98(9):839-44.
- 116. Kinlay S, Schwartz GG, Olsson AG, Rifai N, Szarek M, Waters DD, et al. Inflammation, Statin Therapy, and Risk of Stroke After an Acute Coronary Syndrome in the MIRACL Study. 2008;28(1):142-7.

- 117. Thompson JC, Jayne C, Thompson J, Wilson PG, Yoder MH, Webb N, et al. A brief elevation of serum amyloid A is sufficient to increase atherosclerosis. J Lipid Res. 2015;56(2):286-93.
- 118. Howlett GJ, Moore KJ. Untangling the role of amyloid in atherosclerosis. Curr Opin Lipidol. 2006;17(5):541-7.
- 119. Page MJ, Thomson GJA, Nunes JM, Engelbrecht AM, Nell TA, de Villiers WJS, et al. Serum amyloid A binds to fibrin(ogen), promoting fibrin amyloid formation. Sci Rep. 2019;9(1):3102.
- 120. Gan XW, Wang WS, Lu JW, Ling LJ, Zhou Q, Zhang HJ, et al. De novo Synthesis of SAA1 in the Placenta Participates in Parturition. Front Immunol. 2020;11:1038.
- 121. Wang YW, Wang WS, Wang LY, Bao YR, Lu JW, Lu Y, et al. Extracellular matrix remodeling effects of serum amyloid A1 in the human amnion: Implications for fetal membrane rupture. Am J Reprod Immunol Microbiol. 2019;81(1):e13073.
- 122. Engin-Ustün Y, Ustün Y, Karabulut AB, Ozkaplan E, Meydanli MM, Kafkasli A. Serum amyloid A levels are increased in pre-eclampsia. Gynecol Obstet Invest. 2007;64(2):117-20.
- 123. Kristensen K, Wide-Swensson D, Lindstrom V, Schmidt C, Grubb A, Strevens H. Serum amyloid a protein and C-reactive protein in normal pregnancy and preeclampsia. Gynecol Obstet Invest. 2009;67(4):275-80.
- 124. Can M, Sancar E, Harma M, Guven B, Mungan G, Acikgoz S. Inflammatory markers in preeclamptic patients. Clin Chem Lab Med. 2011;49(9):1469-72.
- 125. Reimer T, Rohrmann H, Stubert J, Pecks U, Glocker MO, Richter DU, et al. Angiogenic factors and acute-phase proteins in serum samples of preeclampsia and HELLP patients: a matched-pair analysis. J Matern Fetal Neonatal Med. 2013;26(3):263-9.
- 126. Güngör ZB, Tüten A, Ekmekçi H, Ekmekçi Ö B, Kucur M, Öncül M, et al. Possible effects of lipoprotein-associated phospholipase A2 single-nucleotide polymorphisms on cardiovascular risk in patients with preeclampsia. J Matern Fetal Neonatal Med. 2018;31(23):3119-27.
- 127. Uckan K, Sahin HG. Serum amyloid A, procalcitonin, highly sensitive C reactive protein and tumor necrosis factor alpha levels and acute inflammatory response in patients with hemolysis, elevated liver enzymes, low platelet count (HELLP) and eclampsia. J Obstet Gynaecol Res. 2018;44(3):440-7.
- 128. Dunk CE, Roggensack AM, Cox B, Perkins JE, Asenius F, Keating S, et al. A distinct microvascular endothelial gene expression profile in severe IUGR placentas. Placenta. 2012;33(4):285-93.
- 129. Cater JH, Kumita JR, Zeineddine Abdallah R, Zhao G, Bernardo-Gancedo A, Henry A, et al. Human pregnancy zone protein stabilizes misfolded proteins including preeclampsia- and Alzheimer's-associated amyloid beta peptide. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2019;116(13):6101-10.
- 130. Arora S, Stouffer GA, Kucharska-Newton AM, Qamar A, Vaduganathan M, Pandey A, et al. Twenty Year Trends and Sex Differences in Young Adults Hospitalized With Acute Myocardial Infarction. Circulation. 2019;139(8):1047-56.
- 131. Burton GJ, Sebire NJ, Myatt L, Tannetta D, Wang YL, Sadovsky Y, et al. Optimising sample collection for placental research. Placenta. 2014;35(1):9-22.
- Roberts JM, Pearson G, Cutler J, Lindheimer M. Summary of the NHLBI Working Group on Research on Hypertension During Pregnancy. Hypertension. 2003;41(3):437-45.

- 133. World Health Organization Department of Noncommunicable Disease S. Definition, diagnosis and classification of diabetes mellitus and its complications : report of a WHO consultation. Part 1: Diagnosis and classification of diabetes mellitus. Geneva: WHO; 1999.
- 134. Friis CM, Roum EMS, Holm HO, Toft JH, Roland MCP, Thordarson HB. Svangerskapsdiabetes. Norsk gynekologisk forening Veileder i fødselshjelp (2020). In Norwegian. Norwegian Society of Gynecology and Obstetrics: Guideline for gestational diabetes mellitus. ePub. ISBN 978-82-692382-0-4. [accessed 24.03.2022]. Available from: <u>https://www.legeforeningen.no/foreningsledd/fagmed/norsk-gynekologiskforening/veiledere/veileder-i-fodselshjelp/svangerskapsdiabetes/</u>.
- 135. Brown MA, Lindheimer MD, de Swiet M, Van Assche A, Moutquin JM. The classification and diagnosis of the hypertensive disorders of pregnancy: statement from the International Society for the Study of Hypertension in Pregnancy (ISSHP). Hypertens Pregnancy. 2001;20(1):Ix-xiv.
- 136. Staff AC, Andersgaard AB, Henriksen T, Langesæter E, Magnussen E, Michelsen TM, et al. Chapter 28 Hypertensive disorders of pregnancy and eclampsia. European Journal of Obstetrics & Gynecology and Reproductive Biology. 2016;201:171-8.
- 137. Staff AC, Redman C. The Differences Between Early- and Late-Onset Preeclampsia. In: Saito S, editor. Preeclampsia. Singapore: Springer; 2018. p. 157-72.
- 138. Johnsen SL, Rasmussen S, Wilsgaard T, Sollien R, Kiserud T. Longitudinal reference ranges for estimated fetal weight. Acta Obstet Gynecol Scand. 2006;85(3):286-97.
- 139. Arduini D, Rizzo G. Normal values of Pulsatility Index from fetal vessels: a crosssectional study on 1556 healthy fetuses. J Perinat Med. 1990;18(3):165-72.
- 140. DeVore GR. The importance of the cerebroplacental ratio in the evaluation of fetal wellbeing in SGA and AGA fetuses. Am J Obstet Gynecol. 2015;213(1):5-15.
- 141. Staff AC, Ranheim T, Khoury J, Henriksen T. Increased contents of phospholipids, cholesterol, and lipid peroxides in decidua basalis in women with preeclampsia. Am J Obstet Gynecol. 1999;180(3 Pt 1):587-92.
- 142. Harsem NK, Staff AC, He L, Roald B. The decidual suction method: a new way of collecting decidual tissue for functional and morphological studies. Acta Obstet Gynecol Scand. 2004;83(8):724-30.
- 143. Benirschke K, Burton GJ, Baergen RN. Microscopic Survey. Pathology of the Human Placenta. Sixth ed: Springer, Berlin, Heidelberg; 2012. p. 17-25.
- 144. Volger OL, Fledderus JO, Kisters N, Fontijn RD, Moerland PD, Kuiper J, et al. Distinctive expression of chemokines and transforming growth factor-beta signaling in human arterial endothelium during atherosclerosis. Am J Pathol. 2007;171(1):326-37.
- 145. Alnaes-Katjavivi P. Decidual acute atherosis: immunohistochemical definition, immune cell involvement, and tissue heterogeneity [Doctoral thesis]. Oslo: University of Oslo; 2020.
- 146. Khong TY, Lane EB, Robertson WB. An immunocytochemical study of fetal cells at the maternal-placental interface using monoclonal antibodies to keratins, vimentin and desmin. Cell and Tissue Research. 1986;246(1):189-95.
- 147. Haigh T, Chen C, Jones CJ, Aplin JD. Studies of mesenchymal cells from 1st trimester human placenta: expression of cytokeratin outside the trophoblast lineage. Placenta. 1999;20(8):615-25.
- 148. Pusztaszeri MP, Seelentag W, Bosman FT. Immunohistochemical expression of endothelial markers CD31, CD34, von Willebrand factor, and Fli-1 in normal human tissues. The journal of histochemistry and cytochemistry : official journal of the Histochemistry Society. 2006;54(4):385-95.

- 149. Moe K, Heidecke H, Dechend R, Staff AC. Dysregulation of circulating autoantibodies against VEGF-A, VEGFR-1 and PIGF in preeclampsia A role in placental and vascular health? Pregnancy Hypertens. 2017;10:83-9.
- 150. Folkehelseinstituttet (Norwegian Institute of Public Health). Medisinsk fødselsregister statistikkbank. In Norwegian [updated 21.04.2022]. [accessed 13.05.2022]. Available from: <u>http://statistikkbank.fhi.no/mfr/</u>.
- 151. Gottfried E, Kunz-Schughart LA, Weber A, Rehli M, Peuker A, Müller A, et al. Expression of CD68 in non-myeloid cell types. Scand J Immunol. 2008;67(5):453-63.
- 152. Arbelaéz LF, Stigbrand T. Purification of Pregnancy Zone Protein and Its Receptor Binding Domain from Human Plasma. Protein Expression and Purification. 1997;10(3):301-8.
- 153. Su Q, Weindl G. Glucocorticoids and Toll-like receptor 2 cooperatively induce acutephase serum amyloid A. Pharmacol Res. 2018;128:145-52.
- 154. Meekins JW, Pijnenborg R, Hanssens M, McFadyen IR, van Asshe A. A study of placental bed spiral arteries and trophoblast invasion in normal and severe pre-eclamptic pregnancies. Br J Obstet Gynaecol. 1994;101(8):669-74.
- 155. Halvorsen B, Staff AC, Henriksen T, Sawamura T, Ranheim T. 8-iso-prostaglandin F(2alpha) increases expression of LOX-1 in JAR cells. Hypertension. 2001;37(4):1184-90.
- 156. Zhang P, Baergen R. Atherosis of Trophoblast Type. Arch Pathol Lab Med. 2022.
- 157. Fjeldstad HE, Johnsen GM, Staff AC. Fetal microchimerism and implications for maternal health. Obstet Med. 2020;13(3):112-9.
- 158. Kamper-Jørgensen M, Hjalgrim H, Andersen AM, Gadi VK, Tjønneland A. Male microchimerism and survival among women. Int J Epidemiol. 2014;43(1):168-73.
- 159. Brosens I, Brosens JJ, Muter J, Benagiano G. Acute atherosis and diffuse lipid infiltration of the placental bed: A review of historical lipid studies. Placenta. 2020;97:36-41.
- 160. Hellberg S, Silvola JMU, Liljenback H, Kiugel M, Eskola O, Hakovirta H, et al. Amyloid-Targeting PET Tracer [(18)F]Flutemetamol Accumulates in Atherosclerotic Plaques. Molecules. 2019;24(6).
- 161. Andersen LB, Jørgensen JS, Herse F, Andersen MS, Christesen HT, Dechend R. The association between angiogenic markers and fetal sex: Implications for preeclampsia research. J Reprod Immunol. 2016;117:24-9.
- 162. Horne CH, Briggs JD, Howie PW, Kennedy AC. Serum -macroglobulins in renal disease and preeclampsia. J Clin Pathol. 1972;25(7):590-3.
- 163. Griffin JF. Pregnancy-associated plasma protein levels at term in normal pregnancy, preeclampsia and essential hypertension. The Australian & New Zealand journal of obstetrics & gynaecology. 1983;23(1):11-4.
- 164. Than GN, Csaba IF, Szabo DG, Karg NJ, Novak PF. Quantitative Immunological study of pregnancy-associated alpha2-globulin antigen. Vox Sang. 1976;30(2):134-8.
- 165. Del Buono MG, Montone RA, Camilli M, Carbone S, Narula J, Lavie CJ, et al. Coronary Microvascular Dysfunction Across the Spectrum of Cardiovascular Diseases: JACC State-of-the-Art Review. Journal of the American College of Cardiology. 2021;78(13):1352-71.
- 166. Fosheim IK. Local and systemic complement activation and potential molecular mechanisms in three forms of vascular disease: Atherosclerosis, Graft Vascular Disease, and Uteroplacental Acute Atherosis [Master thesis]. Oslo: University of Oslo; 2019.

- 167. Bairey Merz CN, Shaw LJ, Reis SE, Bittner V, Kelsey SF, Olson M, et al. Insights From the NHLBI-Sponsored Women's Ischemia Syndrome Evaluation (WISE) Study: Part II: Gender Differences in Presentation, Diagnosis, and Outcome With Regard to Gender-Based Pathophysiology of Atherosclerosis and Macrovascular and Microvascular Coronary Disease. Journal of the American College of Cardiology. 2006;47(3, Supplement):S21-S9.
- 168. Recio-Mayoral A, Mason JC, Kaski JC, Rubens MB, Harari OA, Camici PG. Chronic inflammation and coronary microvascular dysfunction in patients without risk factors for coronary artery disease. Eur Heart J. 2009;30(15):1837-43.
- 169. Recio-Mayoral A, Rimoldi OE, Camici PG, Kaski JC. Inflammation and microvascular dysfunction in cardiac syndrome X patients without conventional risk factors for coronary artery disease. JACC Cardiovascular imaging. 2013;6(6):660-7.
- 170. Ohura-Kajitani S, Shiroto T, Godo S, Ikumi Y, Ito A, Tanaka S, et al. Marked Impairment of Endothelium-Dependent Digital Vasodilatations in Patients With Microvascular Angina: Evidence for Systemic Small Artery Disease. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol. 2020;40(5):1400-12.
- 171. Zhao J, Zhang Y, Huang Z, Wu F, Li N, Liang C. Association between impaired cutaneous microvascular endothelial function and lectin-like oxidized low-density lipoprotein receptor-1 in patients with coronary slow flow. Microvasc Res. 2020;129:103984.
- 172. Lindemann H, Petrovic I, Hill S, Athanasiadis A, Mahrholdt H, Schäufele T, et al. Biopsy-confirmed endothelial cell activation in patients with coronary microvascular dysfunction. Coronary artery disease. 2018;29(3):216-22.
- 173. Olofsson P, Laurini RN, Marsál K. A high uterine artery pulsatility index reflects a defective development of placental bed spiral arteries in pregnancies complicated by hypertension and fetal growth retardation. European Journal of Obstetrics & Gynecology and Reproductive Biology. 1993;49(3):161-8.
- 174. Golemati S, Cokkinos DD. Recent advances in vascular ultrasound imaging technology and their clinical implications. Ultrasonics. 2022;119:106599.
- 175. Edwards C, Cavanagh E, Kumar S, Clifton VL, Borg DJ, Priddle J, et al. Relationship between placental elastography, maternal pre-pregnancy body mass index and gestational weight gain. Placenta. 2022;121:1-6.
- 176. Sipahi I, Tuzcu EM. Candidate mechanisms for regression of coronary atherosclerosis with high-dose statins: insight from intravascular ultrasonography trials. Am J Cardiovasc Drugs. 2008;8(6):365-71.
- 177. Lefkou E, Mamopoulos A, Dagklis T, Vosnakis C, Rousso D, Girardi G. Pravastatin improves pregnancy outcomes in obstetric antiphospholipid syndrome refractory to antithrombotic therapy. J Clin Invest. 2016;126(8):2933-40.

10. APPENDICES

Appendix 1: Decidua basalis tissue staining protocol

Deparaffinization and rehydration

Prior to staining, formalin fixed, paraffin embedded (FFPE) sections used in Paper I were deparaffinized and rehydrated according to routines at the Department of Pathology, Oslo University Hospital, Ullevål.

Sections used in Paper II were heated to $60 \,^{\circ}$ C for 45-60 min using a hybridization oven, cooled to room temperature, immersed in Histo-Clear (VWR, USA) for 3 min in three successive baths (deparaffinization), then immersed in absolute ethanol for 3 min in three successive baths and finally in tap water for 5 min (rehydration).

Hematoxylin-eosin staining

Slides were immersed in filtered hematoxylin (Dako, Denmark) and incubated for 5 min. Slides were then washed using several changes of tap water, destained/differentiated using 4% acetic acid for 20 sec, washed in several changes of tap water, incubated in Scott's bluing water for 2 min, then soaked in tap water for 1 min. Slides were stained with eosin for 1 min and dipped/rinsed in two successive tap water baths before dehydration: 30 sec in each of 70% - 95% - 95% - 100% ethanol baths followed by 5 min in Xylene.

Immunohistochemical staining

Immunohistochemical staining for Paper I was performed using the fully automated Ventana BenchMark XT immunostainer (Roche, USA). Immunohistochemical staining for Paper II was performed as follows:

1) Antigen retrieval: slides were placed in antigen retrieval solution (buffer depending on the antibody) and heated until boiling point using a microwave oven (2 min, 900 W), placed in a pre-heated vegetable steamer for 20 min, then cooled at room temperature until temperature was below 20 $^{\circ}$ C.

2) Peroxidase blocking: slides were soaked in TBS-T (0.5% Tween in tris-buffered saline) for 5 min, then transferred to TBS-BSA (0.1% bovine serum albumin in TBS) for 5 min, then drained. A hydrophobic (PAP) pen was used to draw a circle around the tissue. Dako (Denmark) EnVision+ Peroxidase Block was dripped onto the tissue, covering the whole sample. Slides were placed in a wet chamber and incubated for 30 min, then rinsed with TBS-T.

3) Primary antibody incubation: slides were drained. Primary antibody was diluted in TBS-BSA to optimal dilution (Table 3.2), and applied to the slide. Slides were placed in a wet chamber and incubated overnight at 4 °C. Negative reagent controls were antibody dependent (mouse or rabbit) and used in the same dilution as primary antibody.

4) Secondary antibody incubation: slides were rinsed in TBS-T for 5 min in two successive baths, drained, and placed in a wet chamber. Dako (Denmark) EnVision+ Labelled Polymer-HRP (horseradish peroxidase) anti-mouse or anti-rabbit (depending on primary antibody, Table 3.2) was dripped onto the tissue. Slides were incubated at room temperature for 60 min, then rinsed in TBS-T for 5 min followed by TBS-BSA for 5 min.

5) Chromagen-DAB (diaminobenzidine): Dako (Denmark) DAB+ Substrate Buffer and DAB+ Chromagen was used in the ratio 1 ml to 1 drop, using 96 μ l substrate buffer per slide and incubated for 5 min. Slides were then placed in tap water for 5 min.

6) Counterstaining: slides were immersed in filtered hematoxylin (Dako, Denmark) and incubated for 5 min. Slides were then washed using several changes of tap water, destained using 4% acetic acid for 20 sec, washed in several changes of tap water, incubated in Scott's bluing water for 2 min, then soaked in tap water for 1 min.

Periodic acid-Schiff co-staining

FFPE sections stained with von Willebrand factor (vWF, Paper I), CK7 and CD68 (Paper II) were co-stained with periodic acid-Schiff (PAS) following immunostaining, but prior to counterstaining with hematoxylin. Sections were incubated with 1% periodic acid for 10 min, rinsed in tap water for 10 min, incubated in Schiff's reagent for 10 min, and rinsed again in tap water for 10 min.

Martius Scarlet Blue staining

FFPE sections for Martius Scarlet Blue (MSB) trichrome staining were incubated in Weigert's iron hematoxylin for 15 min, rinsed in tap water for 5 min followed by absolute ethanol, stained with Martius Yellow for 2 min, rinsed in distilled water, stained with Brilliant Crystal Scarlet 6R for 10 min, rinsed in distilled water, treated with phosphotungistic acid for 2 min, rinsed in distilled water, counterstained with Methyl blue for 4 min, and rinsed in 1% acetic acid.

Patient #:	Date:	Decidua basalis tissue y/n? (interstitial	Total #	# acute		
		CK7+ trophoblasts):	spiral	atherosis		
			arteries:	arteries:		
Used in	Stain	Histological finding	Vessel 1	V2	V3	:
paper			(V1)			
I, II	HE	Vessel size (< vs. \ge 140 µm)				
		Perivascular decidua y/n				
		Mural vacuolated cells y/n, quadrant(s)				
I, II	PAS	Mural fibrinoid impression ("normal				
		purple", "glossy pale pink")				
		Fibrinoid position: quadrant(s)				
I, II	CK7	Intramural cells y/n, quadrant(s)				
		Perivascular cells y/n				
I, II	CD68	Intramural cells y/n				
		Position: quadrant(s)				
		Positive vacuolated cells y/n				
		Positive vacuolated cells: quadrant(s)				
		\geq 2 adjacent pos. vacuolated (AA): y/n				
		Perivascular cells y/n				
Ι	Desmin	Mural cells y/n (intact, disrupted,				
		separate)				
		Position: quadrant(s)				
		Perivascular myometrium y/n				

Appendix 2: Decidua basalis evaluation protocol for Papers I-II

,		· · · ·	
l	MSB	Fibrinoid color (red, blue)	
		Fibrinoid position: quadrant(s)	
I	CD31	Cells lining vessel lumen y/n (normal, abnormal.	
		Position: quadrant(s)	
		Staining intensity vs. internal pos. ctrl.	
		(weaker, stronger)	
Ι	vWF	Cells lining vessel lumen y/n	
		Position: quadrant(s)	
Ι	ICAM-1	Positive endothelial cells y/n	
		\geq 3 adjacent pos. endothelial cells y/n	
		Position: quadrant(s)	
II	Perilipin-2	Positive vacuolated mural cells y/n	
		<pre># vacuolated CD68+ perilipin-2+ cells</pre>	
		Positive mural cells (not CD68+) y/n	
		Positive perivascular cells y/n (scattered,	
		focal, generalized)	
II	FABP4	Positive vacuolated mural cells y/n	
		# of vacuolated CD68+ FABP4+ cells	
		Positive mural cells (not CD68+) y/n	
		Positive perivascular cells y/n	
II	LOX-1	Positive vacuolated mural cells y/n	
		# of vacuolated CD68+ LOX-1+ cells	
		Positive mural cells (not CD68+) y/n	
		Positive perivascular cells y/n	

Based on Appendix 1 of Alnaes-Katjavivi P. Decidual acute atherosis: immunohistochemical definition, immune cell involvement, and tissue heterogeneity [Doctoral thesis]. Oslo: University of Oslo; 2020.

Appendix 3: Enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay (ELISA) protocol

For all steps, a combination of a SELMA (Jena, Germany) pipetting robot and a BioTek (Winooski, USA) dispenser/washer was used.

<u>Plate preparation</u>: The capture antibody was diluted to the working concentration in phosphate-buffered saline (PBS, Thermo Fisher, USA), and microplates immediately coated with 20 μ L per well of the diluted capture antibody. Microplates were sealed and incubated overnight at 4 °C. Each well was aspirated and washed with 90 μ L wash buffer (0.05% Tween in PBS) for a total of three washes. After the last wash, remaining wash buffer was aspirated. 90 μ L blocking buffer (1% bovine serum albumin (BSA) in PBS) was added to each well to block plates. Plates were incubated at room temperature for 1 hour. Aspiration/wash was performed as described above.

Assay procedure: 20 µL of sample or standards in sample buffer (reagent diluent (0.5% BSA, 0.05% Tween in PBS) + 20% fetal calf serum (FCS)) was added to each well. Plates were covered with an adhesive strip and incubated overnight at 4 °C. Aspiration/wash was performed as described above. 20 µL of the detection antibody, diluted in reagent diluent, was added to each well. Plates were covered with an adhesive strip and incubated for 2 hours at room temperature. Aspiration/wash was performed as described above. 20 µL of the working dilution of streptavidin-horseradish peroxidase (HRP) was added to each well. Plates were covered with an adhesive strip and incubated for 20 min at room temperature, avoiding direct light. Aspiration/wash was performed as described above. 20 µL of substrate solution (3, 3', 5, 5'-tetramethylbenzidine (TMB), Thermo Fisher, USA) was added to each well. Plates were incubated for 20 min at room temperature, avoiding direct light. 50 μ L of 2M H₂SO₄ was added to each well. Plates were gently tapped to ensure thorough mixing. Optical density was determined immediately using an ELISA microplate reader (BioTek, USA) set to 450 nm. Wavelength correction was performed at 540 nm.

11. ERRATA

In the original publication of Paper II (Fosheim IK et al. Decidua basalis and acute atherosis: expression of atherosclerotic foam cell associated proteins. Placenta. 2021 Apr;107:1-7), in the Materials and methods section, the listed clones for antibodies used for immunohistochemistry were incorrect. Correct clones are provided in: Fosheim IK et al. Corrigendum to "Decidua basalis and acute atherosis: expression of atherosclerotic foam cell associated proteins" [Placenta 107 (2021) 1-7]. Placenta. 2022 Jan;117:28. Clones listed in the thesis (Table 3.2) are correct.

I

Placenta 82 (2019) 10-16

Contents lists available at ScienceDirect

Placenta

journal homepage: www.elsevier.com/locate/placenta

Acute atherosis of decidua basalis; characterization of spiral arteries, endothelial status and activation



Placenta

Ingrid Knutsdotter Fosheim^{a,b}, Patji Alnaes-Katjavivi^{a,b}, Christopher Redman^c, Borghild Roald^{b,d}, Anne Cathrine Staff^{a,b}, Gro Leite Størvold^{a,b,e,*}

^a Department of Obstetrics and Gynecology, Oslo University Hospital, Ullevål, Norway

^b Faculty of Medicine, University of Oslo, Norway

^c Department of Obstetric Medicine, University of Oxford, Oxford, UK

^d Department of Pathology, Oslo University Hospital, Ullevål, Norway

^e Institute for Experimental Medical Research, Oslo University Hospital and University of Oslo, Oslo, Norway

ARTICLE INFO

Keywords: Decidua basalis Acute atherosis Atherosclerosis Endothelial activation Endothelial damage CD31 intensity

ABSTRACT

Introduction: Acute atherosis (AA) is a lesion affecting uteroplacental spiral arteries during pregnancy, most frequently in preeclampsia but occasionally in normal pregnancy. It is commonly observed in untransformed spiral arteries (intact smooth muscle cell layer, lacking intramural trophoblasts). The mechanism causing lesion development is unknown. AA shares some morphological similarities with atherosclerosis, in which endothelial activation occurs early. Here we histologically characterize decidua basalis spiral arteries with and without AA, focusing on endothelial status and activation.

Methods: Formalin-fixed and paraffin-embedded decidua basalis tissue sections from 32 patients (16 normotensive, 5 with AA, 16 preeclampsia, 7 with AA) were stained with H + E, PAS, MSB (Martius Scarlet Blue), desmin, CK7, CD68, CD31, vWF and ICAM-1. We logged remodeling status, presence of AA, endothelial morphology, endothelial CD31 intensity and activation (ICAM-1-positive cells).

Results: We observed fully or partially transformed spiral arteries in most decidua basalis samples, and no untransformed arteries. AA arteries were also observed, characterized by intramural CD68-positive vacuolated cells and fibrinoid necrosis. They lacked a smooth muscle cell layer and intramural trophoblasts. The fibrinoid necrosis in AA lesions stained red with MSB. AA arteries were associated with lower CD31 staining intensity of endothelial cells. More arteries had an abnormal or destroyed endothelium relative to arteries without AA. Endothelial activation was not observed in the majority of AA arteries.

Discussion: Our results indicate an altered endothelial phenotype as important in the development of AA, supporting previous observations. The histology of AA differs from that of atherosclerosis.

1. Introduction

Acute atherosis (AA) affects the uteroplacental spiral arteries, which perfuse the placental intervillous space during pregnancy. AA occurs in 10–40% of preeclamptic pregnancies [1,2], but also in a lower proportion of normotensive pregnancies [2,3]. It has been described in spiral arteries in the myometrium, decidua basalis, placental basal plate, and decidua parietalis [2,4–6]. The lesion is commonly associated with incomplete spiral artery remodeling (intact smooth muscle cell layer, lacking intramural trophoblasts) [7,8], also described as incomplete physiological transformation.

AA is characterized by intramural CD68-positive vacuolated cells

("foam cells"), thus appearing morphologically similar to early atherosclerosis lesions [9,10]. Further, it is associated with fibrinoid necrosis and occasionally a mononuclear perivascular infiltrate [1,4].

The mechanisms of AA are not understood. It is not clear whether the lesions in the myometrium, decidua basalis and parietalis represent the same pathological processes, even though they share some similar features. Based on the similarity to atherosclerosis, which is established as an inflammatory vascular lesion, we have proposed that vascular inflammation may also be associated with the development of AA [9]. Initial stages of atherosclerosis include endothelial activation, as demonstrated by an increased expression of adhesion molecules like intercellular adhesion molecule-1 (ICAM-1) [11]. Expression of these

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.placenta.2019.04.006

Received 23 November 2018; Received in revised form 25 April 2019; Accepted 27 April 2019

0143-4004/ ${\ensuremath{\mathbb C}}$ 2019 Elsevier Ltd. All rights reserved.

^{*} Corresponding author. Department of Obstetrics and Department of Gynecology, Women and Children's division, Oslo University Hospital, Ullevål, Norway, PO box 4950 Nydalen, NO-0424, Oslo, Norway.

E-mail address: g.l.storvold@medisin.uio.no (G.L. Størvold).

I.K. Fosheim, et al.

molecules promotes attachment and recruitment of circulating monocytes into the vessel wall [12].

This study gives a detailed and systematic histological characterization of decidua basalis spiral arteries with and without AA, to determine whether endothelial status and activation is consistent with our hypothesis.

2. Methods

2.1. Patient recruitment and tissue collection

Pregnant women were recruited as described previously [1], and all gave informed written consent. Preeclampsia was defined as new onset of hypertension (blood pressure $\geq 140/90$ mmHg) and proteinuria (≥ 1 + on dipstick or ≥ 30 total protein/creatinine ratio) at ≥ 20 weeks of gestation [13]. None of the women had regular uterine contractions or signs of infection, and membranes were intact at time of delivery. None had known chronic diseases. Decidua basalis tissue was obtained by vacuum suction of the placental bed following elective caesarian section, as described previously [14]. The collected tissue was fixed in buffered formalin and embedded in paraffin (FFPE).

2.2. Decidua basalis tissue evaluation

For all patients, FFPE tissue sections (3 µm) of the decidua basalis stained for desmin, CK7, and CD68, counterstained with Periodic Acid-Schiff (PAS), were available [1]. Decidua basalis origin was confirmed by the presence of CK7-positive interstitial trophoblasts and decidual cells. Spiral arteries with complete physiological transformation (fully remodeled) were identified by the presence of CK7-positive trophoblasts in the vessel wall, of intramural fibrinoid (bright purple upon PAS staining) and of complete absence of mural smooth muscle cells (no desmin stain) [15]. Partially transformed spiral arteries (partially remodeled) had both intramural fibrinoid and trophoblasts, and scattered areas with remaining mural smooth muscle cells (desmin-positive). Acute atherosis (AA) arteries were defined as arteries with ≥ 2 intramural adjacent vacuolated CD68-positive cells in the vessel wall [1]. Vessels with an intact desmin-positive smooth cell muscle layer and absence of intramural trophoblasts were defined as untransformed spiral arteries (unremodeled) or basal arteries (typically $< 100 \,\mu m$ in diameter) [15]. Only arteries with a diameter of at least 140 µm were included in order to exclude basal arteries from the analysis. Arteries with AA lesions were categorized as AA arteries. Arteries lacking AA lesions were categorized as nonAA arteries. Decidua basalis samples lacking AA arteries were categorized as nonAA samples. Decidua basalis samples harboring ≥ 1 artery with AA were categorized as AA samples. AA is a focal lesion, seldom affecting all arteries in a sample, so nonAA arteries in samples also harboring AA arteries were defined as nonAA arteries in AA sample. In total 32 patients were included in the study, 16 normotensive controls (NC) (5 with AA, which is a purposeful overrepresentation of the 10% AA rate we have previously found in controls [1]) and 16 with preeclampsia (PE) (7 with AA). The clinical characteristics of the patient groups are presented in Supplementary Table 1.

2.3. Immunohistochemical and histological staining

Additional 3 μ m serial slides were stained with CD31 (PECAM-1) (Dako, mouse, clone JC70A, 1:400), von Willebrand Factor (vWF, Dako, rabbit polyclonal 1:120000) counterstained with PAS, and intercellular adhesion molecule-1 (ICAM-1, mouse, clone 23G12, Thermo Fisher Scientific, 1:10 + amplification) using a Ventana XT autostainer (Roche) following the manufacturer's protocol. All reagents were obtained from Roche. Pictures were obtained using an Axio Scan slide scanner and Zen Blue software (Zeiss). Specificity of antibody staining was verified using appropriate positive and negative controls. An example of positive and negative controls for ICAM-1 is shown in Supplementary Fig. 1. Serial slides were stained with Martius Scarlet Blue (MSB) [16] and Hematoxylin + Eosin (H + E) using standard histological techniques.

2.4. Evaluation of endothelial status and activation

Endothelial cells in spiral arteries were identified by positive CD31 and vWF staining. The histological appearance could be divided into three main categories; "Normal"; flattened CD31-positive endothelial cells lining the vessel wall, "Abnormal"; CD31-positive endothelial cells, but more irregular in shape than normal flat endothelium, and "Destroyed"; the endothelial cell layer is disrupted and detached from the vessel wall or partly lacking. Arteries with mixed endothelial cell appearance (abnormal + normal) were classified as abnormal if > 25% of the endothelium had this phenotype.

For each vessel, we also evaluated intensity of CD31 staining across the endothelium. The Image Analysis module of the Zen Blue software (Zeiss) was used to identify and quantify the areas of high and low CD31 intensity for the endothelium lining each vessel. Thresholds for high and low intensity of stain were set manually in Image Analysis in Zen Blue, after ensuring similar intensity level between each scanned slide. NonAA vessels were used to define high intensity level. An example of the image analysis is shown in Supplementary Fig. 2.

Endothelial activation was defined as \geq 3 consecutive ICAM-1-positive endothelial cells, as used previously in a study of endothelial activation in atherosclerosis [17]. Samples were evaluated without knowledge of the patients' clinical data.

2.5. Statistics

The data were analyzed using SPSS Statistics 25.0 (IBM). For continuous variables a non-parametric Mann-Whitney U test was used. Fisher's exact test was used for categorical variables, expected cell count < 5. A p-value < 0.05 was regarded as significant.

3. Results

3.1. Decidual basalis spiral artery identification and characterization

We identified a total of 124 spiral arteries across all evaluated samples. The data were primarily analyzed by artery not by case, as the focus of this study was the histology of the AA lesion. The arteries were categorized according to presence of AA (*AA artery*) or not (*nonAA artery*) as described in the methods section (Table 1).

The median number of spiral arteries observed per decidua basalis tissue section was higher in normotensive controls (NC) than preeclampsia (PE) (Table 1), however the difference was not significant. There were no significant differences in the median number of spiral arteries observed in nonAA samples vs AA samples for either NC or PE groups. Spiral arteries with complete physiological transformation (Fig. 1a) were observed both in NC and PE samples (Table 1), with no significant difference in the fraction of arteries with complete physiological transformation per sample between PE and NC. In AA samples, the fraction of AA arteries per total arteries observed was similar between NC and PE (Table 1). In AA samples, we also frequently observed completely transformed arteries (60% of NC and 71% of PE cases). The fractions of completely transformed arteries per total arteries in AA samples were similar between NC and PE, and it was significantly lower than for nonAA samples for both NC and PE. Partially transformed spiral arteries (Fig. 1b) were less frequently observed, with no difference in frequency between study groups (Table 1). Arteries with an intact desmin-positive smooth muscle cell layer were rarely observed, and excluded as basal arteries because of their size ($< 140 \,\mu m$). None of these had AA lesions. We did not observe any non-remodeled arteries with a diameter $> 140 \,\mu m$.

Table 1

Observed distribution of spiral arteries and categories across the study groups. The total number of spiral arteries observed within each study group, as well as the number of nonAA and AA arteries. The median number (and range) of spiral artery sections observed per evaluated tissue section for each study group. NC=Normotensive controls. PE = preeclampsia. *nonAAsample*; sample lacking artery with acute atherosis (AA), *AA sample*; sample containing ≥ 1 artery with acute atherosis. The distribution (in percentage) of completely transformed, partially transformed and AA arteries of the total number of spiral arteries observed per tissue section is presented as median (and range) across the samples in each category. *NonAA arteries* = arteries with complete or partial physiological transformation without AA.

	NC $n = 16$, $n_{arteries} = 66$		PE $n = 16$, $n_{arteries} = 58$	
	nonAAsample n = 11	AA sample $n = 5$	nonAAsample n = 9	AAsample $n = 7$
Total number of arteries observed per study group, n =	42	24	27	31
nonAA arteries, n =	42	16	27	15
AA arteries, n =	-	8	_	16
Median number of spiral arteries observed per tissue section	4 (1–7)	6 (1–9)	2 (1-8)	3 (1-10)
% arteries with complete physiological transformation	100% (0-100)	33% (0–50) ^{a)}	100% (50-100)	33% (0–67) ^{b)}
% arteries with partial physiological transformation	0% (0–100)	17% (0-44)	0% (0-50)	0% (0-33)
% AA arteries	-	50% (11–100)	-	50% (17-100)

Statistical differences were calculated for the total group of normotensive controls (NC) against preeclampsia (PE), and within the NC and PE group for samples without acute atherosis (*nonAA sample*) against women with acute atherosis (*AA sample*). We compared medians of continuous variables by non-parametric Mann-Whitney *U* test. Differences were considered to be statistically significant when p < 0.05. ^{a)} Significantly different when comparing *nonAA sample* vs *AA sample* for NC group. ^{b)} Significantly different when comparing *nonAA sample* vs *AA sample* for PE group.

AA arteries were always associated with fibrinoid necrosis; visualized as areas of grey-pink PAS stain in the vessel wall, which were also bright red with MSB staining. These arteries lacked the bright purple fibrinoid PAS-stain of completely transformed spiral arteries (Fig. 1c). In contrast, red MSB stain was not observed in completely or partially transformed arteries (*nonAA arteries*), except for a few cases where some traces were observed. For most *AA arteries* we observed no intramural CK7-positive trophoblasts, and only remnants or complete



Fig. 1. Staining of serial FFPE sections of decidua basalis tissue to identify spiral arteries. Slides are stained with (from left to right) Hematoxylin + Eosin (H + E), desmin + PAS, CK7 + PAS, CD68 + PAS and Martius Scarlet Blue (MSB). Representative images of **a**) a spiral artery from a normotensive control with complete physiological transformation, characterized by presence of CK7-positive trophoblasts and intramural fibrinoid (bright purple upon PAS staining, white arrowhead) in the vessel wall, and complete absence of intramural smooth muscle cells (no desmin stain). **b**) Spiral artery from a PE patient with partial physiological transformation (both intramural fibrinoid and trophoblasts (CK7-positive) as well as areas with traces of mural smooth muscle cells (desmin-positive)). **c**) Spiral artery with acute atherosis from same sample as in b), lacking bright purple fibrinoid and CK7-positive trophoblasts in the vessel wall. Traces of intramural smooth muscle cells (desmin positive) are seen. Fibrinoid necrosis is visible as a grey-pink material in the vessel wall (asterisk), which stains red upon MSB staining (asterisk). Erythrocytes in the lumen of the AA artery stains red-brown upon MSB staining. Intramural CD68-positive foam cells are present (black arrowhead). **d**) Spiral artery from a PE patient with almost complete physiological transformation (lack of desmin-positive smooth muscle cells, presence of CK7-positive trophoblasts), yet acute atherosis lesion present (asterisk; fibrinoid necrosis, black arrowhead; foam cells, white arrowhead; purple physiological fibrinoid). Inset; higher power inset of foam cells. (For interpretation of the references to colour in this figure legend, the reader is referred to the Web version of this article.)

I.K. Fosheim, et al.



Fig. 2. Staining of serial FFPE sections of decidua basalis tissue to evaluate endothelial status and activation. Slides are stained with (from left to right) Hematoxylin + Eosin (H + E), CD31, and ICAM-1, a) and b) are vessels from the same PE patient sample. The full staining for vessel d) is shown in Fig. 1c a) NonAA-artery: normal endothelium with high intensity CD31 stain. Single ICAM-1-positive cells, but no endothelial activation. b) (PE) NonAAartery: abnormal endothelium (arrowhead) in combination with normal endothelium. c) Example of AA-artery from a PE patient without endothelial activation: intact, but abnormal endothelium with low intensity CD31 stain. No ICAM-1 positive stain. d) Example of AA-artery with endothelial activation: intact, but abnormal endothelium with low intensity CD31 stain. Endothelial activation (\geq 3 consecutive ICAM-1-positive cells). e) (PE) AA-artery: destroyed endothelium, no endothelial activation.

absence of desmin-positive smooth muscle cells (Fig. 1c), as reported previously [1]. However, for three *AA arteries* across three different patients (2 PE, 1 NC) we observed foam cells and fibrinoid necrosis in combination with trophoblasts and normal PAS-positive purple fibrinoid in the same artery (Fig. 1d).

For spiral arteries with complete or partial physiological transformation, individual study variables were distributed similarly regardless of remodeling status (Supplementary Table 2), and these arteries were merged into one *nonAA artery* category. The subdivision of the *nonAA artery* category into *nonAA artery in nonAA sample* and *nonAA artery in AA sample* (was done in order to detect potential differences in the same vessel category (*nonAA artery*) between samples with and without AA arteries. Arteries from NC and PE were merged for plotting and statistical analysis, as they displayed a similar distribution across the individual study variables (Supplementary Tables 2 and 3).

3.2. AA is associated with an altered endothelial phenotype

Spiral artery endothelium was identified by positive CD31 and vWF

staining. The histological appearance was classified as normal (Fig. 2a), abnormal, but not destroyed (Fig. 2b, c, d), or destroyed (Fig. 2e), as defined in the methods section. The distribution of the three spiral artery categories across the endothelial subtypes is shown in Fig. 3a.

NonAA arteries, both in nonAA samples and AA samples, were equally distributed between a normal and abnormal endothelial cell pattern and few had a destroyed phenotype (Fig. 3a and Supplementary Table 2). In contrast, significantly less of the arteries with AA (AA arteries in AA sample) had a normal endothelial phenotype, and most of the AA arteries (50%) were categorized as abnormal. For the remaining 30% of the AA arteries a destroyed phenotype was observed, which was significantly higher relative to both nonAA artery categories (Fig. 3a).

3.3. AA is associated with weaker CD31 staining of abnormal endothelium

There were differences in CD31 staining intensity between arteries (Fig. 2), and CD31 staining intensity of areas of intact endothelium was categorized as either high or low (Supplementary Fig. 2), as outlined in the methods section. The percentage of vessel endothelium with a low


Fig. 3. Spiral artery and endothelial cell characterization across vessel categories. a) Distribution of spiral artery categories across the endothelial cell phenotypes (Normal, abnormal and destroyed). Bars show the percentage of arteries in each artery category associated with each endothelial subtype. *NonAA-arteries* are shown as light grey bars, *nonAA-arteries in AA samp*les are shown as darker grey bars and *AA-arteries (in AA samples)* are shown as black bars. b) Percentage of area of low CD31 intensity relative to total area of endothelial cell categories. c) Percentage of vessels with positive ICAM-1 stain (\geq 3 consecutive cells) for each artery subtype across endothelial cell categories.

CD31 intensity relative to total area of endothelium for each vessel across different spiral artery categories and endothelial subtypes is shown in Fig. 3b. Quantification of CD31 intensity for the destroyed phenotype was not performed, as the endothelial cells were destroyed and disintegrated. For the normal endothelial phenotype, no significant differences in CD31 intensity were observed between any of the spiral artery categories (Fig. 3b). For the abnormal endothelial phenotype, *AA arteries* had a higher percentage of areas with low CD31 intensity relative to total endothelium per vessel. This was significantly more than for both *nonAA artery in nonAA sample* and *nonAA artery in AA sample* categories (Fig. 3b), however the endothelial lining was still intact and present for all vessel categories.

The vWF staining of endothelial cells appeared in general weaker than for CD31, possibly because of the PAS counterstain (Supplementary Fig. 3). We did not observe a clear difference in staining intensity for vWF between *nonAA* and *AA arteries*, unlike our observations regarding CD31.

3.4. Endothelial activation is not detectable in a majority of AA vessels

Almost all decidua basalis spiral arteries had some scattered ICAM-1-positive endothelial cells, so endothelial activation was defined as presence of \geq 3 adjacent ICAM-1-positive endothelial cells (Fig. 2d), as used previously in a study on atherosclerosis [17]. None of the vessels with destroyed endothelium could be evaluated for ICAM-1, as the endothelium was destroyed and disintegrated. Within the normal endothelial phenotype there was a tendency towards higher endothelial activation in the *AA arteries* (constituting 16.7% of all AA arteries), however the numbers were very low (only 4 observations, of which 3 were positive), and the difference not statistically significant.

There were no significant differences in endothelial activation between the spiral artery categories within the abnormal endothelial phenotype (Fig. 3c), only 4/12 (33%) of the AA vessels with abnormal phenotype had endothelial activation.

4. Discussion

The characteristics of AA at different sites in the uteroplacental unit have been investigated previously [18–21]. However, only a few studies [19,20] have histologically explored the morphology of AA by thoroughly characterizing spiral arteries in the decidua basalis. Our study of samples collected by vacuum suction after removal of the placenta during elective cesarean section is unique.

Our first observation is that AA arteries are associated with an altered endothelial phenotype. A majority of the *AA arteries* (50%) were associated with abnormal endothelium with weaker CD31 staining relative to arteries without AA, or a damaged endothelium (30% of AA arteries). Endothelial damage associated with AA has previously been described both in the myometrium, decidua basalis [21,22], as well as in the decidua parietalis, as observed by Hecht et al. [20]. Hecht et al. also used endothelial markers; however they did not report alterations in staining intensity [20]. Positive red staining with MSB in the AA artery wall, as observed by us and others [7,19], indicates deposition of fibrin (or fibrin-like material) most likely caused by a leakage of factors from the maternal circulation into the vessel wall possibly because of an altered endothelial phenotype [22].

The causes of reduced CD31 staining in AA arteries require further investigation. The reduced staining could indicate that the CD31-positive cells are in a state of disintegration, which could also affect ICAM-1 staining. However, in some cases we observed both weak CD31 stain as well as positive ICAM-1 stain. Weaker CD31 staining in AA arterial endothelium could indicate an altered endothelium as a first response to damaging or inflammatory stimuli. Cellular stress responses could affect global protein translation [23] causing lower CD31 staining. This would not affect ICAM-1 translation as this protein is selectively translated during stress conditions via the ATF4 transcription factor. As we do not observe clear reduction in vWF staining, it could indicate that the reduction in staining is not caused by general endothelial cell degeneration.

We were in general not able to find an association between endothelial activation (ICAM-1-positive stain) and presence of AA in decidua basalis arteries. For arteries with abnormal endothelium (constituting 50% of the AA arteries) endothelial activation was only observed in 25% of the arteries. In 30% of the AA arteries (destroyed phenotype) we could not assess ICAM-1 staining because the endothelial cell lining was completely disintegrated or partly lacking). For AA arteries with a normal endothelial phenotype (constituting only 16.7% of AA arteries), a trend towards higher ICAM-1 staining was observed; 3/4 (75%) were ICAM-1-positive, however because of the low numbers of observations the trend was not significant. Even though we did observe endothelial activation in some AA vessels, especially for the normal phenotype, it rarely affected the whole circumference of the vessel, and it was not clearly associated with the location of the foam cells embedded in the vessel wall. The overall histological appearance of AA arteries differs from atherosclerotic lesions where an intact endothelial cell layer is observed with clear ICAM-1-positive staining, and without deposition of fibrin, even in the advanced stages of the lesion [11,17,24,25]. In summary, our data suggest that the decidual basalis AA lesion is associated with an altered endothelium; however it differs histologically from the observations found in atherosclerosis. This is in line with the conclusions of Katabuchi et al., in their characterization of the AA lesion [19]. Even though AA in our material is histologically dissimilar from atherosclerosis, we cannot exclude from our findings that ICAM-1-positive staining is present at an earlier stage of the AA lesion formation.

A recent study of endothelial activation in spiral arteries from the placental basal plate [5] showed that for arteries in preeclamptic samples, with complete failure of remodeling, both the arterial endothelium and the surrounding trophoblasts labelled for ICAM-1. AA was only observed in placentas harboring ICAM-1-positive vessels; however the investigators did not report whether ICAM-1-positive endothelial cells and AA localized in the same artery, nor the endothelial status. In contrast, we observed no ICAM-1-positive trophoblasts in the decidua basalis, and very few arteries with complete failure of physiological transformation (intact smooth muscle cell layer and absence of intramural trophoblasts), none with a diameter $> 140 \,\mu\text{m}$. We did not assess ICAM-1 status for excluded vessels. A further difference from this and other reports [15,26], is that we find that spiral arteries in decidual samples from PE patients in our cohort were predominantly fully remodeled. It is possible that the absence of unremodeled arteries in PE samples in our study could be because the PE cases included are less severe, as we have a mix of early and late PE with and without fetal growth restriction, with no preexisting hypertension. The observation of completely unremodeled spiral arteries in the placental basal plate at term by Labarrere et al. [5] would point towards a more severe preeclampsia phenotype. However, the clinical data for the PE group and information of co-morbidities are not included in the Labarrere paper [5]. A previous study by Tziotis et al., did not find any significant difference in level of ICAM-1 and other markers of endothelial activation between preeclampsia and normotensive pregnancies in samples from the placental bed [27].

Our finding of lack of a smooth muscle cell layer in AA vessels is in line with a previous report by Katabuchi et al. [19]. The processes causing the lack of smooth muscle cells in these vessels cannot be established from our work, but smooth muscle cells necrosis or apoptosis is likely a major cause, as suggested by Katabuchi et al. We cannot exclude that the smooth muscle cell layer was present at the time of lesion initiation. In line with existing literature [26], we observe a lack of intramural trophoblasts in arteries with AA lesions [1]. The lack of intramural trophoblasts and trophoblast-derived fibrionid indicate that the vessels were not remodeled prior to AA formation.

It is noteworthy that we observe AA arteries (lacking intramural trophoblasts) and completely transformed arteries (with intramural trophoblasts) in close proximity to one another. In completely transformed arteries, bright purple PAS-positive fibrinoid is observed in the vessel wall, which is most likely trophoblast-derived [8,22]. In contrast, AA arteries lack the purple PAS-positive fibrinoid, instead fibrinoid necrosis (grey-pink PAS-stain) is observed, which also stains bright red with MSB staining. In a few cases, we observed a mix of both features, with part of the vessel displaying full physiological transformation with intramural trophoblasts, and the other part having foam cells and red MSB stain in-between the endothelium and a normal outer vessel wall. This suggests that local factors cause AA since neighboring arteries display a normal physiological remodeling status, and in some cases only part of the vessel is affected.

Our data from vacuum suction samples of decidua basalis complements earlier studies of placenta bed biopsies, placenta basal plates and decidua parietalis tissue. The major strength of this study is our vacuum suction method, which yields a higher number of spiral artery sections compared to placenta bed biopsies and placenta surface biopsies [3]. Our systematic immunohistochemical and histological staining enables a clear visualization of the histological and cell specific composition of AA lesions and neighboring arteries. Of necessity, our study is of a relatively low number of patients, owing to the extensive staining and evaluation protocol.

In summary, our observations indicate that AA is a focal lesion, associated with an altered endothelial phenotype and lack of intramural trophoblasts in the affected arteries only. We are not able to establish whether an altered endothelial phenotype precedes and potentially inhibits endovascular trophoblast invasion, or if lack of trophoblast invasion would lead to endothelial alteration and AA formation. As AA is also observed in spiral arteries of decidua parietalis, where no trophoblast invasion takes place, it is tempting to speculate that the endothelial alterations may be the initiating events. We were not able to detect ICAM-1 positive staining of the endothelium in a majority of AA arteries, dissimilar from what is observed for atherosclerosis.

Conflict of interest statement

The authors declare that they do not have any conflict of interest.

Funding

This work was supported by the Research Council of Norway [grant number ref. 230652]; South-Eastern Norway Regional Health Authority [grant number ref. 2014026]. The University of Oslo, Medical Student Research program provided stipend (IKF).

Acknowledgements

The authors are very grateful for the expert contribution of pathology assistants Giang Huong Nguyen and Linn Buer (Dept. of Pathology, Oslo University Hospital) performing tissue processing, immunohistochemistry and histological staining. The authors are also grateful for the laboratory assistance and patient recruitment by Lise Øhra Levy (Oslo University Hospital), as well as for patient recruitment to Oslo Pregnancy Biobank (Oslo University Hospital) by previous PhD students, including Kristin Brække, Nina K. Harsem and Meryam Sugulle.

Appendix A. Supplementary data

Supplementary data to this article can be found online at https://doi.org/10.1016/j.placenta.2019.04.006.

References

- P. Alnaes-Katjavivi, F. Lyall, B. Roald, C.W. Redman, A.C. Staff, Acute atherosis in vacuum suction biopsies of decidua basalis: an evidence based research definition, Placenta 37 (2016) 26–33.
- [2] Y.M. Kim, P. Chaemsaithong, R. Romero, M. Shaman, C.J. Kim, J.S. Kim, F. Qureshi, S.M. Jacques, A.I. Ahmed, T. Chaiworapongsa, S.S. Hassan, L. Yeo, S.J. Korzeniewski, The frequency of acute atherosis in normal pregnancy and preterm labor, preeclampsia, small-for-gestational age, fetal death and midtrimester spontaneous abortion, the journal of maternal-fetal & neonatal medicine : the official journal of the European Association of Perinatal Medicine, the Federation of Asia and Oceania Perinatal Societies, the International Society of Perinatal Obstet 28 (17) (2015) 2001–2009.
- [3] N.K. Harsem, B. Roald, K. Braekke, A.C. Staff, Acute atherosis in decidual tissue: not associated with systemic oxidative stress in preeclampsia, Placenta 28 (8–9) (2007) 958–964.
- [4] W.B. Robertson, I. Brosens, H.G. Dixon, The pathological response of the vessels of the placental bed to hypertensive pregnancy, J. Pathol. Bacteriol. 93 (2) (1967) 581–592.
- [5] C.A. Labarrere, H.L. Dicarlo, E. Bammerlin, J.W. Hardin, Y.M. Kim, P. Chaemsaithong, D.M. Haas, G.S. Kassab, R. Romero, Failure of physiologic transformation of spiral arteries, endothelial and trophoblast cell activation and acute atherosis in the basal plate of the placenta, Am. J. Obstet. Gynecol. 216 (3) (2017), https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ajog.2016.12.029 287.e1–287.e16.
- [6] D.U. Stevens, S. Al-Nasiry, J. Bulten, M.E. Spaanderman, Decidual vasculopathy and adverse perinatal outcome in preeclamptic pregnancy, Placenta 33 (8) (2012)

I.K. Fosheim. et al.

630-633.

- [7] R. Pijnenborg, J. Anthony, D.A. Davey, A. Rees, A. Tiltman, L. Vercruysse, A. van Assche, Placental bed spiral arteries in the hypertensive disorders of pregnancy, Br. J. Obstet. Gynaecol. 98 (7) (1991) 648-655.
- R. Pijnehorg, L. Vercruysse, M. Hanssens, The uterine spiral arteries in human pregnancy: facts and controversies, Placenta 27 (9–10) (2006) 939–958. [8]
- A.C. Staff, G.M. Johnsen, R. Dechend, C.W. Redman, Preeclampsia and uter-[9] oplacental acute atherosis: immune and inflammatory factors, J. Reprod. Immunol. 101-102 (2014) 120-126.
- C. Labarrere, Acute atherosis. A histopathological hallmark of immune aggression? [10] Placenta 9 (1) (1988) 95-108.
- [11] M.J. Davies, J.L. Gordon, A.J. Gearing, R. Pigott, N. Woolf, D. Katz, A. Kyriakopoulos, The expression of the adhesion molecules ICAM-1, VCAM-1, PECAM, and E-selectin in human atherosclerosis, J. Pathol. 171 (3) (1993) 223-229
- [12] G.K. Hansson, A.K. Robertson, C. Soderberg-Naucler, Inflammation and athero-sclerosis, Annu. Rev. Pathol. 1 (2006) 297–329.
- [13] J.M. Roberts, G. Pearson, J. Cutler, M. Lindheimer, N.W.G.o.R.o.H.D. Pregnancy, Summary of the NHLBI working group on research on hypertension during pregnancy, Hypertension 41 (3) (2003) 437-445.
- [14] N.K. Harsem, A.C. Staff, L. He, B. Roald, The decidual suction method: a new way of collecting decidual tissue for functional and morphological studies, Acta Obstet. Gynecol Scand 83 (8) (2004) 724–730
- R. Pijnenborg, E. Ball, J.N. Bulmer, M. Hanssens, S.C. Robson, L. Vercruysse, In vivo [15] analysis of trophoblast cell invasion in the human, Methods Mol. Med. 122 (2006) 11-44.
- [16] A.C. Lendrum, D.S. Fraser, W. Slidders, R. Henderson, Studies on the character and staining of fibrin, J. Clin. Pathol. 15 (1962) 401-413.
- [17] O.L. Volger, J.O. Fledderus, N. Kisters, R.D. Fontijn, P.D. Moerland, J. Kuiper, T.J. van Berkel, A.P. Bijnens, M.J. Daemen, H. Pannekoek, A.J. Horrevoets, Distinctive expression of chemokines and transforming growth factor-beta signaling in human arterial endothelium during atherosclerosis, Am. J. Pathol. 171 (1) (2007)

326-337

- [18] F. De Wolf, W.B. Robertson, I. Brosens, The ultrastructure of acute atherosis in hypertensive pregnancy, Am. J. Obstet. Gynecol. 123 (2) (1975) 164-174.
- [19] H. Katabuchi, S. Yih, T. Ohba, K. Matsui, K. Takahashi, M. Takeya, H. Okamura, Characterization of macrophages in the decidual atherotic spiral artery with special reference to the cytology of foam cells, Med. Electron. Microsc. 36 (4) (2003) 253-262.
- [20] J.L. Hecht, Z.K. Zsengeller, M. Spiel, S.A. Karumanchi, S. Rosen, Revisiting decidual vasculopathy, Placenta 42 (2016) 37-43.
- [21] T.Y. Khong, C. Mott, Immunohistologic demonstration of endothelial disruption in acute atherosis in pre-eclampsia, Eur. J. Obstet. Gynecol. Reprod. Biol. 51 (3) (1993) 193-197.
- F. De Wolf, I. Brosens, W.B. Robertson, Ultrastructure of uteroplacental arteries, [22] Contrib. Gynecol. Obstet. 9 (1982) 86-99.
- Y. Gonskikh, N. Polacek, Alterations of the translation apparatus during aging and [23]
- stress response, Mech. Ageing Dev. 168 (2017) 30–36.
 [24] F. Otsuka, M.C. Kramer, P. Woudstra, K. Yahagi, E. Ladich, A.V. Finn, R.J. de Winter, F.D. Kolodgie, T.N. Wight, H.R. Davis, M. Joner, R. Virmani, Natural progression of atherosclerosis from pathologic intimal thickening to late fibroatheroma in human coronary arteries: a pathology study, Atherosclerosis 241 (2) (2015) 72–782.
- [25] H.C. Stary, A.B. Chandler, S. Glagov, J.R. Guyton, W. Insull Jr., M.E. Rosenfeld, S.A. Schaffer, C.J. Schwartz, W.D. Wagner, R.W. Wissler, A definition of initial, fatty streak, and intermediate lesions of atherosclerosis. A report from the Committee on Vascular Lesions of the Council on Arteriosclerosis, American Heart Association, Circulation 89 (5) (1994) 2462-2478.
- W.B. Robertson, I. Brosens, G. Dixon, Uteroplacental vascular pathology, Eur. J. [26] Obstet. Gynecol. Reprod. Biol. 5 (1-2) (1975) 47-65.
- J. Tziotis, A. Malamitsi-Puchner, G. Vlachos, G. Creatsas, S. Michalas, Adhesion [27] molecules expression in the placental bed of pregnancies with pre-eclampsia, BJOG 109 (2) (2002) 197–201.

Supplemental Material

Acute atherosis of decidua basalis; characterization of spiral arteries, endothelial status and activation

Ingrid Knutsdotter Fosheim^{a,b}, Patji Alnaes-Katjavivi^{a,b}, Christopher Redman^c, Borghild Roald^{b,d}, Anne Cathrine Staff^{a,b}, Gro Leite Størvold^{a,b,e,*}

^a Department of Obstetrics and Gynecology, Oslo University Hospital, Ullevål, Norway

^b Faculty of Medicine, University of Oslo, Norway

^c Department of Obstetric Medicine, University of Oxford, Oxford, UK

^d Department of Pathology, Oslo University Hospital, Ullevål, Norway

^e Institute for Experimental Medical Research, Oslo University Hospital and University of Oslo, Oslo, Norway

*) Corresponding author. Department of Obstetrics and Department of Gynecology, Women and Children's division, Oslo University Hospital, Ullevål, Norway, PO box 4950 Nydalen, NO-0424, Oslo, Norway. E-mail address: g.l.storvold@medisin.uio.no (G.L. Størvold).

Reformatted to fit page. Available in original format at <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.placenta.2019.04.006</u>.

Supplementary figure 1. Positive and negative control tissue. Slides are stained with (from left to right) Hematoxylin+Eosin, CD31, and ICAM-1. Images of **a**) kidney tissue, CD31 positive endothelium visible, but no endothelial activation (ICAM-1 negative), **b**) appendicitis, vessels with endothelium visible (CD31 positive) with endothelial activation (ICAM-1 positive).



Supplementary figure 2. Image analysis of CD31 intensity. The Image analysis module of the Zen Blue software was used to identify the areas of High (red) and low (green) CD31 intensity for each vessel. The software determined the area of each category (high/low intensity), and a ratio of low intensity to total area of endothelium was calculated. Images of **a**) spiral artery with predominantly high intensity of stain, **b**) spiral artery with predominantly low intensity of stain.



Supplementary figure 3. Staining of serial FFPE sections of decidua basalis tissue to evaluate endothelium. Slides are stained with (from left to right) Hematoxylin+Eosin (H+E), von Willebrand factor (vWF) counterstained with periodic acid-Schiff, to identify endothelium in combination with CD31. Images of a) nonAA-artery with normal endothelium, b) AA-artery with abnormal endothelium.







ultrasound screening at gestational week 17-20. Sex-specific newborn weight percentiles were calculated according to Norwegian fetal growth curves [1]. Small for gestational age was defined as a birth percentile below the 10th percentile. Fetal growth restriction (FGR) was defined as Supplementary Table 1: Clinical characteristics of the women participating in the study. Gestational age at delivery was defined by routine abnormal Doppler values [2] and/or a sex-specific newborn weight below the 3rd percentile, excluding pregnancies with fetal structural/chromosomal abnormalities.

	Normoton	cina cont	ale (NC)	Drad		(DC)		Duch	
			UN (NU)	LIGE	nisdiiinin:	(rc)		r-value	
	NC	NCAA-	NCAA+	ΡE	PEAA-	PEAA+			
	n=16	n=11	<u>9=и</u>	n=16	<i>0=0</i>	n=7	NC VS PE	NCAA- VS NCAA+	PEAA- VS PEAA+
Gestational age at delivery (weeks)	39	39	38.9	34.3	34.1	34.9	<.001*	.510	.606
Preterm delivery <37 weeks	6.3% (1/16)	% 0	20% (1/5)	87.5%	88.9%	85.7%	<.001*	0.313	>.999
Early onset PE <34 weeks				37.5%	33.3%	42.8%	·	ı	>.999
New born weight (g)	3433	3472	3240	2124	2163	2085	<.001*	.145	.536
New born weight percentile	51.3	68.4	48.7	2.2	2.1	2.3	<.001*	.510	.837
Small for gestational age	% 0	% 0	% 0	75 %	66.7%	85.7%	<.001*	>.999	.585
Fetal growth restriction	% 0	% 0	% 0	68.8%	66.7%	71.4%	<.001*	ı	>.999
Mean systolic BP at delivery (mmHg)	121	118	125	166	167	165	<.001*	.441	.758
Mean diastolic BP at delivery (mmHg)	70	70	70	100	100	100	<.001*	.827	.606
Maternal age at delivery (years)	33.5	34	31	35,5	39	34	.239	.743	.681
BMI, pre-pregnancy (kg/m2)	22.1	21.7	23.2	22.6	22.3	24.8	.724	.913	.351
Mean systolic BP <20 weeks (mmHg)	111.5	113	110	115.5	115	116	.341	.377	.837
Mean diastolic BP <20 weeks (mmHg)	69.5	69	72	72	75	69	.305	.221	.536
First pregnancy	50%	45.5%	60 %	37.5%	33.3%	42.9%	.722	>.999	>.999
First delivery	56.3%	45.5%	80 %	56.3%	55.6%	57.1%	< 999	.308	>.999
Previous PE	13.3%	10~%	20 %	28.6%	22.2%	40 %	390	>.999	.580
Statistical differences were calculated for	r the total grou	p of norm	otensive con	trols (NC)	against p	preeclamp	sia (PE), ano	I within the controls	and PE group for
women without acute atherosis (AA-) aga	ainst women w	ith acute a	atherosis (AA	(+). We cc	mpared r	nedians o	f continuou	s variables by non-pa	arametric Mann-
Whitney U test, and frequencies of categ	gorical variables	by Fisher	s exact test.	Differenc	es were c	onsidered	to be statis	tically significant wh	en p<0.05.

Suppleme	ntary table 2. Distributio	n of the spiral artery categories acr	ross the endothelial cell	subtypes. Data are pr	esented for both	
normotens	ive controls (NC) and preecl	ampsia (PE) and for both diagnosis cate	egories merged (NC+PE). T	The samples are categor	ized as <i>nonAA samp</i> i	<i>le</i> (no
acute ather	osis (AA) arteries in sample) or AA samples (≥1 AA artery present i	in sample). The spiral artei	ries identified in each sa	mple are classified a	as arteries
with compl	ete spiral artery remodeling	ر (Fully), partial spiral artery remodelin،	g (Partially) or AA arteries.	The Fully and Partially	categories are also $\mathfrak n$	nerged as
a NonAA ar	<i>tery</i> category. Data are sho	wn as the number of spiral arteries in ϵ	each category and % of tot	al arteries in the catego	ry.	
Clinical	AA vessels present in	Spiral artery subtype	Ena	lothelial status (#, % of to	tal)	Total
diagnosis	sample (yes/no)		Normal	Abnormal	Destroyed	arteries
NC	nonAA sample	Fully	18 (54.5%)	13 (39.4%)	2 (6.1%)	33
		Partially	5 (55.6%)	3 (33.3%)	1 (11.1%)	6
		nonAA artery (Fully+Partially)	23 (54.8%)	16 (38.1%)	3 (7.1%)	42
	AA sample	Fully	4 (44.4%)	5 (55.6%)	0	6
		Partially	3 (42.9%)	4 (57.1%)	0	7
		nonAA artery (Fully+Partially)	7 (43.8%)	9 (56.3%)	0 (0%)	16
		AA artery	0 a)	4 (50.0%)	4 (50.0%) ^{b) c)}	ø
PE	nonAA sample	Fully	6 (30.0%)	12 (60.0%)	2 (10.0%)	20
		Partially	2 (28.6%)	5 (71.4%)	0	7
		nonAA artery (Fully+Partially)	8 (29.6%)	17 (63%)	2 (7.4%)	27
	AA sample	Fully	8 (72.7%)	2 (18.2%)	1 (9.1%)	11
		Partially	4 (100.0%)	0	0	4
		nonAA artery (Fully+Partially)	12 (80%)	2 (13.3%)	1 (6.7%)	15
		AA artery	4 (25.0%)	8 (50.0%)	4 (25.0%)	16
						124
NC+PE	nonAA sample	Fully	24 (45.3%)	25 (47.2%)	4 (7.5%)	53
		Partially	7 (43.8%)	8 (50%)	1 (6.3%)	16
		nonAA artery (Fully+Partially)	31 (44.9%)	33 (47.8%)	5 (7.2%)	69
	AA sample	Fully	12 (60.0%)	7 (35%)	1 (5%)	20
		Partially	7 (63.6%)	4 (36.4%)	0	11
		nonAA artery (Fully+Partially)	19 (61.3%)	11 (35.5%)	1 (3.2%)	31
		AA artery	4 (16.7%)	12 (50.0%)	8 (33.3%)	24
						124
^{a)} Significan	tly different (p=0.005) wher	ו comparing AA <i>artery</i> to <i>NonAA artery</i>	/ in nonAA sample for the '	"Normal" endothelial ph	nenotype within the	
normotens	ive controls. ^{b)} Significantly d	lifferent (p=0.004) when comparing AA	A artery to NonAA artery in	<i>nonAA sample</i> and ^{c)} N	onAA artery in AA so	ample
(p=0.007) f _i	or the "Destroyed" endothe	lial phenotype within the normotensiv	ve controls. Fishers exact t	est.		

endothelial c	cell subtype categories.	. Data are presented for both	normotensive control	s (NC) and preeclam	psia (PE) as well a	as both diagnosis
groups merge	ed (NC+PE). The sampl	es are categorized as nonAA s	a <i>mple</i> (nonAA arterie)	s in sample) or AA so	<i>imples</i> (≥1 AA art	ery present in
sample). The	spiral arteries identifie	d in each sample are classified	d as vessels without A	A (<i>nonAA artery</i>) (coi	mbination of spir	al arteries with
complete or l	partial spiral artery rem	nodeling) or AA arteries. Data	are shown as the num	iber of spiral artery ii	n each category v	with endothelial
activation an	d % of total spiral arter	ies in the category.				
Clinical	AA status sample	Spiral artery subtype	Endothelial activa	tion (#, % activated)		Total
diagnosis			Normal	Abnormal	Destroyed	
NC	nonAA sample	nonAA artery	6/23 (26.1%)	1/16 (6.3%)	0/3 (0%)	7/42 (16.7%)
	AA sample	nonAA artery	1/7 (16.7%)	2/9 (22.2%)	(-) 0/0	3/16 (18.8%)
	AA sample	AA artery	(-) 0/0	3/4 (75%)	0/4 (0%)	3/8 (37.5%)
						13/66 (19.7%)
PE	nonAA sample	nonAA artery	3/8 (37.5%)	5/17 (29.4%)	0/2 (0%)	8/27 (29.6%)
	AA sample	nonAA artery	3/12 (25%)	1/2 (50%)	0/1 (0%)	4/15 (26.7%)
	AA sample	AA artery	3/4 (75%)	1/8 (12.5%)	0/4 (0%)	4/16 (25%)
						16/58(27.6%)
NC+PE	nonAA sample	nonAA artery	9/31 (29.0%)	6/33 (18.2%)	0/2 (0%)	15/69 (21.7%)
	AA sample	nonAA artery	4/19 (21.1%)	3/11 (27.3%)	0/1 (0%)	7/31 (22.6%)
	AA sample	AA artery	3/4 (75%)	4/12 (33.3%)	0/8 (0%)	7/24 (29.1%)

Supplementary table 3. Distribution of vessels with endothelial activation (>3 ICAM+ cells) in the different spiral artery categories across the

Supplemental References

[1] S.L. Johnsen, S. Rasmussen, T. Wilsgaard, R. Sollien, T. Kiserud, Longitudinal reference ranges for estimated fetal weight, Acta Obstet. Gynecol. Scand. 85(3) (2006) 286-97.

[2] D. Arduini, G. Rizzo, Normal values of Pulsatility Index from fetal vessels: a cross-sectional study on 1556 healthy fetuses, J. Perinat. Med. 18(3) (1990) 165-72.

Placenta 107 (2021) 1-7

Contents lists available at ScienceDirect

Placenta

journal homepage: http://www.elsevier.com/locate/placenta

Decidua basalis and acute atherosis: Expression of atherosclerotic foam cell associated proteins

I.K. Fosheim^{a,b}, G.M. Johnsen^a, P. Alnaes-Katjavivi^a, G. Turowski^c, M. Sugulle^{a,b}, A. C. Staff^{a,b,*}

^a Division of Obstetrics and Gynecology, Oslo University Hospital, Oslo, Norway

^b Institute of Clinical Medicine, Faculty of Medicine, University of Oslo, Norway

^c Department of Pathology, Oslo University Hospital, Oslo, Norway

ARTICLE INFO ABSTRACT Keywords: Introduction: Uteroplacental acute atherosis is frequently observed in preeclampsia, and shares features with early Acute atherosis atherosclerotic lesions, including artery wall foam cells. The lipid-associated proteins FABP4 (fatty acid binding Decidua basalis protein 4), perilipin-2, and LOX-1 (lectin-like oxidized LDL-receptor 1) are involved in atherosclerotic foam cell Foam cells formation. Increased levels of these proteins have been associated with preeclampsia systemically and in Immunohistochemistry placental tissue. Their role in acute atherosis is yet unidentified. Our aim was to describe the presence of these Preeclampsia proteins in acute atherosis, and compare our findings to what is known in early atherosclerotic lesions. Spiral artery Methods: Serial sections of decidua basalis tissue from 12 normotensive (4 with acute atherosis) and 23 preeclamptic pregnancies (16 with acute atherosis) were stained with HE and immunostained for CK7, CD68, FABP4, perilipin-2, and LOX-1. Artery wall and perivascular protein expression was assessed in 190 spiral artery sections; 55 with acute atherosis. Results: Acute atherosis foam cells were commonly positive for perilipin-2 (55%), less often for FABP4 (13%), and never for LOX-1. LOX-1 was frequently observed in intramural trophoblasts of normal spiral arteries. Perivascularly, LOX-1 positivity of decidual stromal cells surrounding arteries with acute atherosis was significantly increased as compared to arteries lacking acute atherosis (38% vs. 15%, p < 0.001). Discussion: We found that perilipin-2 and FABP4 are expressed by acute atherosis foam cells, similar to atherosclerosis, supporting possible shared pathways for foam cell generation. Unlike atherosclerosis, LOX-1 is not present in acute atherosis, possibly explained by pregnancy-specific routes to decidua basalis foam cell generation.

1. Introduction

Acute atherosis (AA) is a lesion of the uteroplacental spiral arteries, which occurs frequently in preeclamptic pregnancies, but is also seen in normotensive pregnancies [1,2]. AA lesions were classically defined by intramural foam cells and fibrinoid necrosis, and a mononuclear perivascular infiltrate [3]. The qualitative and quantitative details of these morphological entities are however lacking in relation to acute atherosis. Fibrinoid necrosis has been defined as "a grayish-bluish color" upon Periodic acid-Schiff stain [4] or, in relation to acute atherosis, as "a complete or partial fibrin ring" [5]. Perivascular infiltrate in decidual acute atherosis has by us been defined as "a focal perivascular accumulation of lymphocytes (within 50 µm to the outer margin of the spiral

artery), more dense than in the surrounding tissue" [1]. Our previously published criterion for acute atherosis using presence of ≥ 2 adjacent vacuolated CD68-positive foam cells has proven reliable and useful when comparing the rates of acute atherosis across studies, pregnancy outcomes, and different tissue sources [1,6].

The causes and consequences of acute atherosis in preeclampsia and other obstetric syndromes mediated by placental dysfunction are incompletely understood [7], although inflammation is likely a key factor in the development of the lesion [8]. As revised by us recently [7], acute atherosis and graft vascular disease share morphological similarities that have been highlighted for several decades [8–10], although subendothelial foam cell lesions are less prominent in graft vascular disease.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.placenta.2021.03.001

Available online 5 March 2021





PLACENTA

^{*} Corresponding author. Division of Obstetrics and Gynecology, Oslo University Hospital, Ullevål, Norway, PO box 4950, NO-0424, Oslo, Norway. *E-mail address:* uxnnaf@ous-hf.no (A.C. Staff).

Received 14 December 2020; Received in revised form 23 February 2021; Accepted 1 March 2021

^{0143-4004/© 2021} The Author(s). Published by Elsevier Ltd. This is an open access article under the CC BY license (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/).

Women with a history of preeclampsia have an increased risk of cardiovascular disease later in life [11]. Our recent work has shown that AA is associated with dyslipidemia (i.e. increased Low Density Lipoprotein and Apolipoprotein B), a classical cardiovascular risk factor, in older pregnant women [12]. AA occurs more frequently in preeclamptic pregnancies, and we have previously suggested that acute atherosis detection could represent a supplementary biomarker predicting future risk for maternal cardiovascular disease [13,14].

Atherosclerosis is the main histopathological lesion of major cardiovascular diseases [15]. AA shares some morphological features with early stages of atherosclerosis ("fatty streaks") [16], including presence of artery wall foam cells. Both lesions are characterized by inflammation, oxidative stress, and dyslipidemia [8]. There are several differences between the lesions, including differences in the size of affected arteries [8] and molecular composition [7,17–20], suggesting possible differing mechanisms of lesion development. Foam cells of atherosclerotic lesions accumulate cholesterol esters, triglycerides, and phospholipids in cytoplasmic lipid droplets [21]. These lipid droplets express several proteins, also with perilipin-2, named adipophilin and adipose differentiation-related protein, being the most abundantly expressed [22]. Perilipin-2 expression increases during foam cell formation [23], leading to increased lipid accumulation while blocking cholesterol efflux [22,24]. Absence of perilipin-2 has been found to be atheroprotective in mouse models [25]. Atherosclerotic lesions also express the lipid-handling proteins FABP4 (fatty acid binding protein 4) and LOX-1 (lectin-like oxidized LDL-receptor 1) [26-29]. FABP4 is involved in intracellular lipid transport and is associated with atherosclerosis both locally (in macrophages and endothelial cells [27,29]) and systemically [27,29,30]. Increased FABP4 expression in advanced atherosclerotic lesions has been linked to plaque instability [27,31]. LOX-1 is a receptor-bound membrane glycoprotein which binds and internalizes oxidized LDL (oxLDL) [32], promoting lipid accumulation and foam cell formation by both smooth muscle cells and macrophages [33,34]. In atherosclerotic lesions, LOX-1 is located to endothelial cells (particularly in early atherosclerotic lesions), macrophages, and intimal smooth muscle cells [26,28]. Like FABP4, increased LOX-1 promotes plaque instability [35].

In decidua basalis, the major maternal-fetal tissue interface, the levels of phospholipids and cholesterol [36] are increased in preeclampsia compared to normotensive pregnancies. Furthermore, Brosens et al. [37] recently demonstrated by Oil Red O staining that increased amounts of intra- and extracellular lipids in decidua basalis is associated with chronic hypertension and preeclampsia. FABP4, perilipin-2, and LOX-1 expression is also increased in placentas of preeclamptic women [38-40], and a recent study found increased levels of circulating FABP4, measured in early pregnancy, to represent an independent predictor of preeclampsia [41]. The presence and possible role of these proteins in decidua basalis acute atherosis is not known. While the mechanisms of atherosclerotic lesion development are well studied, including the roles of FABP4, perilipin-2, and LOX-1 [22,26-30,33], the mechanisms of AA development remain unclear [7]. The aim of this study was thus to assess whether decidua basalis acute atherosis lesions express lipid associated protein markers known to be of importance in the development of atherosclerotic foam cell lesions of larger arteries.

2. Materials and methods

2.1. Recruitment of pregnant women and decidua basalis tissue collection

Pregnant women (n = 35) were recruited prior to delivery to Oslo Pregnancy Biobank at Oslo University Hospital, as described previously [1]. All gave informed written consent. The study was approved by the Regional committee for Medical and Health Research Ethics in South-Eastern Norway, and conducted in accordance with the principles of the Helsinki Declaration.

Preeclampsia was defined as new onset hypertension (blood pressure

 \geq 140/90 mmHg) and proteinuria (\geq 1+ on dipstick or \geq 30 total protein/creatinine ratio) at \geq 20 weeks' gestation [42]. Women with preeclampsia (n = 21) and chronic hypertension with superimposed preeclampsia (n = 2) were combined to one preeclampsia group (n = 23) for statistical analyses. None of the included women had chronic diseases, except for the two women in the preeclampsia group with chronic hypertension.

Gestational age at delivery was defined by routine ultrasound screening at gestational week 17–20. Sex-specific newborn weight percentiles were calculated according to Norwegian fetal growth curves [43]. Small for gestational age was defined as a birth percentile below the 10th percentile.

None of the women had regular uterine contractions or signs of infection, and fetal membranes were intact at time of delivery. Decidual tissue was collected by vacuum suction of the placental bed following caesarean delivery, as described previously [44]. Collected tissue was formalin fixed and paraffin embedded (FFPE). One decidua basalis biopsy was evaluated per pregnancy, as presented and evaluated previously for spiral artery detection rates [6].

Table 1 displays the clinical characteristics of the clinical groups. The clinical characteristics were similar, except for the expected group differences, including significantly higher BMI and blood pressures, as well as lower gestational age at delivery, lower fetal birthweight and birthweight percentile for the preeclampsia group as compared to the normotensive group (all p < 0.05).

2.2. Decidua basalis standard staining, immunohistochemistry, and evaluation

For all women, serial 3 μm FFPE decidua basalis sections were stained with Hematoxylin-Eosin (HE) using standard histological technique, cytokeratin 7 (CK7, M7018, Dako, USA, 1:300, counterstained with Periodic acid-Schiff [PAS]), CD68 (M081401, Dako, USA, 1:1500, counterstained with PAS), FABP4 (HPA002188, Sigma-Aldrich, USA, 1:1000), perilipin-2 (651102, Progen, Germany, 1:300), and LOX-1 (MABS186, Millipore, USA, 1:750). The following positive controls were used to verify antibody specificity; CK7: placenta, CD68: appendicitis, FABP4: placenta, perilipin-2: liver, LOX-1: placenta. As negative control, non-immune mouse ascites served as primary antibody.

Decidua basalis FFPE slides were scanned with Axio Scan slide scanner and evaluated using Zen Blue 2.6 (Zeiss) for presence of spiral arteries and acute atherosis, as previously described [1]; spiral arteries with \geq 2 intramural adjacent CD68-positive vacuolated cells (foam cells). Presence of decidual stromal cells and CK7-positive trophoblasts confirmed decidua basalis tissue. Vessels <140 µm in diameter were not analyzed so as to ensure the exclusion of smaller basal arteries. Artery sections with AA were categorized as *AA arteries*, while artery sections without AA were categorized as *non-AA arteries*. Samples with \geq 1 *AA artery* were categorized as *AA samples*.

We included decidua basalis tissue samples from 12 normotensive pregnancies (of which 4 *AA samples*), 23 preeclamptic pregnancies (of which 16 *AA samples*). We chose to over-represent samples with AA compared to the prevalence of the lesions for our pregnancy groups [1, 2] as the focus of this study was foam cell characterization. Artery wall foam cells were evaluated on adjacent serial sections for FABP4, perilipin-2, and LOX-1 staining.

In addition to describing the presence of the lipid-associated proteins in the foam cell lesions of the spiral artery wall, we evaluated their presence in the perivascular area of the same arteries (designated by us as a perimeter around the vessel, expanding 100 μ m beyond the outer margin of the vessel wall, described previously [20]). We also evaluated the vessel wall and perivascular areas of *non-AA arteries*. The perivascular staining patterns of FABP4, perilipin-2, and LOX-1 were classified as "no stain" (no immunopositive cells), "scattered" (single positive cells seemingly without relation to one another), "focal" (\geq 5

I.K. Fosheim et al.

Table 1

Clinical characteristics of the study groups (n = 35 women).

	Normotensi	ve		Preeclampsi	a	
	All n=12	Non-AA-samples n=8	AA-samples n=4	All n=23	Non-AA-samples $n=7$	AA-samples n=16
Maternal age at delivery (years)	32.6	32.6	35.5	32.7	32.7	33.0
BMI, pre-pregnancy (kg/m ²)	22.5	21.9	23.0	26.0	30.4	24.8
Mean systolic BP < 20 weeks (mmHg)	110	110	107	116	109	120
Mean diastolic BP < 20 weeks (mmHg)	65	65	69	70	70	70
First pregnancy	33%	38%	25%	48%	57%	44%
First delivery	50%	50%	50%	61%	71%	56%
Previous preeclampsia ^{a)}	17%	0%	50%	56%	50%	57%
Mean systolic BP at delivery (mmHg)	120	121	120	160	150	172
Mean diastolic BP at delivery (mmHg)	70	73	70	100	95	105
Gestational age at delivery (days)	272	270	273	232	238	232
Preterm delivery (<37 weeks)	17%	13%	25%	96%	86%	100%
Early onset preeclampsia (delivery <34 weeks)	_	_	_	61%	43%	69%
Newborn weight (g)	3437	3455	3338	1689	1777	1680
Newborn weight percentile	66	69	57	1	2	1
Small for gestational age	8%	13%	0%	70%	57%	75%

^{a)} Primiparous women were excluded from analyzing rate of previous preeclampsia.

positive cells clustered together), or "generalized" (larger portions of the perivascular area).

2.3. Additional immunohistochemistry of aorta atherosclerosis lesions

For methodological comparison of the subcellular location of the immunohistochemical stains, we tested FABP4, perilipin-2, and LOX-1 on one aorta tissue sample with early ("fatty streak") and one aorta sample with advanced atherosclerotic lesions, using the same antibodies and dilutions as described for decidua basalis sections in the Methods section. Foam cells expressed CD68, FABP4, and perilipin-2 (data not

shown), although not all CD68-positive foam cells in the atherosclerotic lesions were positive for FABP4 and/or perilipin-2. FABP4 was located to cytoplasmic granules and perilipin-2 to lipid droplets. LOX-1 was observed in a few foam cells of the advanced atherosclerotic sample, but in a diffuse intracellular pattern and not as the expected plasma membrane stain [40].

3. Statistics

Statistical analyses were performed using SPSS Statistics 25 (IBM). Non-parametric Mann-Whitney U test was used for continuous



Fig. 1. Serial FFPE sections of decidua basalis tissue: identification of spiral arteries, acute atherosis, and lipid-associated proteins. Slides are stained with (from left to right, 1–6) Hematoxylin-Eosin (HE), CK7+PAS, CD68+PAS, FABP4, perilipin-2, and LOX-1. Representative images of:

a1-a6: Spiral artery without acute atherosis from a normotensive pregnancy, characterized by presence of CK7-positive trophoblasts (a2, white arrowhead) and intramural fibrinoid (a2, bright purple upon PAS staining) in the artery wall. Intramural trophoblasts are positive for FABP4 (a4, white arrowhead). Scattered perivascular FABP4 stain of stromal cells (asterisk). Small intracellular perilipin-2 positive lipid droplets in one trophoblast (a5, inset). LOX-1 shows positive stain in trophoblasts (a6, white arrowhead) and a combination of areas with scattered (a6, asterisk) and focal (a6, circled) positive staining patterns perivascularly. Note also varying degrees of unspecific LOX-1 stain in spiral artery fibrinoid, a frequent observation.

b1-b6: Spiral artery with acute atherosis from a preeclamptic pregnancy. ≥ 2 intramural CD68-positive vacuolated cells are present (inset), confirming acute atherosis. Fibrinoid necrosis is visible as a pale grey-pink material upon PAS staining in the artery wall. Numerous foam cells are positive for perilipin-2, fewer are positive for FABP4, and none for LOX-1 (b4-6, inset). Focal staining pattern of perivascular stromal cells (b4, encircled) with FABP4, as well as scattered positive stromal cells. Unspecific cross-reactivity between fibrin and perilipin-2 was observed frequently, and can be seen in a5) and b5).

c1-c6: Spiral artery with acute atherosis from a preeclamptic pregnancy, confirmed by ≥ 2 intramural CD68-positive vacuolated cells (foam cells, black arrowhead). Inset; intracellular perilipin-2 positive lipid droplets in decidual stromal cell. LOX-1 demonstrates generalized staining pattern of perivascular stromal cells.

variables. Fisher's exact test was used for categorical variables, expected cell count <5. A p-value of <0.05 was considered statistically significant.

4. Results

4.1. Spiral artery identification and acute atherosis diagnosis

We identified and evaluated 190 spiral artery sections (*non-AA arteries* and *AA arteries*) across the 35 included pregnancies. Distribution of spiral arteries across the clinical groups is presented in Supplemental Table 1. As described in the Methods section, we observed *non-AA arteries* in both *AA samples* and *non-AA samples*. We observed *non-AA arteries* in 28/35 (80%) pregnancy samples. Representative images of *non-AA arteries* and *AA arteries* are presented in Fig. 1. There was no significant difference in median number of spiral arteries detected between the preeclampsia and normotensive groups (Supplemental Table 1). Due to our over-selection of *AA samples*, 33% of the normotensive women and 71% of the women with preeclampsia had one or more *AA arteries* (Supplemental Table 1). In *AA samples*, the rate of *AA arteries* was somewhat higher in the preeclampsia group than in the normotensive group, but the difference was not significant (57% in preeclampsia vs. 46% in normotensive, p = 0.419).

4.2. Immunohistochemistry staining of lipid associated proteins in spiral artery walls with acute atherosis (AA arteries)

In our sample selection of AA pregnancies, there was no significant difference between the normotensive and preeclampsia groups regarding total number of foam cells and median number of foam cells (normotensives: n = 350 foam cells, median = 4 per section. Pre-eclampsia: n = 1423 foam cells, median = 16 per section, p = 0.6 for both comparisons) per pregnancy sample.

Perilipin-2 expression was located to cytoplasmic lipid droplets (Fig. 1, b5 and c5). Almost all (93%) AA lesions had \geq 1 perilipin-2 positive foam cell. More than half (55%) of all evaluated AA foam cells were perilipin-2 positive (Fig. 2). FABP4 expression was located to the cytoplasm of foam cells (Fig. 1, b4 and c4), and was present in 36% of AA lesions, and in 13% of AA foam cells (Fig. 2). Perilipin-2 was significantly more often positive in foam cells as compared to FABP4 (p < 0.001).

LOX-1 was only detected in 3% of *AA artery* walls and only in 0.4% (7/1773) of all foam cells. Similarly to our aorta atherosclerotic sample, the LOX-1 stain was not located to the cell membrane as expected from previous publications [40], but to the cytoplasm. We considered this as an unspecific LOX-1 staining of the foam cells and thus excluded these numbers from further analysis.

FABP4 (p = 0.366) and perilipin-2 (p = 0.755) expression in foam cells was not significantly different between normotensive and preeclamptic pregnancies (Fig. 2) when comparing the frequency of positive foam cells for each *AA artery*. However, when all observed foam cells were "pooled" and evaluated according to clinical group, we found that foam cells in normotensive pregnancies were significantly more often positive for FABP4 (24%, 83/350, for normotensive and 10%, 140/1423, for preeclampsia, p < 0.0001) and perilipin-2 (62%, 217/350 for normotensive and 52%, 746/1423 for preeclampsia, p < 0.0015) than in preeclamptic pregnancies.

We rarely observed positive perilipin-2, FABP4, or LOX-1 staining of other cell types than foam cells in the artery wall of *AA arteries*.

4.3. Immunohistochemistry staining of lipid associated proteins in spiral artery walls without acute atherosis (non-AA arteries)

FABP4, perilipin-2, and LOX-1 protein expression was also detected in the vessel wall of *non-AA arteries* in normotensive and preeclampsia groups, but in different cell types than in *AA arteries*. FABP4 was the





Fig. 2. Distribution of lipid-associated protein expression in decidual acute atherosis foam cells. Percentage of observed CD68-positive, vacuolated (foam) cells also positive for FABP4 (circle) and perilipin-2 (diamond) for each acute atherosis spiral artery across normotensive and preeclamptic pregnancies. Line at median.

most prevalent protein expressed in *non-AA artery* walls. FABP4 was observed in 53% (Fig. 1, a4), perilipin-2 in 19% (Fig. 1, a5), and LOX-1 in 12% (Fig. 1, a6) of *non-AA artery* walls. There were no significant differences in frequency of positive staining for FABP4, perilipin-2, or LOX-1 between *non-AA arteries* in *non-AA samples* in the normotensive and preeclampsia groups, nor between *non-AA arteries* in *non-AA samples* and *non-AA arteries* in *AA samples*, irrespective of clinical diagnosis. All three markers primarily located to trophoblasts, but were also seen sporadically in macrophages. FABP4 and LOX-1 were also sporadically seen in endothelial cells, whereas perilipin-2 was never seen in spiral artery endothelial cells.

5. Immunohistochemistry staining of lipid associated proteins in perivascular decidua basalis tissue

The protein expression of FABP4, perilipin-2, and LOX-1 in the decidua basalis spiral artery perivascular area (up to 100 μ m from the outer margin of the vessel wall) varied greatly both within and between women, regardless of clinical group. Overall, FABP4 was the most often detected protein, followed by LOX-1, which in the perivascular area stained the cell membrane as expected (Fig. 1, c6) [40]. Perilipin-2 was the least often detected perivascular protein. We detected positive staining mainly in decidual stromal cells (Fig. 1, a4-6 and c4-6), less often in interstitial (extravillous) trophoblasts, macrophages and lymphocytes.

LOX-1 was most often observed in a "generalized" staining pattern surrounding *AA arteries* (Fig. 1 c6, Supplemental Fig. 1), both for normotensive and preeclampsia groups. LOX-1 was also significantly more often positive in a generalized pattern perivascularly of *AA arteries* as compared to *non-AA arteries* (38% vs. 15%, p < 0.001). Similarly,

perilipin-2 was significantly more frequently observed surrounding AA arteries than non-AA arteries (59% vs. 32%, p < 0.001). Perilipin-2 and LOX-1 co-localized around the same spiral arteries (though not necessarily in the same cells) significantly more often for AA arteries compared to non-AA arteries (30% vs. 13%, p = 0.01). In contrast, FABP4 was significantly more often positive surrounding non-AA arteries than AA arteries (69.6% vs 52.7%, p = 0.031).

For the perivascular decidua basalis tissue, decidual stromal cells stained most often positive for the 3 investigated markers (data not shown). Occasionally, interstitial trophoblasts and macrophages also stained positive.

6. Discussion

Our study showed some clear similarities in lipid binding protein expression between artery wall foam cell lesions of atherosclerosis and acute atherosis. We found that perilipin-2 was abundantly expressed in AA lesions, in line with findings in atherosclerosis [22,24], and more often present in acute atherosis foam cells than the other investigated lipid-associated proteins FABP4 and LOX-1. Perilipin-2 was detected in a majority of foam cells while FABP4 was detected in much fewer foam cells. The localization of positive staining of lipid droplets for perilipin-2 and cytoplasmic staining for FABP4 in foam cells of decidua basalis spiral artery walls was identical to observations reported previously from atherosclerosis [45,46].

Although perilipin-2 and FABP4 were detected in many foam cells, we rarely found *all* foam cells of an AA lesion to be positive for perilipin-2 or FABP4. FABP4 expression in atherosclerosis is linked to plaque instability [27,31] and may represent a marker of more advanced lesion development that is lacking in AA, possibly due to its much shorter duration as compared to atherosclerosis (i.e. pregnancy months compared to several years). Perilipin-2 lacking foam cells could indicate that there has been a disruption of the lipid droplets or that the lipid droplets are larger than in perilipin-2 positive foam cells, as both situations have been shown to reduce perilipin-2 expression in in vitro studies [47]. An alternative interpretation is that the lipid droplets of perilipin-2 negative foam cells may express other members of the perilipin protein family.

Another reason for not all foam cells staining positive for the investigated proteins lies in the nature of serial tissue sections, as not all foam cells identified by HE and CD68 were present on the following parallel slides stained with FABP4, perilipin-2 and LOX-1. This represents a potential (albeit unavoidable) weakness of our method for studying AA, as the lesion is patchy, not affecting the full circumference or the full length of a spiral artery. In some of the AA lesions, we identified artery wall cells that were positive for FABP4 and/or perilipin-2 (but never LOX-1). Although these cells also likely represented foam cells, they were not included in our analyses as they were not present on the HE or CD68 slides and thus could not be confirmed to be foam cells.

LOX-1 was observed in relation to a few foam cells in the spiral artery walls, but this was likely non-specific, as the stain was located diffusely intracellularly. LOX-1 is a transmembrane glycoprotein expressed on the plasma membrane [32], in line with what we found for the perivascular LOX-1 staining. We expect the intracellular LOX-1 staining in the vascular wall foam cells to stem from non-immune, non-specific cross-reactivity with some intracellular element or internalization of the receptor-ligand compound [48].

One important identified difference between our study of decidua basalis acute atherosis and previous atherosclerosis studies is that early atherosclerotic lesions often express LOX-1 in endothelial cells, and LOX-1 is thought to be important in foam cell formation and lipid deposition [26,33,49]. In contrast, we did not observe LOX-1 protein expression in the endothelial cells of acute atherosis arteries, although it is possible that LOX-1 expression is present at earlier gestational ages than in our third trimester decidua basalis samples. This discrepancy, together with our previous finding of lacking endothelial activation of decidual acute atherosis [19], may suggest that endothelial cells play a different role in the development of acute atherosis lesions as compared to atherosclerosis. However, as described by us and others previously [19,50–52], endothelial cells in AA are often disrupted, degenerated, or lacking, in contrast to endothelial cells in early atherosclerosis, which are mainly intact [16]. This difference may have contributed to our observed differences in LOX-1 staining of AA and atherosclerotic endothelium. In addition, LOX-1 has been shown to be of importance in advanced stages of atherosclerosis [26,28].

Foam cells in atherosclerosis of larger arteries derive from macrophages, endothelial cells, and vascular smooth muscle cells [35]. Previous studies of acute atherosis have demonstrated monocyte-macrophages [18] and smooth muscle cells [50] as possible sources for foam cells. The role of endothelial cells or other possible sources for foam cells, such as trophoblasts or fibroblasts, in acute atherosis is unknown. Our group has previously demonstrated that trophoblasts in vitro accumulate neutral lipids and express LOX-1 in an environment of oxidative stress (typically present in preeclampsia [53]) in a trophoblastic cell line, suggesting that trophoblasts may be able to convert into foam cells [54]. Intriguingly, we observed quite frequently positive LOX-1 and sometimes perilipin-2 positive staining in intramural trophoblasts in non-AA arteries. We propose that LOX-1-positive trophoblasts of non-AA arteries could represent precursors to foam cells and that given more time, the trophoblasts could indeed form foam cells and participate in the formation of decidua basalis acute atherosis lesions. Hypoxia, which is implicated in the preeclamptic placenta [55], has, along with hyperlipidemia, been shown to increase FABP4 and perilipin-2 expression in cultured term trophoblasts [56-58], supporting our observation that trophoblasts and foam cells display some molecular similarities. While the assumption that trophoblasts could be a potential source of foam cells in acute atherosis is not supported by the lack of CK7- and LOX-1-positivity in acute atherosis foam cells, it is possible that CK7- and LOX-1-expression could decrease as the trophoblasts develop into foam cells. Trophoblasts may represent an added pregnancy-specific source of acute atherosis foam cells, in addition to monocyte-macrophages and smooth muscle cells.

The present study is not epidemiologically representative for acute atherosis prevalence, as we purposely chose to over-represent pregnancies with acute atherosis. Interestingly, our study indicates that, when acute atherosis is present, decidua basalis foam cell characteristics are similar, with similar lipid associated protein patterns across preeclampsia and normotensive pregnancies. Acute atherosis lesions are however much more frequent in preeclampsia than normotensive pregnancy, as shown by several studies [59,60]; including ours [1,2,6].

We also observed interesting lipid associated protein staining patterns in the perivascular area of decidua basalis spiral arteries. Specifically, there was slightly more generalized LOX-1 staining surrounding *AA arteries* of preeclampsia as compared to normotensive women, though this difference was not statistically significant. LOX-1 was also significantly more often expressed in the perivascular area of *AA arteries* compared to *non-AA arteries*, indicating higher levels of oxLDL in decidua basalis tissue in samples from women with preeclampsia and acute atherosis.

Our group [53] found increased 8-iso-prostaglandin $F_{2\alpha}$ levels in decidua basalis in preeclampsia, and later confirmed that this compound, a marker of oxidative stress, increases LOX-1 expression in a trophoblastic cell line [54]. While these results do not directly confirm that LOX-1 is upregulated in decidua basalis during preeclampsia, LOX-1 has been shown to be highly expressed in the endothelium of omental arteries [61] and in syncytiotrophoblasts in placentas [40] of preeclamptic pregnancies. Taken together with our present results, this could indicate a role of LOX-1 in acute atherosis, both in preeclampsia and normotensive pregnancies. We propose that the presence of oxLDL in the decidua basalis creates an inflammatory and oxidative environment surrounding the spiral arteries, facilitating LOX-1 expression and foam cell lesion development. A recent study also suggests a role for

I.K. Fosheim et al.

cholesterol crystals mediating inflammation in decidua basalis in preeclampsia [62], although its role in acute atherosis lesions is not described.

Perilipin-2 was infrequently positive in the perivascular area, compared to LOX-1 and FABP4. Even so, we did find that perilipin-2 was significantly more often positive in perivascular stromal cells surrounding *AA arteries* than *non-AA arteries*. We suggest that this observation reflects the increased lipid contents of *AA arteries* [18,50] and that the increased perilipin-2 observed around *AA arteries* is a direct consequence of locally increased lipid levels. The latter would be in line with our previous study showing increased levels of phospholipids and cholesterol in decidua basalis of preeclamptic pregnancies [36], and in line with our present finding of increased LOX-1 surrounding *AA arteries*, indicating increased oxLDL locally.

Our study is, to our knowledge, the first to assess FABP4, perilipin-2, and LOX-1 immunohistochemically in uteroplacental tissues and acute atherosis lesions of spiral arteries. We found that perilipin-2 and FABP4 are expressed by acute atherosis foam cells, similar to atherosclerotic foam cells of larger arteries. We propose that foam cells of these arterial lesions may share some developmental features. The lack of LOX-1 in acute atherosis lesions differs from that of atherosclerosis, where LOX-1 has a more clearly defined role in lesion development. LOX-1 was however present in many intravascular trophoblasts of *non-AA arteries*, and particularly in decidual stromal cells surrounding both *non-AA* and *AA arteries*. Our findings regarding LOX-1 also suggest possible discrepant routes for foam cell origin and development between these two lesions of different artery calibers.

In conclusion, we propose that acute atherosis may share some development pathways with atherosclerosis, but also that there are important differences between the two lesions. We propose that pregnancy-specific pathways, such as local oxidative stress, immunemediated factors and possible trophoblast-associated pathways, that may contribute in the development of decidua basalis acute atherosis, could explain these differences. This study contributes to the understanding of acute atherosis development at the maternal-fetal interface and explores molecular features of the lesion, and highlights the role of foam cell associated proteins in the lesion process.

Declaration of competing interest

The authors declare that they have no competing conflicts of interests.

Acknowledgements

We acknowledge patient recruitment assistance by all previous PhD students, and biobank assistance by Lise Øhra Levy and Hanne Guldsten, all Oslo University Hospital. Harvey Kliman (Yale University, School of Medicine) and Borghild Roald (University of Oslo) are thanked for their generous mentorship in placenta tissue microscopy and analyses.

Appendix A. Supplementary data

Supplementary data to this article can be found online at https://doi.org/10.1016/j.placenta.2021.03.001.

Funding

The Research Council of Norway funded part of this work (PATHstudy, grant number ref. 230652) as did South-Eastern Norway Regional Health Authority (the HAPPY-PATH-study, grant number ref. 2014026). Oslo University Hospital provided further research support, as did University of Oslo (providing IKF with a medical student research grant).

References

- P. Alnaes-Katjavivi, F. Lyall, B. Roald, C.W. Redman, A.C. Staff, Acute atherosis in vacuum suction biopsies of decidua basalis: an evidence based research definition, Placenta 37 (2016) 26–33.
- [2] N.K. Harsem, B. Roald, K. Braekke, A.C. Staff, Acute atherosis in decidual tissue: not associated with systemic oxidative stress in preeclampsia, Placenta 28 (8–9) (2007) 958–964.
- [3] A.T. Hertig, Vascular pathology in the hypertensive albuminuric toxemias of pregnancy, Clinics 4 (602) (1945).
- [4] R. Pijnenborg, E. Ball, J.N. Bulmer, M. Hanssens, S.C. Robson, L. Vercruysse, In vivo analysis of trophoblast cell invasion in the human, Methods Mol. Med. 122 (2006) 11–44.
- [5] D.U. Stevens, S. Al-Nasiry, J. Bulten, M.E. Spaanderman, Decidual vasculopathy in preeclampsia: lesion characteristics relate to disease severity and perinatal outcome, Placenta 34 (9) (2013) 805–809.
- [6] P. Alnaes-Katjavivi, B. Roald, A.C. Staff, Uteroplacental acute atherosis in preeclamptic pregnancies: rates and clinical outcomes differ by tissue collection methods, Pregnancy Hypertens 19 (2020) 11–17.
- [7] A.C. Staff, H.E. Fjeldstad, I.K. Fosheim, K. Moe, G. Turowski, G.M. Johnsen, P. Alnaes-Katjavivi, M. Sugulle, Failure of physiological transformation and spiral artery atherosis: their roles in preeclampsia, Am J Obstet Gynecol Online ahead of print (2020), https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ajog.2020.09.026.
- [8] A.C. Staff, G.M. Johnsen, R. Dechend, C.W. Redman, Preeclampsia and uteroplacental acute atherosis: immune and inflammatory factors, J. Reprod. Immunol. 101–102 (2014) 120–126.
- [9] W.B. Robertson, I. Brosens, H.G. Dixon, The pathological response of the vessels of the placental bed to hypertensive pregnancy, J. Pathol. Bacteriol. 93 (2) (1967) 581–592.
- [10] C. Labarrere, Acute atherosis. A histopathological hallmark of immune aggression? Placenta 9 (1) (1988) 95–108.
- [11] A.C. Staff, C.W. Redman, IFPA Award in Placentology Lecture: preeclampsia, the decidual battleground and future maternal cardiovascular disease, Placenta 35 (Suppl) (2014) S26–S31.
- [12] K. Moe, P. Alnaes-Katjavivi, G.L. Storvold, M. Sugulle, G.M. Johnsen, C.W. G. Redman, R. Dechend, A.C. Staff, Classical cardiovascular risk markers in pregnancy and associations to uteroplacental acute atherosis, Hypertension 72 (3) (2018) 695–702.
- [13] A.C. Staff, R. Dechend, R. Pijnenborg, Learning from the placenta: acute atherosis and vascular remodeling in preeclampsia-novel aspects for atherosclerosis and future cardiovascular health, Hypertension 56 (6) (2010) 1026–1034.
- [14] A.C. Staff, R. Dechend, C.W. Redman, Review: preeclampsia, acute atherosis of the spiral arteries and future cardiovascular disease: two new hypotheses, Placenta 34 (Suppl) (2013) S73–S78.
- [15] A.J. Lusis, Atherosclerosis, Nature 407 (6801) (2000) 233–241.
- [16] H.C. Stary, A.B. Chandler, S. Glagov, J.R. Guyton, W. Insull Jr., M.E. Rosenfeld, S. A. Schaffer, C.J. Schwartz, W.D. Wagner, R.W. Wissler, A definition of initial, fatty streak, and intermediate lesions of atherosclerosis. A report from the Committee on Vascular Lesions of the Council on Arteriosclerosis, American Heart Association, Circulation 89 (5) (1994) 2462–2478.
- [17] N. Gill, Y. Leng, R. Romero, Y. Xu, B. Panaitescu, D. Miller, A. Arif, S. Mumuni, F. Qureshi, C.D. Hsu, S.S. Hassan, A.C. Staff, N. Gomez-Lopez, The immunophenotype of decidual macrophages in acute atherosis, Am. J. Reprod. Immunol. 81 (4) (2019), e13098.
- [18] H. Katabuchi, S. Yih, T. Ohba, K. Matsui, K. Takahashi, M. Takeya, H. Okamura, Characterization of macrophages in the decidual atherotic spiral artery with special reference to the cytology of foam cells, Med. Electron. Microsc. 36 (4) (2003) 253–262.
- [19] I.K. Fosheim, P. Alnaes-Katjavivi, C. Redman, B. Roald, A.C. Staff, G.L. Storvold, Acute atherosis of decidua basalis; characterization of spiral arteries, endothelial status and activation, Placenta 82 (2019) 10–16.
- [20] G.M. Johnsen, G.L. Storvold, P.H. Alnaes-Katjavivi, B. Roald, M. Golic, R. Dechend, C.W.G. Redman, A.C. Staff, Lymphocyte characterization of decidua basalis spiral arteries with acute atherosis in preeclamptic and normotensive pregnancies, J. Reprod. Immunol. 132 (2019) 42–48.
- [21] P.D. Lang, W. Insull Jr., Lipid droplets in atherosclerotic fatty streaks of human aorta, J. Clin. Invest. 49 (8) (1970) 1479–1488.
- [22] Y. Yuan, P. Li, J. Ye, Lipid homeostasis and the formation of macrophage-derived foam cells in atherosclerosis, Protein Cell 3 (3) (2012) 173–181.
- [23] J. Persson, E. Degerman, J. Nilsson, M.W. Lindholm, Perilipin and adipophilin expression in lipid loaded macrophages, Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun. 363 (4) (2007) 1020–1026.
- [24] G. Larigauderie, C. Furman, M. Jaye, C. Lasselin, C. Copin, J.C. Fruchart, G. Castro, M. Rouis, Adipophilin enhances lipid accumulation and prevents lipid efflux from THP-1 macrophages: potential role in atherogenesis, Arterioscler. Thromb. Vasc. Biol. 24 (3) (2004) 504–510.
- [25] A. Paul, B.H. Chang, L. Li, V.K. Yechoor, L. Chan, Deficiency of adipose differentiation-related protein impairs foam cell formation and protects against atherosclerosis, Circ. Res. 102 (12) (2008) 1492–1501.
- [26] H. Kataoka, N. Kume, S. Miyamoto, M. Minami, H. Moriwaki, T. Murase, T. Sawamura, T. Masaki, N. Hashimoto, T. Kita, Expression of lectinlike oxidized low-density lipoprotein receptor-1 in human atherosclerotic lesions, Circulation 99 (24) (1999) 3110–3117.
- [27] H.E. Agardh, L. Folkersen, J. Ekstrand, D. Marcus, J. Swedenborg, U. Hedin, A. Gabrielsen, G. Paulsson-Berne, Expression of fatty acid-binding protein 4/aP2 is

I.K. Fosheim et al.

Placenta 107 (2021) 1-7

correlated with plaque instability in carotid atherosclerosis, J. Intern. Med. 269 (2) (2011) 200–210.

- [28] H. Markstad, A. Edsfeldt, I. Yao Mattison, E. Bengtsson, P. Singh, M. Cavalera, G. Asciutto, H. Bjorkbacka, G.N. Fredrikson, N. Dias, P. Volkov, M. Orho-Melander, J. Nilsson, G. Engstrom, I. Goncalves, High levels of soluble lectinike oxidized lowdensity lipoprotein receptor-1 are associated with carotid plaque inflammation and increased risk of ischemic stroke, J Am Heart Assoc 8 (4) (2019), e009874.
- [29] S. Holm, T. Ueland, T.B. Dahl, A.E. Michelsen, M. Skjelland, D. Russell, S.H. Nymo, K. Krohg-Sorensen, O.P. Clausen, D. Atar, J.L. Januzzi, P. Aukrust, J.K. Jensen, B. Halvorsen, Fatty Acid binding protein 4 is associated with carotid atherosclerosis and outcome in patients with acute ischemic stroke, PloS One 6 (12) (2011), e28785.
- [30] M. Furuhashi, Fatty acid-binding protein 4 in cardiovascular and metabolic diseases, J. Atherosclerosis Thromb. 26 (3) (2019) 216–232.
- [31] W. Peeters, D.P. de Kleijn, A. Vink, S. van de Weg, A.H. Schoneveld, S.K. Sze, P. J. van der Spek, J.P. de Vries, F.L. Moll, G. Pasterkamp, Adipocyte fatty acid binding protein in atherosclerotic plaques is associated with local vulnerability and is predictive for the occurrence of adverse cardiovascular events, Eur. Heart J. 32 (14) (2011) 1758–1768.
- [32] T. Sawamura, N. Kume, T. Aoyama, H. Moriwaki, H. Hoshikawa, Y. Aiba, T. Tanaka, S. Miwa, Y. Katsura, T. Kita, T. Masaki, An endothelial receptor for oxidized low-density lipoprotein, Nature 386 (6620) (1997) 73–77.
- [33] A. Pirillo, G.D. Norata, A.L. Catapano, LOX-1, OxLDL, and atherosclerosis, Mediat. Inflamm. 2013 (2013) 152786.
 [34] V. Lubrano, S. Balzan, Roles of LOX-1 in microvascular dysfunction, Microvasc.
- [34] V. Lubiano, S. Baizan, Koles of LOA-1 in interovascular dystutiction, wherevasc. Res. 105 (2016) 132–140.
- [35] D.A. Chistiakov, A.A. Melnichenko, V.A. Myasoedova, A.V. Grechko, A.N. Orekhov, Mechanisms of foam cell formation in atherosclerosis, J. Mol. Med. (Berl.) 95 (11) (2017) 1153–1165.
- [36] A.C. Staff, T. Ranheim, J. Khoury, T. Henriksen, Increased contents of phospholipids, cholesterol, and lipid peroxides in decidua basalis in women with preeclampsia, Am. J. Obstet. Gynecol. 180 (3 Pt 1) (1999) 587–592.
- [37] I. Brosens, J.J. Brosens, J. Muter, G. Benagiano, Acute atherosis and diffuse lipid infiltration of the placental bed: a review of historical lipid studies, Placenta 97 (2020) 36–41.
- [38] Y. Yan, H. Peng, P. Wang, H. Wang, M. Dong, Increased expression of fatty acid binding protein 4 in preeclamptic Placenta and its relevance to preeclampsia, Placenta 39 (2016) 94–100.
- [39] E.A. Trifonova, T.V. Gabidulina, N.I. Ershov, V.N. Serebrova, A.Y. Vorozhishcheva, V.A. Stepanov, Analysis of the placental tissue transcriptome of normal and preeclampsia complicated pregnancies, Acta Naturae 6 (2) (2014) 71–83.
- [40] H. Lee, H. Park, Y.J. Kim, H.J. Kim, Y.M. Ahn, B. Park, J.H. Park, B.E. Lee, Expression of lectin-like oxidized low-density lipoprotein receptor-1 (LOX-1) in human preeclamptic placenta: possible implications in the process of trophoblast apoptosis, Placenta 26 (2–3) (2005) 226–233.
- [41] G.H. Qiao, X.Z. Sun, Increased plasma fatty acid binding protein 4 concentration at the first prenatal visit and its relevance to preeclampsia, Hypertens. Res. 41 (9) (2018) 763–769.
- [42] J.M. Roberts, G. Pearson, J. Cutler, M. Lindheimer, N.W.G.O.R.O.H.D. Pregnancy, summary of the NHLBI working group on research on hypertension during pregnancy, Hypertension 41 (3) (2003) 437–445.
- [43] S.L. Johnsen, S. Rasmussen, T. Wilsgaard, R. Sollien, T. Kiserud, Longitudinal reference ranges for estimated fetal weight, Acta Obstet. Gynecol. Scand. 85 (3) (2006) 286–297.
- [44] N.K. Harsem, A.C. Staff, L. He, B. Roald, The decidual suction method: a new way of collecting decidual tissue for functional and morphological studies, Acta Obstet. Gynecol. Scand. 83 (8) (2004) 724–730.
- [45] L. Perisic, E. Hedin, A. Razuvaev, M. Lengquist, C. Osterholm, L. Folkersen, P. Gillgren, G. Paulsson-Berne, F. Ponten, J. Odeberg, U. Hedin, Profiling of atherosclerotic lesions by gene and tissue microarrays reveals PCSK6 as a novel

protease in unstable carotid atherosclerosis, Arterioscler. Thromb. Vasc. Biol. 33 (10) (2013) 2432–2443 (Supplemental material).

- [46] B.K. Straub, B. Gyoengyoesi, M. Koenig, M. Hashani, L.M. Pawella, E. Herpel, W. Mueller, S. Macher-Goeppinger, H. Heid, P. Schirmacher, Adipophilin/ perilipin-2 as a lipid droplet-specific marker for metabolically active cells and diseases associated with metabolic dysregulation, Histopathology 62 (4) (2013) 617–631.
- [47] S. Xu, F. Zou, Z. Diao, S. Zhang, Y. Deng, X. Zhu, L. Cui, J. Yu, Z. Zhang, A. T. Bamigbade, H. Zhang, X. Wei, X. Zhang, B. Liang, P. Liu, Perilipin 2 and lipid droplets provide reciprocal stabilization, Biophysics Reports 5 (3) (2019) 145–160.
- [48] A.J. Kattoor, A. Goel, J.L. Mehta, LOX-1: regulation, signaling and its role in atherosclerosis, Antioxidants 8 (7) (2019).
 [49] M. Chen, M. Kakutani, M. Minami, H. Kataoka, N. Kume, S. Narumiya, T. Kita,
- [49] M. Chen, M. Kakutani, M. Minami, H. Kataoka, N. Kulie, S. Narumiya, T. Kuta, T. Masaki, T. Sawamura, Increased expression of lectin-like oxidized low density lipoprotein receptor-1 in initial atherosclerotic lesions of Watanabe heritable hyperlipidemic rabbits, Arterioscler. Thromb. Vasc. Biol. 20 (4) (2000) 1107–1115.
- [50] F. De Wolf, W.B. Robertson, I. Brosens, The ultrastructure of acute atherosis in hypertensive pregnancy, Am. J. Obstet. Gynecol. 123 (2) (1975) 164–174.
 [51] J.L. Hecht, Z.K. Zsengeller, M. Spiel, S.A. Karumanchi, S. Rosen, Revisiting
- decidual vasculopathy, Placenta 42 (2016) 37–43.
 [52] T.Y. Khong, C. Mott, Immunohistologic demonstration of endothelial disruption in
- [52] I.Y. Khong, C. Mott, immunonistologic demonstration of endothelial disruption in acute atherosis in pre-eclampsia, Eur. J. Obstet. Gynecol. Reprod. Biol. 51 (3) (1993) 193–197.
- [53] A.C. Staff, B. Halvorsen, T. Ranheim, T. Henriksen, Elevated level of free 8-isoprostaglandin F2alpha in the decidua basalis of women with preeclampsia, Am. J. Obstet. Gynecol. 181 (5 Pt 1) (1999) 1211–1215.
- [54] B. Halvorsen, A.C. Staff, T. Henriksen, T. Sawamura, T. Ranheim, 8-isoprostaglandin F(2alpha) increases expression of LOX-1 in JAR cells, Hypertension 37 (4) (2001) 1184–1190.
- [55] K. Matsubara, Hypoxia in the pathogenesis of preeclampsia, Hypertension Res. Pregnancy 5 (2) (2017) 46–51.
- [56] I. Bildirici, W.T. Schaiff, B. Chen, M. Morizane, S.Y. Oh, M. O'Brien, C. Sonnenberg-Hirche, T. Chu, Y. Barak, D.M. Nelson, Y. Sadovsky, PLIN2 is essential for trophoblastic lipid droplet accumulation and cell survival during hypoxia, Endocrinology 159 (12) (2018) 3937–3949.
- [57] T. Biron-Shental, W.T. Schaiff, C.K. Ratajczak, I. Bildirici, D.M. Nelson, Y. Sadovsky, Hypoxia regulates the expression of fatty acid-binding proteins in primary term human trophoblasts, Am. J. Obstet. Gynecol. 197 (5) (2007) 516 e1–6.
- [58] C.M. Scifres, B. Chen, D.M. Nelson, Y. Sadovsky, Fatty acid binding protein 4 regulates intracellular lipid accumulation in human trophoblasts, J. Clin. Endocrinol. Metab. 96 (7) (2011) E1083–E1091.
- [59] Y.M. Kim, P. Chaemsaithong, R. Romero, M. Shaman, C.J. Kim, J.S. Kim, F. Qureshi, S.M. Jacques, A.I. Ahmed, T. Chaiworapongsa, S.S. Hassan, L. Yeo, S. J. Korzeniewski, The frequency of acute atherosis in normal pregnancy and preterm labor, preeclampsia, small-for-gestational age, fetal death and midtrimester spontaneous abortion, J. Matern. Fetal Neonatal Med. 28 (17) (2015) 2001–2009.
- [60] D.U. Stevens, S. Al-Nasiry, J. Bulten, M.E. Spaanderman, Decidual vasculopathy and adverse perinatal outcome in preeclamptic pregnancy, Placenta 33 (8) (2012) 630–633.
- [61] S. Sankaralingam, Y. Xu, T. Sawamura, S.T. Davidge, Increased lectin-like oxidized low-density lipoprotein receptor-1 expression in the maternal vasculature of women with preeclampsia: role for peroxynitrite, Hypertension 53 (2) (2009) 270–277.
- [62] G.B. Silva, L.M. Gierman, J.J. Rakner, G.S. Stodle, S.B. Mundal, A.J. Thaning, B. Sporsheim, M. Elschot, K. Collett, L. Bjorge, M.H. Aune, L.C.V. Thomsen, A. C. Iversen, Cholesterol crystals and NLRP3 mediated inflammation in the uterine wall decidua in normal and preeclamptic pregnancies, Front. Immunol. 11 (2020) 564712.

Supplemental Material

Decidua basalis and acute atherosis: Expression of atherosclerotic foam cell associated proteins

I.K. Fosheim ^{a,b}, G.M. Johnsen ^a, P. Alnaes-Katjavivi ^a, G. Turowski ^c, M. Sugulle ^{a,b}, A. C. Staff ^{a,b,*}

^a Division of Obstetrics and Gynecology, Oslo University Hospital, Oslo, Norway
 ^b Institute of Clinical Medicine, Faculty of Medicine, University of Oslo, Norway
 ^c Department of Pathology, Oslo University Hospital, Oslo, Norway

*) Corresponding author. Division of Obstetrics and Gynecology, Oslo University Hospital, Ullevål, Norway, PO box 4950, NO-0424, Oslo, Norway. E-mail address: uxnnaf@ous-hf.no (A.C. Staff).

Reformatted to fit page. Available in original format at <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.placenta.2021.03.001</u>.

Supplemental Figure 1. Distribution of lipid-associated protein staining patterns in the perivascular area of decidua basalis spiral arteries. Bars show the percentage of arteries in each category displaying each staining pattern for FABP4, perilipin-2, and LOX-1 in the perivascular area, across normotensive women and women with preeclampsia. Observed staining patterns were "no stain" (white), "scattered" (single positive cells seemingly without relation to one another, dots), "focal" (clusters of ≥5 positive cells, diagonal lines, and "generalized" (continuous positive stain of larger portions of the perivascular area, black).



Supplemental Table 1: Distribution of observed spiral arteri	es across the s	tudy groups. The	e total numbe	er of decidua bas	alis spiral ar	teries
observed within each study group, as well as the number of r	non-AA- and A	4 <i>arteries</i> . The m	edian numbe	r (and range) of	spiral artery	sections
observed per pregnancy evaluated for each study group. Non	n-AA sample; s	ample lacking spi	ral artery wit	h acute atherosis	s (AA), <i>AA so</i>	imple;
sample containing ≥1 spiral artery with acute atherosis. The c	distribution (in	percentage) of n	ion-AA- and A	A arteries of the	total numb	er of
spiral arteries observed per pregnancy evaluated is presented	d as median (a	nd range) across	the samples i	n each category.	_	
	Norm	otensive	Preec	lampsia	Superim	posed
					preecla	npsia
Number of pregnancies evaluated, n=		12	·	21	2	
Total numbers of artery sections evaluated, n=		69	7	14	7	
	Non-AA	AA sample	Non-AA	AA sample	Non-AA	АА
	sample		sample		sample	sample
Number of pregnancies per sample category, n=	8	4	9	15	1	1
Total number of artery sections evaluated per study group, n=	37	32	25	89	5	2
Non-AA arteries, n=	37	22	25	46	Ŋ	0
AA arteries, n=		10	ı	43	·	2
Number of spiral artery sections observed per tissue section,	4 (1-11)	8(1-15)	5 (1-8)	4 (1-16)	Ŋ	2
median (range)						
<i>Non-AA arteries</i> , median (range), %	100	54 (0-89)	100	43 (0-81)	100	0
AA arteries, median (range), %	0	46 (11-100)	0	57 (19-100)	0	100
Superimposed preeclampsia: Women with chronic hypertens proteinuria. Statistical differences were calculated for the tot normotensive and preeclampsia group for non-AA sample agi	sion developing tal group of no ainst AA samp	g preeclampsia a rmotensive conti <i>le</i> . We compared	fter gestation ols against pi medians of c	al week 20 (e.g. eeclampsia, and ontinuous variak	developing I within the oles by non-	
parametric Mann-Whitney U test. Differences were consider	ed to be statist	cically significant	when p<0.05			

PAPER II (corrigendum)

Placenta 117 (2022) 28-28

ELSEVIER

Contents lists available at ScienceDirect

Placenta

journal homepage: www.elsevier.com/locate/placenta

Corrigendum

Corrigendum to "Decidua basalis and acute atherosis: Expression of atherosclerotic foam cell associated proteins" [Placenta 107 (2021) 1–7]



PLACENTA

Ingrid Knutsdotter Fosheim ^{a,b}, Guro Mørk Johnsen ^a, Patji Alnaes-Katjavivi ^a, Gitta Turowski ^c, Meryam Sugulle ^{a,b}, Anne Cathrine Staff ^{a,b,*}

^a Division of Obstetrics and Gynecology, Oslo University Hospital, Oslo, Norway

^b Institute of Clinical Medicine, Faculty of Medicine, University of Oslo, Norway

^c Department of Pathology, Oslo University Hospital, Oslo, Norway

The authors regret that the clones for the different antibodies used were incorrectly reported in our published paper. The correct clones are as follows: CK7: OV-TL 12/30, CD68: KP1, FABP4: polyclonal, perilipin-2: AP125, LOX-1: 9E12.1. Additionally, antibodies purchased from Dako were incorrectly written as originating from USA, the correct country of origin is Denmark.

Thus, the text in the Materials and methods section, page 2, should have read: "2.2. Decidua basalis standard staining, immunohistochemistry, and evaluation.

For all women, serial 3 μ m FFPE decidua basalis sections were stained with Hematoxylin-Eosin (HE) using standard histological technique, cytokeratin 7 (CK7, OV-TL 12/30, Dako, Denmark, 1:300, counterstained with Periodic acid-Schiff [PAS]), CD68 (KP1, Dako, Denmark, 1:1500, counterstained with PAS), FABP4 (polyclonal, Sigma-Aldrich, USA, 1:1000), perilipin-2 (AP125, Progen, Germany, 1:300), and LOX-1 (9E12.1, Millipore, USA, 1:750)."

The authors would like to apologise for any inconvenience caused.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.placenta.2021.10.014

Available online 9 November 2021

0143-4004/© 2021 The Author(s). Published by Elsevier Ltd. All rights reserved.

DOI of original article: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.placenta.2021.03.001.

^{*} Corresponding author. Division of Obstetrics and Gynecology, Oslo University Hospital, Ullevål, PO box 4950, NO-0424, Oslo, Norway. *E-mail address:* uxnnaf@ous-hf.no (A.C. Staff).

Serum amyloid A1 and pregnancy zone protein in pregnancy complications and correlation with markers of placental dysfunction

Ingrid K. Fosheim, MD^{1,2}, Daniel P. Jacobsen, PhD², Meryam Sugulle, MD PhD^{1,2}, Patji Alnaes-Katjavivi, MD PhD², Heidi E.S. Fjeldstad, MD^{1,2}, Thor Ueland, PhD^{1,3,4}, Tove Lekva, PhD³, Anne C. Staff, MD PhD^{1,2}

ABSTRACT

BACKGROUND: Hypertensive disorders of pregnancy (preeclampsia, gestational hypertension, and chronic hypertension), diabetes mellitus, and placental dysfunction confer an increased risk of long-term maternal cardiovascular disease. Preeclampsia is also associated with acute atherosis, lesions of uteroplacental spiral arteries resembling early stages of atherosclerosis. Serum amyloid A1 is involved in hypercoagulability and atherosclerosis, and may aggregate into amyloid, aggregations of misfolded proteins. Pregnancy zone protein may inhibit amyloid aggregation. Amyloid is involved in Alzheimer's disease and cardiovascular disease, and has been identified in preeclampsia, but its role in preeclampsia pathophysiology is unclear.

OBJECTIVES: We hypothesized that serum amyloid A1 would be increased and pregnancy zone protein decreased in hypertensive disorders of pregnancy and diabetic pregnancies, and that serum amyloid A1 and pregnancy zone protein would correlate with placental dysfunction markers (fetal growth restriction and dysregulated angiogenic biomarkers) and acute atherosis.

STUDY DESIGN: Serum amyloid A1 is measurable in both serum and plasma. In our study, plasma from 549 pregnancies (normotensive, euglycemic controls: 258; early-onset preeclampsia: 71; late-onset preeclampsia: 98; gestational hypertension: 30; chronic hypertension: 9; diabetes mellitus: 83) was assayed for serum amyloid A1 and pregnancy zone protein. Serum levels of angiogenic biomarkers soluble fms-like tyrosine kinase-1 and placental growth factor were available for 547 pregnancies, and acute atherosis evaluation for 313 pregnancies. Clinical characteristics and circulating biomarkers were compared between the pregnancy groups using Mann-Whitney U, chi-square, or Fisher's exact test as appropriate. Spearman's rho was calculated for assessing correlations.

RESULTS: In early-onset preeclampsia, serum amyloid A1 was increased compared to controls (17.1 vs. 5.1 µg/mL, p<0.001), whereas pregnancy zone protein was decreased (590 vs. 892 µg/mL, p=0.002). Pregnancy zone protein was also decreased in diabetes compared to controls (683 vs. 892 µg/mL, p=0.01). Serum amyloid A1 was associated with placental dysfunction (fetal growth restriction, elevated soluble fms-like tyrosine kinase-1 to placental growth factor ratio). Pregnancy zone protein correlated negatively with soluble fms-like tyrosine kinase-1 to placental growth factor ratio in all study groups. Acute atherosis was not associated with serum amyloid A1 or pregnancy zone protein.

CONCLUSIONS: Proteins involved in atherosclerosis, hypercoagulability, and protein misfolding are dysregulated in early-onset preeclampsia and placental dysfunction, linking them, and potentially contributing to future maternal cardiovascular disease.

Key words: preeclampsia, hypertensive disorders of pregnancy, gestational hypertension, chronic hypertension, diabetes mellitus, gestational diabetes, protein misfolding, hypercoagulability, acute atherosis, biomarker analysis

Corresponding author: Ingrid Knutsdotter Fosheim, MD. E-mail: i.k.fosheim@medisin.uio.no.

Institute of Clinical Medicine, Faculty of Medicine, University of Oslo, Kirkeveien 166, 0450 Oslo, Norway

¹Institute of Clinical Medicine, Faculty of Medicine, University of Oslo, Norway

²Division of Obstetrics and Gynaecology, Oslo University Hospital, Norway

³Research institute of Internal Medicine, Oslo University Hospital, Norway

⁴K.G. Jebsen Thrombosis Research and Expertise Center, University of Tromsø, Norway

Introduction

Preeclampsia potentially is а severe pregnancy complication, defined as newonset hypertension and at least one other preeclampsia-associated sign of organ dysfunction (e.g. proteinuria, fetal growth restriction, and elevated liver transaminases) in the second half of pregnancy.1 disorders Hypertensive of pregnancy, including preeclampsia, and other pregnancy complications associated with placental dysfunction (e.g. fetal growth restriction, preterm birth, and gestational diabetes mellitus (GDM)) are associated with a 2-8-fold increased risk of future cardiovascular disease.2-4 maternal Pregnancy can thus be regarded as a sexspecific stress test for predicting maternal risk of cardiovascular disease. Identifying predictors of future maternal cardiovascular health during pregnancy merits further investigation. Cardiovascular diseases remain a major cause of death for both men women, but female-specific and pathophysiological mechanisms have so far been understudied.5

The maternal features of preeclampsia result from excessive systemic vascular inflammation, secondary to increased

GLOSSARY

Acute atherosis: pregnancy-specific foam cell lesions in spiral arteries; may affect any pregnancy, but is most frequent in preeclampsia.

Protein misfolding: process by which proteins lose or fail to maintain normal structure, or fail to fold correctly during protein synthesis, thus losing physiological properties.

Amyloid: fibrillar aggregates of misfolded proteins; very stable compounds due to their cross- β sheet structure, involved in numerous human diseases.

shedding of pro-inflammatory factors from a malperfused and dysfunctional placenta.^{6,7} Placental malperfusion leads to oxidative and endoplasmic reticulum release stress, eliciting of proinflammatory and antiangiogenic factors.8 dysfunction Placental in early-onset preeclampsia is associated with insufficient physiological spiral artery transformation.6,9 Both early- and lateonset preeclampsia are associated with excessive placental senescence and high rates of uteroplacental acute atherosis.^{6,10,11} Acute atherosis is a spiral lesion. arterv wall with some morphological similarities to early stages of atherosclerosis.12,13 It is characterized by subintimal foam cells, artery wall necrosis inflammation, and and is associated with thrombosis and risk of downstream placental infarcts.14

Circulating proangiogenic placental growth factor (PIGF) and antiangiogenic soluble fms-like tyrosine kinase-1 (sFlt-1) are mainly of placental origin during pregnancy, and are dysregulated in preeclampsia other and placental dysfunction syndromes such as fetal growth restriction.^{15,16} Consequently, we have argued that dysregulated angiogenic low PlGF, biomarkers (e.g. high sFlt-1/PlGF ratio) may be utilized as proxy markers for placental dysfunction and syncytiotrophoblast stress.7

Amyloid consists of fibrous aggregates of misfolded proteins, has а slow dissociation,¹⁷ is spontaneous and implicated in several chronic, progressive diseases, including Alzheimer's disease, atherosclerosis.18,19 type 2 DM, and Amyloid also accumulates in the urine and

AT A GLANCE

Why was this study conducted?

Preeclampsia and placental dysfunction place women at risk of future cardiovascular disease, but the mechanisms are largely unknown. This study aimed at assessing biomarkers that may contribute to this risk.

What are the key findings?

Circulating serum amyloid A1 and pregnancy zone protein, markers of protein misfolding, are dysregulated in early-onset preeclampsia, and levels correlate with antiangiogenic biomarkers and fetal growth restriction, proxies for placental dysfunction.

What does this study add to what is already known?

Our finding of a correlation between protein misfolding markers and proxies for placental dysfunction is novel. Markers of protein misfolding are implicated in early-onset preeclampsia and placental dysfunction, and may provide a pathway linking these pregnancy complications to the epidemiological increased risk of maternal cardiovascular disease.

placenta of women with preeclampsia.20,21 Circulating amyloid precursors amyloid-precursortransthyretin and dysregulated protein are in preeclampsia.²⁰⁻²² Urine testing for amyloid has been suggested as a test for preeclampsia severity.²³ Serum amyloid A1 (SAA1) is an acute-phase protein mainly produced in the liver, and one of many proteins able to aggregate into amyloid.¹⁷ Placental expression of SAA1 may play a role in initiating parturition, though its throughout pregnancy expression is uncertain.²⁴ SAA1 is also implicated in hypercoagulability, by promoting amyloid formation in fibrin(ogen) and driving platelets into a pro-thrombotic state.²⁵

Pregnancy zone protein (PZP) is a plasma protein that is highly upregulated during pregnancy,²⁶ and may play a pro-gestational role through immunomodulation.²⁷ Further, low circulating levels have been linked to pregnancy loss.²⁸ In vitro, PZP stabilizes and inhibits misfolded amyloid-β from aggregating into amyloid fibrils.²⁹ Whether PZP inhibits SAA1 aggregation into amyloid-A, the amyloid type derived from SAA1, is unknown. Circulating SAA1 has been shown to be increased in GDM,³⁰ and has been studied in preeclampsia as well, though results from these predominantly small studies are conflicting.³¹⁻³⁶ Derived PZP levels were decreased in women with preeclampsia in two small studies.^{37,38} These previous SAA1 and PZP studies from pregnancy have not assessed biomarker concentrations in relation to placental dysfunction.

As SAA1 and PZP have opposite roles in augmenting and attenuating amyloid aggregation, hypothesized that we circulating SAA1 is increased and PZP decreased in preeclampsia, particularly in early-onset disease, and in pregnancies complicated by diabetes. We further hypothesized that SAA1 and PZP levels correlate with proxies for placental dysfunction (e.g. dysregulated angiogenic biomarkers, fetal growth restriction, or acute atherosis), as an indication of amyloid deposition in placental dysfunction.

Materials and Methods Patient recruitment and sample collection

biological Data and samples from 549 singleton pregnant women, recruited between 2001 and 2017 to the Oslo Pregnancy Biobank at Oslo University Hospital, were included in this study. All had extensive clinical data from pregnancy and delivery, as well as blood samples available for biomarker analyses. All women gave informed written consent. The study was approved by the Regional committee for Medical and Health Ethics Research in South-Eastern Norway, and conducted in accordance with the principles of the Helsinki Declaration.

Hypertensive disorders of pregnancy (HDP) were defined according to the 2018 Guidelines of the International Society for the Study of Hypertension in (ISSHP).¹ Gestational Pregnancy hypertension (GH) was defined as newhypertension pressure (blood onset \geq 140 mmHg systolic and/or \geq 90 mmHg diastolic on ≥ 2 occasions ≥ 6 hours apart) at ≥ 20 weeks' gestation. Preeclampsia was defined as GH accompanied by ≥ 1 other new-onset preeclampsia-associated feature(s) at ≥ 20 weeks' gestation. Earlyonset preeclampsia (EO-PE) and lateonset preeclampsia (LO-PE) were defined preeclampsia delivered <34 versus as \geq 34 weeks' gestation, respectively.6 Chronic hypertension (CHT) was defined as hypertension occurring pre-pregnancy <20 weeks' diagnosed gestation. or Superimposed preeclampsia was defined as CHT and ≥ 1 new-onset preeclampsiaassociated feature(s) ≥ 20 weeks' at mellitus gestation. Diabetes (DM)

diagnoses (type 1 DM (DM1), type 2 DM (DM2), gestational DM (GDM)) were based on diagnoses identified in the setting endocrinologists, clinical by current guidelines.39,40 according to Women with both an HDP and DM diagnosis were classified as HDP+DM. Controls were women who remained normotensive and euglycemic throughout pregnancy. None had regular uterine contractions, ruptured fetal membranes, or signs of infection at time of blood sampling. None had known chronic diseases, from women with apart CHT (n=25), pregestational DM (n=79), or hypothyroidism (n=33). Gestational age at inclusion was determined by routine screening gestational ultrasound at week 17-20, except in 25 women where gestational age was determined by embryo transfer date (in vitro fertilization), and 7 women by first day of the last menstrual period before pregnancy. Sex-specific percentiles newborn weight were calculated according to Norwegian fetal growth curves.⁴¹ Fetal growth restriction was defined as sex-specific newborn weight $\leq 3^{rd}$ percentile. No newborns had structural or apparent chromosomal abnormalities.

Presence or absence of uteroplacental acute atherosis was assessed in decidua basalis vacuum suction biopsies, collected after delivery of the placenta and evaluated as described previously.⁴² Acute atherosis was defined as spiral arteries with ≥2 adjacent CD68-positive vacuolated subintimal cells.⁴³

For the majority of women, blood samples were obtained immediately prior to elective caesarean delivery, and centrifuged within 120 minutes of sampling at 4°C for 10 minutes at 1800g. EDTA plasma was stored at -80°C until immunoassay. For a subset of the included women (n=81), blood samples were collected up to 31 days prior to delivery. Blood was sampled from an antecubital vein or intravenous cannula without ongoing infusion, or from an arterial catheter (n=20). Maternal serum samples were also collected at the same time point EDTA described plasma, as as previously.44

Biochemistry and immunoassays

SAA1 and PZP concentrations were measured by enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay (ELISA) in maternal EDTA-plasma in duplicates. The mean value of the duplicates was used for analysis. All reagents were obtained from R&D Systems, USA, catalogue numbers DY3019-05 (SAA1) and DY8280-05 (PZP). Assays were performed in accordance with the manufacturer's instructions. Optical density was determined at 450 nm and corrected at 540 nm. Coefficients of variation were 6.4% for SAA1 and 2.4% for PZP.

Serum levels of sFlt-1 and PlGF were determined for 547 pregnancies as previously described,44 using Elecsys® immunoassays Diagnostics, (Roche Switzerland) with a fully automated electrochemiluminescence immunoassay platform (Cobas E analyzer, Roche Diagnostics).

Serum levels of high-sensitivity C-reactive protein (hsCRP) in either fresh (n=219) or thawed (n=161) samples were analyzed as described previously,⁴⁵ using a particle-enhanced turbidimetric method (Cobas 8000 c702, Roche Diagnostics).

Statistics

The data were analyzed using SPSS Statistics 26.0 (IBM). Mann-Whitney U test was used for continuous variables. Chi-square or Fisher's exact test were used for categorical variables, as appropriate. Spearman's rho (r_S) was calculated for analyzing correlations between continuous variables, as data were skewed. We did not correct for multiple comparisons. A p-value <0.05 was considered significant.

Results

Table 1 lists the clinical characteristics of the main pregnancy groups (controls, n=258; HDP, n=163; DM, n=83; HDP+DM, n=45), acute atherosis rate, and circulating biomarker concentrations. Pre-pregnancy body mass index (BMI), mean blood pressures in the first half of pregnancy and at inclusion, rates of acute atherosis, hsCRP, and sFlt-1/PlGF ratio were increased, and gestational age and newborn weight percentiles were lower, in HDP and HDP+DM compared to controls.

SAA1 and PZP concentrations in hypertensive and diabetic pregnancies

As shown in Table 1, plasma SAA1 levels were markedly higher in HDP compared to controls (normotensive and euglycemic, p<0.001), whereas SAA1 did not differ between DM or HDP+DM compared to controls. PZP concentration was lower in both DM and in HDP+DM compared to controls (both p=0.01). In contrast, PZP was similar in HDP and controls.

Table 1. Clinical character	istics and circ	sulating biom	arkers, by I	oregnancy inc	clusion gro	ups (total coho	rt n=549)
Variable	Controls (n=258)	HDP (n=163)	P-value	DM (n=83)	P-value	HDP+DM (n=45)	P-value
Maternal age at inclusion (years)	33.5 (20.1-45.5)	33.1 (19.0-52.9)	0.25	33.4 (24.1-45.9)	0.64	33.0 (21.1-44.0)	0.22
Pre-pregnancy body mass index (kg/m ²)	22.4 (17.6-39.5)	24.0 (18.3-41.1)	<0.001	24.5 (19.1-39.4)	<0.001	27.3 (19.6-41.1)	<0.001
Mean SBP <20 weeks (mmHg)	110 (85-140)	120 (90-158)	<0.001	114 (92-138)	<0.001	120 (95-164)	<0.001
Mean DBP <20 weeks (mmHg)	68 (40-88)	75 (55-103)	<0.001	69 (50-84)	0.21	73 (50-90)	<0.001
First pregnancy	24%	45%	<0.001	22%	0.61	42%	0.01
First delivery	39%	62%	<0.001	41%	0.77	53%	0.07
Previous preeclampsia, n (%) ^a	12 (8%)	26 (43%)	<0.001	7 (14%)	0.17	9 (43%)	<0.001
SBP at inclusion (mmHg)	121 (86-156)	151 (117-220)	<0.001	120 (90-155)	0.77	150 (120-189)	<0.001
DBP at inclusion (mmHg)	75 (48-110)	95 (63-130)	<0.001	74 (50-90)	0.94	92 (66-110)	<0.001
Gestational age at inclusion (weeks)	39.0 (33.7-42.1)	34.4 (24.3-41.1)	<0.001	38.0 (28.7-40.4)	<0.001	36.9 (29.0-40.0)	<0.001
Preterm delivery (<37 weeks' gestation)	3%	65%	<0.001	10%	0.01	40%	<0.001
Early-onset preeclampsia (delivery <34 weeks' gestation)		48%				16%	
New born weight (grams)	3483	2087	<0.001	3802	<0.001	3574	0.70
-----------------------------------	--------------	--------------	--------	--------------	--------	---------------	--------
	(1325-5130)	(500-5040)		(988-5857)		(620-5424)	
New born weight percentile	62.6	5.0	<0.001	86.1	<0.001	90.9	0.01
	(0-100)	(0-99.9)		(0-100)		(0-100)	
Fetal growth restriction	2%	45%	<0.001	5%	0.10	4%	0.22
Acute atherosis ^b	6%	39%	<0.001	7%	1.00	27%	0.01
	(14/160)	(37/96)		(2/31)		(7/26)	
Serum-sFlt-1 (pg/mL) ^c	3683	11204	<0.001	4629	0.003	7597	<0.001
	(1081-17185)	(1429-61348)		(1260-18857)		(2003-21430)	
Serum-PIGF (pg/mL) ^c	172	58	<0.001	166	0.82	104	<0.001
	(23-2074)	(6-624)		(35-1027)		(29-1852)	
sFlt-1/PIGF ratio ^c	22.3	208.6	<0.001	24.9	0.24	78.9	<0.001
	(1.1-615.1)	(2.3-3264.3)		(2.7-209.0)		(1.4-470.8)	
Serum-hsCRP (mg/L)	3.1	4.4	0.002	3.9	0.26	4.8	0.04
[ref.: 0.0-4.0] ^d	(0.6-76.6),	(0.6-107.0),		(0.6-32.7),		(0.8-15.9),	
	n=201	n=117		n=36		n=26	
Plasma-SAA1 (µg/mL)	5.08	9.90	<0.001	4.06	0.06	6.07	0.22
	(0.41-120)	(0.80-120)		(0.37-120)		(0.22-115.95)	
Plasma-PZP (µg/mL)	892	818	0.15	683	0.01	548	0.01
	(32-3240)	(12-2992)		(40-3406)		(25-3280)	

1

T.

(pregestational or gestational). HDP+DM: women with both HDP and DM. SBP: systolic blood pressure. DBP: diastolic blood pressure. sFlt-1: soluble fms-like pregnancy group to the control group (normotensive and euglycemic pregnant women). HDP: hypertensive disorders of pregnancy. DM: diabetes mellitus tyrosine kinase-1. PIGF: placental growth factor. hsCRP: high-sensitivity C-reactive protein. SAA1: serum amyloid A1. PZP: pregnancy zone protein. For continuous variables, median value and range is shown; for categorical, percentages. Statistical differences were calculated by comparing each ^a Nulliparous women were excluded when analyzing rate of previous preeclampsia.

^b Decidua basalis acute atherosis was assessed in 313 women (all had spiral arteries present).

 $^\circ$ sFlt-1 and PIGF concentrations were available for all except 2 women with HDP.

^d hsCRP concentration was available for 380 women.

Of the HDP subgroups, the EO-PE group had increased levels of SAA1 compared to controls (p<0.001, Supplemental Table 1), and compared to all remaining subgroups of HDP (Figure 1a). Levels of PZP were decreased in EO-PE compared to controls (p=0.002, Supplemental Table 1), and compared to CHT (Figure 1b).

SAA1 did not differ between any DM subgroup and controls (normotensive and euglycemic, Supplemental Table 2). PZP, on the other hand, was decreased in women with DM1 and DM2 compared to

controls (p=0.02 and 0.003, respectively, Supplemental Table 2).

Correlation between SAA1 and HbA1c in diabetic pregnancies

In DM1, SAA1 (at sampling in late pregnancy) correlated negatively with HbA1c measured in the first (r_s =-0.43, p=0.002), second (r_s =-0.27, p=0.04), and third (r_s =-0.33, p=0.01) trimesters. First trimester HbA1c \geq 53 mmol/mol was associated with lower SAA1 (2.9 vs. 5.0 µg/mL, p=0.03). PZP did not correlate with HbA1c (data not shown).

Figure 1. Scatter plots of circulating biomarkers



Concentrations of circulating biomarkers, by subgroup of hypertensive disorder of pregnancy (irrespective of diabetes mellitus status) and controls (normotensive and euglycemic) (n=466). **A**, serum amyloid A1 (SAA1) concentrations, **B**, pregnancy zone protein (PZP) concentrations. CHT: chronic hypertension, GH: gestational hypertension, LO-PE: late-onset preeclampsia (delivery ≥34 weeks' gestation), EO-PE: early-onset preeclampsia (delivery <34 weeks' gestation). Mann-Whitney U test was used to calculate statistical differences between groups. Line at median. ***) p<0.001. **) p<0.01. *) p<0.05.

SAA1 and PZP concentrations in placental dysfunction

We compared SAA1 and PZP levels to proxies for placental dysfunction. Women with acute atherosis did not differ in SAA1 or PZP levels compared to women without acute atherosis within any of the pregnancy groups (Supplemental Table 3). However, increased SAA1 levels were seen in pregnancies with fetal growth restriction, and correlated positively with the antiangiogenic sFlt-1/PlGF ratio in the total cohort $(13.3 \text{ vs.} 5.1 \mu\text{g/mL},$ $r_s=0.24$, both p<0.001) and in HDP $6.1 \,\mu\text{g/mL},$ (13.7 vs. $r_{\rm S}=0.40$, both p<0.001). PZP was not associated with fetal growth restriction, but correlated negatively with sFlt-1/PlGF in the total cohort $(r_{\rm S}=-0.13,$ p=0.002), HDP (r_S=-0.19, p=0.015), and HDP+DM $(r_s = -0.30, p = 0.049).$

Correlations between SAA1, PZP, and hsCRP

Finally, we compared SAA1 and PZP to the general inflammation marker hsCRP. SAA1 correlated positively with hsCRP in the total cohort ($r_s=0.46$, p<0.001) as well pregnancy in all as groups; controls ($r_s=0.35$, p<0.001), HDP $(r_{\rm S}=0.58,$ p<0.001), DM $(r_{\rm S}=0.35,$ p=0.04), and HDP+DM $(r_{\rm S}=0.62,$ p=0.001). Moreover, SAA1 was increased in women with hsCRP above an upper reference limit of 4 mg/L(9.4 vs. $4.3 \,\mu g/mL$, p<0.001). We found no correlation between PZP and hsCRP (data not shown). We found no correlation between SAA1 and PZP for the total cohort or for any pregnancy groups except for HDP+DM (r_s=-0.37, p=0.01).

SAA1 and PZP concentrations did not consistently correlate with pre-pregnancy BMI, early pregnancy blood pressure, gestational age at sampling, or fetal sex in the total cohort or in any subgroups; the few exceptions are listed in Supplemental Results.

Discussion Principal Findings

In line with our hypothesis, we found increased SAA1 and decreased PZP in pregnancies complicated by EO-PE. SAA1 and PZP correlated significantly with signs of placental dysfunction, as determined by fetal growth restriction and an antiangiogenic biomarker pattern. In contrast to our hypothesis, we did not find an association between acute atherosis and SAA1 or PZP.

Results

Our finding of increased circulating SAA1 in EO-PE may indicate presence of amyloid-A in these women. Amyloid-A deposits are typically found in chronic inflammatory diseases,46 as prolonged inflammation (demonstrated by CRP elevation) causing persistently elevated SAA1 may lead to amyloid-A deposits.¹⁷ Other types of amyloid (amyloid-ß and transthyretin) have been identified by immunohistochemistry in placentae from preeclamptic pregnancies.^{20,21} Whether amyloid-A is deposited in the placenta in response to increased SAA1 is unknown. We speculate that this is the case and that placental amyloid-A might exacerbate existing placental dysfunction, particularly women with EO-PE, through for

disturbing cell-cell interactions and tissue structure.¹⁷

Previous studies have found increased circulating levels of acute-phase proteins in preeclampsia,^{33,36,47} in line with our findings of increased hsCRP in EO-PE (Supplemental Table 1). Also in line with previous observations,³³ SAA1 correlated positively with hsCRP levels in our cohort, confirming a role for excessive inflammation in SAA1 dysregulation.

Preeclampsia is characterized by hypercoagulability and risk of thromboembolism.^{1,48} SAA1 increases the thrombotic ability of platelets,²⁵ and as SAA1 is increased in EO-PE, we speculate that SAA1 participates in mediating hypercoagulability in EO-PE.

Unexpectedly, SAA1 correlated negatively with glycated hemoglobin (HbA1c), a marker of blood glucose control, in women with DM1. Poor glucose control is associated with other inflammatory markers, such as hsCRP, with increased cardiovascular and risk.30,49,50 A previous study found a positive correlation between SAA and HbA1c in women with GDM.³⁰ Assays detecting SAA measure both SAA1 and SAA2, nearly identical SAA isoforms. Hence, we expected a positive correlation between SAA1 and HbA1c in our DM1 group as well. BMI likely did not confound our finding, as BMI was not associated with SAA1 in DM1 or other study groups apart from **GDM** (Supplemental Results). As seen from Supplemental Table 2, median prepregnancy BMI of women with DM1 was within the normal range (24.2 kg/m^2) . To our knowledge, we are the first to address SAA1 and glycemic control in DM1 during pregnancy. The negative correlation between SAA1 and HbA1c in DM1 may reflect the complex regulation of inflammation in pregnancy, and merits further investigation.

PZP has been shown in vitro to form stable compounds with amyloid- β -peptide, thus inhibiting amyloid-β aggregation.²⁹ We hypothesize that PZP may similarly inhibit SAA1 misfolding. SAA1 and PZP were both significantly associated with the antiangiogenic sFlt-1/PlGF ratio, but we not explore mechanistic did any interaction between them in this study. We hypothesize that poor placentation leads to dysregulation of sFlt-1/PlGF, SAA1, and PZP, and that low PZP in the setting of increased SAA1 may facilitate amyloid-A formation, as well as other associated forms of amyloid with preeclampsia, such as amyloid- β and transthyretin.

Clinical and Research Implications

Low circulating PZP levels have been linked to pregnancy loss.28 Women with pregestational DM and those who develop EO-PE may harbor an unfavorable preconception endometrial environment resulting in inadequate placentation and clinical manifestations of preeclampsia during pregnancy.⁵¹ We suggest that low circulating PZP levels in the second half of pregnancy may reflect such placentation issues, and that low PZP may identify women with particularly poor placentation and subsequent high risk of early-onset placental dysfunction.

Amyloid has been identified in atherosclerotic plaques.⁵² SAA1 and

SAA2, nearly identical isoforms, may play a role in atherosclerosis both locally and systemically. In a murine atherosclerosis model, SAA expression was increased in both early and late atherosclerosis lesions.53 SAA possibly acts as а for chemoattractant leukocytes in lesions.54 Increased circulating SAA levels have been associated with recurrent coronary events and stroke, as have elevated levels of hsCRP.55 In a mouse model, even a short period of elevated SAA1 increased atherosclerosis lesion size.⁵⁶ We speculate that elevated SAA1 in women with preeclampsia may promote accelerated atherosclerosis progression even if the elevation SAA1 were temporary and restricted to some months during pregnancy.

Additional studies are required to elucidate protein-protein interactions between SAA1 and PZP, their possible role in placental (dys)function, and in turn, their impact on circulating angiogenic proteins. Placenta tissue studies may reveal whether increased circulating SAA1, as in EO-PE, leads to placental amyloid-A deposits. Longitudinal studies are needed identify whether SAA1 to shows prolonged elevation following preeclampsia, as hsCRP does,57,58 placing these women at risk of postpartum amyloid-A deposition and subsequent organ damage.

Strengths and Limitations

This study is the first to examine circulating SAA1 and PZP, potential markers of protein misfolding, in phenotypically well characterized subgroups of women with hypertensive disorders of pregnancy and diabetes mellitus, in relation to different proxies for placental function and uteroplacental The population size acute atherosis. (549 pregnancies) and well-described pregnancy groups are strengths of our study, which establishes that circulating SAA1 is increased in EO-PE and placental dysfunction. Our distinction between EO-PE and LO-PE (delivery <34 or \geq 34 weeks' gestation, respectively) could explain why some previous studies report increased SAA1 in preeclampsia^{31,33,36} while others do not,32,34,35 as none have made a similar differentiation. One study quantified circulating SAA1, sFlt-1, and PIGF in preeclampsia, but did not study correlations between SAA1 and sFlt-1/PlGF.34

PZP has been indirectly studied (by immunodiffusion gel) in two smaller studies of preeclampsia,^{37,38} and directly studied (by ELISA) in one very small study where plasma from 9 women with preeclampsia was pooled before assay.²⁹ We are, to our knowledge, the first to study circulating levels of PZP by ELISA in individual pregnancy samples from uncomplicated, hypertensive, and diabetic pregnancies.

Pre-pregnancy BMI, early pregnancy blood pressure, gestational age at sampling, and fetal sex did not consistently correlate with SAA1 or PZP levels, thus, we did not perform regression analyses. Gestational age at sampling correlated with SAA1 and PZP, but only in EO-PE, likely reflecting a more severe placental dysfunction with a clinical phenotype requiring earlier delivery. Our results are likely not confounded by our lack of gestational age matching as gestational age did not correlate with SAA1 or PZP in any other groups.

A limitation to our study is the lack of longitudinal samples to establish whether SAA1 and/ or PZP show prolonged dysregulation during and/ or after pregnancy complications.

Conclusions

Understanding and identifying early risk markers for female cardiovascular disease is essential for achieving targeted primary prevention, optimized health outcomes, and healthier societies. Our finding of increased SAA1 and hsCRP in women with EO-PE, fetal growth restriction, and other signs of placental dysfunction may provide a further explanation as to the known epidemiological link between these pregnancy complications and maternal cardiovascular disease in later life. Dysregulated SAA1 and PZP in EO-PE may point to amyloid-A as a mediator of

References

- 1. Brown MA, Magee LA, Kenny LC, et al. Hypertensive Disorders of Pregnancy: ISSHP Classification, Diagnosis, and Management Recommendations for International Practice. Hypertension 2018;72:24-43.
- 2. Staff AC, Redman CW, Williams D, et al. Pregnancy and Long-Term Maternal Cardiovascular Health: Progress Through Harmonization of Research Cohorts and Biobanks. Hypertension 2016;67:251-60.
- Irgens HU, Reisaeter L, Irgens LM, Lie RT. Long term mortality of mothers and fathers after pre-eclampsia: population based cohort study. BMJ 2001;323:1213-7.
- 4. Wu P, Haththotuwa R, Kwok CS, et al. Preeclampsia and Future Cardiovascular Health: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. Circ Cardiovasc Qual Outcomes 2017;10.
- 5. Vogel B, Acevedo M, Appelman Y, et al. The Lancet women and cardiovascular disease

the observed risk of cardiovascular disease in women with a history of preeclampsia or other forms of placental dysfunction, though longitudinal and mechanistic studies are needed to test this hypothesis.

Acknowledgements: The authors gratefully acknowledge the pregnant women who participated in the study, Lise Øhra Levy for biobank management and patient recruitment, and previous PhD candidates and medical students for patient recruitment to Oslo Pregnancy Biobank.

Sources of Funding: The Research Council of Norway funded part of this study (the PATH study, grant reference 230652, and the BRIDGE study, grant reference 313568), as did South-Eastern Norway Regional Health Authority (the HAPPY study, grant reference 2014026).

Conflicts of Interest: Roche Diagnostics donated biomarker reagents in-kind (sFlt-1 and PlGF) (A.C.S., M.S.). The authors declare that they do not have any other potential conflicts of interest.

Commission: reducing the global burden by 2030. Lancet 2021;397:2385-2438.

- 6. Staff AC. The two-stage placental model of preeclampsia: An update. J Reprod Immunol 2019;134-135:1-10.
- Redman CWG, Staff AC, Roberts JM. Syncytiotrophoblast stress in preeclampsia: the convergence point for multiple pathways. Am J Obstet Gynecol 2022;226:S907-S927.
- Burton GJ, Yung HW, Cindrova-Davies T, Charnock-Jones DS. Placental endoplasmic reticulum stress and oxidative stress in the pathophysiology of unexplained intrauterine growth restriction and early onset preeclampsia. Placenta 2009;30 Suppl A:S43-8.
- Brosens IA, Robertson WB, Dixon HG. The role of the spiral arteries in the pathogenesis of preeclampsia. Obstet Gynecol Annu 1972;1:177-91.

- Kwiatkowski S, Dołęgowska B, Kwiatkowska E, et al. Do the physiological aging of the placenta and the changes in angiogenesis marker sFlt-1 and PIGF concentrations predispose patients to late-onset preeclampsia? J Matern Fetal Neonatal Med 2019;32:11-20.
- Mayne BT, Leemaqz SY, Smith AK, Breen J, Roberts CT, Bianco-Miotto T. Accelerated placental aging in early onset preeclampsia pregnancies identified by DNA methylation. Epigenomics 2017;9:279-289.
- Staff AC, Fjeldstad HE, Fosheim IK, et al. Failure of physiological transformation and spiral artery atherosis: their roles in preeclampsia. Am J Obstet Gynecol 2022;226:S895-S906.
- Jacobsen DP, Fjeldstad HE, Johnsen GM, et al. Acute Atherosis Lesions at the Fetal-Maternal Border: Current Knowledge and Implications for Maternal Cardiovascular Health. Front Immunol 2021;12:791606.
- 14. Robertson WB, Brosens I, Dixon HG. The pathological response of the vessels of the placental bed to hypertensive pregnancy. J Pathol Bacteriol 1967;93:581-92.
- 15. Maynard SE, Min JY, Merchan J, et al. Excess placental soluble fms-like tyrosine kinase 1 (sFlt1) may contribute to endothelial dysfunction, hypertension, and proteinuria in preeclampsia. J Clin Invest 2003;111:649-58.
- 16. Shinohara S, Uchida Y, Kasai M, Sunami R. Association between the high soluble fms-like tyrosine kinase-1 to placental growth factor ratio and adverse outcomes in asymptomatic women with early-onset fetal growth restriction. Hypertens Pregnancy 2017;36:269-275.
- Sack GH, Jr. Serum Amyloid A (SAA) Proteins. Subcell Biochem 2020;94:421-436.
- Chiti F, Dobson CM. Protein Misfolding, Amyloid Formation, and Human Disease: A Summary of Progress Over the Last Decade. Annu Rev Biochem 2017;86:27-68.
- 19. Teoh CL, Griffin MD, Howlett GJ. Apolipoproteins and amyloid fibril formation in atherosclerosis. Protein Cell 2011;2:116-27.
- 20. Buhimschi IA, Nayeri UA, Zhao G, et al. Protein misfolding, congophilia, oligomerization, and defective amyloid processing in preeclampsia. Sci Transl Med 2014;6:245ra92.
- 21. Kalkunte SS, Neubeck S, Norris WE, et al. Transthyretin is dysregulated in preeclampsia, and its native form prevents the onset of disease in a preclinical mouse model. Am J Pathol 2013;183:1425-1436.
- 22. Cheng S, Banerjee S, Daiello LA, et al. Novel blood test for early biomarkers of preeclampsia and Alzheimer's disease. Scientific Reports 2021;11:15934.
- 23. Valtanen RS, Buhimschi CS, Bahtiyar MO, et al. Conformation-dependent anti-Abeta monoclonal antibody signatures of disease status and severity in urine of women with preeclampsia. Pregnancy Hypertens 2022;28:51-59.

- 24. Gan XW, Wang WS, Lu JW, et al. De novo Synthesis of SAA1 in the Placenta Participates in Parturition. Front Immunol 2020;11:1038.
- 25. Page MJ, Thomson GJA, Nunes JM, et al. Serum amyloid A binds to fibrin(ogen), promoting fibrin amyloid formation. Sci Rep 2019;9:3102.
- 26. Ekelund L, Laurell CB. The pregnancy zone protein response during gestation: a metabolic challenge. Scandinavian journal of clinical and laboratory investigation 1994;54:623-9.
- 27. Wyatt AR, Cater JH, Ranson M. PZP and PAI-2: Structurally-diverse, functionally similar pregnancy proteins? Int J Biochem Cell Biol 2016;79:113-117.
- Than GN, Csaba IF, Szabo DG, Karg NJ, Novak PF. Quantitative Immunological study of pregnancy-associated alpha2-globulin antigen. Vox Sang 1976;30:134-8.
- 29. Cater JH, Kumita JR, Zeineddine Abdallah R, et al. Human pregnancy zone protein stabilizes misfolded proteins including preeclampsia- and Alzheimer's-associated amyloid beta peptide. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 2019;116:6101-6110.
- Eren MA, Vural M, Cece H, et al. Association of serum amyloid A with subclinical atherosclerosis in women with gestational diabetes. Gynecological endocrinology : the official journal of the International Society of Gynecological Endocrinology 2012;28:1010-3.
- Engin-Ustün Y, Ustün Y, Karabulut AB, Ozkaplan E, Meydanli MM, Kafkasli A. Serum amyloid A levels are increased in pre-eclampsia. Gynecol Obstet Invest 2007;64:117-20.
- Kristensen K, Wide-Swensson D, Lindstrom V, Schmidt C, Grubb A, Strevens H. Serum amyloid a protein and C-reactive protein in normal pregnancy and preeclampsia. Gynecol Obstet Invest 2009;67:275-80.
- Can M, Sancar E, Harma M, Guven B, Mungan G, Acikgoz S. Inflammatory markers in preeclamptic patients. Clin Chem Lab Med 2011;49:1469-72.
- 34. Reimer T, Rohrmann H, Stubert J, et al. Angiogenic factors and acute-phase proteins in serum samples of preeclampsia and HELLP patients: a matched-pair analysis. J Matern Fetal Neonatal Med 2013;26:263-9.
- 35. Güngör ZB, Tüten A, Ekmekçi H, et al. Possible effects of lipoprotein-associated phospholipase A2 single-nucleotide polymorphisms on cardiovascular risk in patients with preeclampsia. J Matern Fetal Neonatal Med 2018;31:3119-3127.
- 36. Uckan K, Sahin HG. Serum amyloid A, procalcitonin, highly sensitive C reactive protein and tumor necrosis factor alpha levels and acute inflammatory response in patients with hemolysis, elevated liver enzymes, low platelet count (HELLP) and eclampsia. J Obstet Gynaecol Res 2018;44:440-447.
- 37. Horne CH, Briggs JD, Howie PW, Kennedy AC. Serum -macroglobulins in renal disease and preeclampsia. J Clin Pathol 1972;25:590-3.

- Griffin JF. Pregnancy-associated plasma protein levels at term in normal pregnancy, preeclampsia and essential hypertension. The Australian & New Zealand journal of obstetrics & gynaecology 1983;23:11-4.
- 39. World Health Organization Department of Noncommunicable Disease S. Definition, diagnosis and classification of diabetes mellitus and its complications : report of a WHO consultation. Part 1: Diagnosis and classification of diabetes mellitus. 1999.
- Friis CM, Roum EMS, Holm HO, Toft JH, 40. Roland MCP, Thordarson HB. Svangerskapsdiabetes. Norsk gynekologisk forening Veileder i fødselshjelp (2020). In Norwegian. Norwegian Society of Gynecology and Obstetrics: Guideline for gestational diabetes 978-82-692382-0-4. mellitus. ePub. ISBN [accessed 24.03.2022]. Available from: https://www.legeforeningen.no/foreningsledd/f agmed/norsk-gynekologiskforening/veiledere/veileder-ifodselshjelp/svangerskapsdiabetes/.
- 41. Johnsen SL, Rasmussen S, Wilsgaard T, Sollien R, Kiserud T. Longitudinal reference ranges for estimated fetal weight. Acta Obstet Gynecol Scand 2006;85:286-97.
- Harsem NK, Staff AC, He L, Roald B. The decidual suction method: a new way of collecting decidual tissue for functional and morphological studies. Acta Obstet Gynecol Scand 2004;83:724-30.
- Alnaes-Katjavivi P, Lyall F, Roald B, Redman CW, Staff AC. Acute atherosis in vacuum suction biopsies of decidua basalis: An evidence based research definition. Placenta 2016;37:26-33.
- 44. Moe K, Heidecke H, Dechend R, Staff AC. Dysregulation of circulating autoantibodies against VEGF-A, VEGFR-1 and PIGF in preeclampsia - A role in placental and vascular health? Pregnancy Hypertens 2017;10:83-89.
- 45. Moe K, Alnaes-Katjavivi P, Storvold GL, et al. Classical Cardiovascular Risk Markers in Pregnancy and Associations to Uteroplacental Acute Atherosis. Hypertension 2018;72:695-702.
- 46. Westermark GT, Fandrich M, Westermark P. AA amyloidosis: pathogenesis and targeted therapy. Annu Rev Pathol 2015;10:321-44.
- 47. Braekke K, Holthe MR, Harsem NK, Fagerhol MK, Staff AC. Calprotectin, a marker of inflammation, is elevated in the maternal but not

in the fetal circulation in preeclampsia. Am J Obstet Gynecol 2005;193:227-33.

- Lalic-Cosic S, Dopsaj V, Kovac M, et al. Evaluation of global haemostatic assays and fibrin structure in patients with pre-eclampsia. International journal of laboratory hematology 2020;42:322-330.
- 49. Gustavsson CG, Agardh CD. Inflammatory activity increases with haemoglobin A1c in patients with acute coronary syndrome. Scand Cardiovasc J 2009;43:380-5.
- 50. McEneny J, Daniels JA, McGowan A, et al. A Cross-Sectional Study Demonstrating Increased Serum Amyloid A Related Inflammation in High-Density Lipoproteins from Subjects with Type 1 Diabetes Mellitus and How this Association Was Augmented by Poor Glycaemic Control. J Diabetes Res 2015;2015:351601.
- Ng S-W, Norwitz GA, Pavlicev M, Tilburgs T, Simón C, Norwitz ER. Endometrial Decidualization: The Primary Driver of Pregnancy Health. International journal of molecular sciences 2020;21:4092.
- 52. Hellberg S, Silvola JMU, Liljenback H, et al. Amyloid-Targeting PET Tracer [(18)F]Flutemetamol Accumulates in Atherosclerotic Plaques. Molecules 2019;24.
- 53. O'Brien KD, McDonald TO, Kunjathoor V, et al. Serum amyloid A and lipoprotein retention in murine models of atherosclerosis. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol 2005;25:785-90.
- 54. Badolato R, Wang JM, Murphy WJ, et al. Serum amyloid A is a chemoattractant: induction of migration, adhesion, and tissue infiltration of monocytes and polymorphonuclear leukocytes. J Exp Med 1994;180:203-9.
- 55. Koenig W. High-sensitivity C-reactive protein and atherosclerotic disease: from improved risk prediction to risk-guided therapy. Int J Cardiol 2013;168:5126-34.
- 56. Thompson JC, Jayne C, Thompson J, et al. A brief elevation of serum amyloid A is sufficient to increase atherosclerosis. J Lipid Res 2015;56:286-93.
- 57. Kvehaugen AS, Dechend R, Ramstad HB, Troisi R, Fugelseth D, Staff AC. Endothelial function and circulating biomarkers are disturbed in women and children after preeclampsia. Hypertension 2011;58:63-9.
- van Rijn BB, Bruinse HW, Veerbeek JH, et al. Postpartum Circulating Markers of Inflammation and the Systemic Acute-Phase Response After Early-Onset Preeclampsia. 2016;67:404-414.

Supplemental Material

Serum amyloid A1 and pregnancy zone protein in pregnancy complications and correlation with markers of placental dysfunction

Ingrid K. Fosheim, MD^{1,2}, Daniel P. Jacobsen, PhD², Meryam Sugulle, MD PhD^{1,2}, Patji Alnaes-Katjavivi, MD PhD², Heidi E.S. Fjeldstad, MD^{1,2}, Thor Ueland, PhD^{1,3,4}, Tove Lekva, PhD³, Anne C. Staff, MD PhD^{1,2}

¹Institute of Clinical Medicine, Faculty of Medicine, University of Oslo, Norway
²Division of Obstetrics and Gynaecology, Oslo University Hospital, Norway
³Research institute of Internal Medicine, Oslo University Hospital, Norway
⁴K.G. Jebsen Thrombosis Research and Expertise Center, University of Tromsø, Norway

Corresponding author: Ingrid Knutsdotter Fosheim, MD. E-mail: i.k.fosheim@medisin.uio.no. Institute of Clinical Medicine, Faculty of Medicine, University of Oslo, Kirkeveien 166, 0450 Oslo, Norway

Adjustment strategy for serum amyloid A1 and pregnancy zone protein

Serum amyloid A1 (SAA1) and pregnancy zone protein (PZP) concentrations were not adjusted for pre-pregnancy body mass index (BMI), early pregnancy blood pressure (BP), gestational age at sampling, or fetal sex in our analyses as these exposures in general did not correlate with SAA1 or PZP. The exceptions for lack of correlation were:

Gestational age at sampling correlated negatively with SAA1 and positively with PZP, but only in early-onset preeclampsia (SAA1: r_s =-0.25, p=0.03, PZP: r_s =0.30, p=0.01). BMI correlated positively with SAA1 in gestational diabetes mellitus (r_s =0.35, p=0.02). BMI correlated positively with PZP in controls (r_s =0.19, p=0.002). Early pregnancy BP correlated with SAA1 in gestational hypertension (systolic BP: r_s =-0.36, p=0.049, diastolic BP: r_s =-0.39, p=0.03).

pregnancy and normorensive, er	ngiyceillic cc	MILLOIS (11=44	(00						
	Controls	EO-PE	ፈ	LO-PE	ፈ	GH	P-value	CHT	ፈ
	(n=258)	(n=71)	value	(n=98)	value	(n=30)		(n=9)	value
Maternal age at inclusion (years)	33.5 (20.1-45.5)	32.7 (19.0-52.9)	0.12	33.3 (22.0-44.4)	0.25	33.4 (25.6-44.0)	0.93	35.0 (24.3-41.6)	0.68
Pre-pregnancy body mass index (kg/m²)	22.4 (17.6-39.5)	25.3 (19.0-41.1)	<0.001	23.6 (18.3-39.1)	0.004	27.8 (19.3-41.1)	<0.001	29.4 (20.8-35.9)	0.004
Mean SBP <20 weeks (mmHg)	110 (85-140)	120 (90-158)	<0.001	115 (95-164)	<0.001	123 (105-136)	<0.001	136 (121-155)	<0.001
Mean DBP <20 weeks (mmHg)	68 (40-88)	74 (57-103)	<0.001	73 (50-91)	<0.001	78 (60-87)	<0.001	87 (75-97)	<0.001
First pregnancy	24%	38%	0.02	48%	<0.001	47%	0.009	44%	0.24
First delivery	39%	59%	0.003	61%	<0.001	57%	0.07	67%	0.16
Previous preeclampsia, n (%) ^a	12 (8%)	17 (61%)	<0.001	15 (41%)	<0.001	2 (15%)	0.29	1 (33%)	0.23
Diabetes mellitus		7%		28%		30%		44%	
SBP at inclusion (mmHg)	121 (86-156)	159 (130-220)	<0.001	151 (124-200)	<0.001	145 (117-169)	<0.001	143 (120-189)	<0.001
DBP at inclusion (mmHg)	75 (48-110)	95 (69-120)	<0.001	94 (66-130)	<0.001	91 (63-103)	<0.001	94 (78-103)	<0.001
Gestational age at inclusion (weeks)	39.0 (33.7-42.1)	29.7 (24.3-33.9)	<0.001	36.9 (33.4-40.4)	<0.001	38.4 (32.7-41.1)	<0.001	37.9 (34.4-39.4)	0.008
Preterm delivery (<37 weeks' gestation)	3%	100%	<0.001	46%	<0.001	17%	0.004	33%	0.003
New born weight (grams)	3483 (1325-5130)	1075 (500-2135)	<0.001	2768 (1461-5040)	<0.001	3445 (1820-4754)	0.98	3150 (1830-5424)	0.07

Supplemental Table 1. Clinical characteristics and circulating biomarkers, by subgroup of hypertensive disorder of nregnancy and normotensive englycemic controls (n=466)

New born weight percentile	62.6	0.1	<0.001	27.4	<0.001	64.2	0.59	32.1	0.12
	(0-100)	(0-75.5)		(0-100)		(4.5-100)		(0.1-100)	
Fetal growth restriction	2%	75%	<0.001	20%	<0.001	%0	~	22%	0.01
Acute atherosis ^b	6%	52%	<0.001	29%	<0.001	%0	-	20%	0.38
	(14/160)	(27/52)		(16/56)		(6/0)		(1/5)	
Serum-sFlt-1 (pg/mL) ^c	3683	14100	<0.001	9605	<0.001	6227	<0.001	5629	0.009
	(1081-	(4686-		(2651-		(1429-		(2772-	
	17185)	61348)		34240)		12397)		10138)	
Serum-PIGF (pg/mL) ^c	172	32	<0.001	78	<0.001	96	<0.001	130	0.02
	(23-2074)	(6-231)		(26-1852)		(43-624)		(42-255)	
sFlt-1/PIGF ratio ^c	22.3	416.9	<0.001	123.3	<0.001	64.3	<0.001	60.2	0.006
	(1.1-615.1)	(78.9-3264.3)		(1.4-555.9)		(2.3-200.9)		(10.9-232.9)	
Serum-hsCRP (mg/L)	3.1	6.8	<0.001	4.0	0.24	4.4	0.08	2.3	0.68
[ref.: 0.0-4.0] ^d	(0.6-76.6),	(0.8-107),		(0.6-64.7),		(0.9-18.5),		(1.0-7.7),	
	n=201	n=53		n=64		n=21		n=5	
Plasma-SAA1 (µg/mL)	5.08	17.07	<0.001	5.46	0.37	6.56	0.12	3.22	0.09
	(0.41-120)	(1.95-120)		(0.22-120)		(1.27-120)		(1.26-8.67)	
Plasma-PZP (µg/mL)	892	590	0.002	764	0.15	950	0.74	1302	0.33
	(32-3240)	(12-3020)		(50-2840)		(29-3280)		(411-2992)	

PE (superimposed PE) were analyzed together with women with de novo PE. SBP: systolic blood pressure. DBP: diastolic blood pressure. sFlt-1: soluble fmsgestation). LO-PE: late-onset preeclampsia (delivery ≥34 weeks' gestation). GH: gestational hypertension. CHT: chronic hypertension. Women with CHT and pregnancy inclusion group to the control group (normotensive and euglycemic pregnant women). EO-PE: early-onset preeclampsia (delivery <34 weeks' like tyrosine kinase-1. PIGF: placental growth factor. hsCRP: high-sensitivity C-reactive protein. SAA1: serum amyloid A1. PZP: pregnancy zone protein. For continuous variables, median value and range is shown; for categorical, percentages. Statistical differences were calculated by comparing each ^a Nulliparous women were excluded from analyzing rate of previous preeclampsia.

^b Decidua basalis acute atherosis was assessed in 282 women (all had spiral arteries present).

^c sFlt-1 and PIGF concentrations were available for all except 1 woman with EO-PE and 1 woman with LO-PE.

^d hsCRP concentration was available for 344 women.

	Controls (n=258)	DM1 (n=61)	P-value	DM2 (n=18)	P-value	GDM (n=49)	P-value
Maternal age at inclusion (years)	33.5 (20.1-45.5)	32.3 (21.1-41.4)	0.03	34.8 (24.3-41.8)	0.62	35.2 (22.0-45.9)	0.11
Pre-pregnancy body mass index (kg/m²)	22.4 (17.6-39.5)	24.2 (19.1-41.1)	0.003	28.5 (21.5-35.0)	<0.001	26.7 (20.1-39.4)	<0.001
Mean SBP <20 weeks (mmHg)	110 (85-140)	115 (100-138)	<0.001	123 (95-164)	<0.001	115 (92-155)	<0.001
Mean DBP <20 weeks (mmHg)	68 (40-88)	70 (53-85)	0.11	73 (50-90)	0.006	70 (50-90)	0.001
First pregnancy	24%	38%	0.04	44%	0.09	12%	0.06
First delivery	39%	49%	0.15	50%	0.36	39%	0.96
Diet treatment only	ı	%0		6%		63%	
Metformin treatment	I	%0		50%		12%	
Insulin treatment	I	100%		89%		33%	
Preeclampsia	I	28%		44%		14%	
Chronic hypertension	I	%0		6%		6%	
Gestational hypertension	ı	7%		6%		8%	
Previous preeclampsia ^a	12 (8%)	9 (29%)	0.002	%0	~	7 (23%)	0.02
SBP at inclusion (mmHg)	121 (86-156)	135 (90-183)	<0.001	139 (115-189)	<0.001	127 (99-164)	0.04
DBP at inclusion (mmHg)	75 (48-110)	80 (50-107)	0.007	89 (66-110)	<0.001	80 (57-110)	0.06
Gestational age at inclusion (weeks)	39.0 (33.7-42.1)	37.0 (28.7-40.1)	<0.001	37.5 (29.0-39.0)	<0.001	38.4 (33.0-40.4)	<0.001

Supplemental Table 2. Clinical characteristics and circulating biomarkers, by subgroup of diabetes mellitus in pregnancy and normotensive. euglycemic controls (n=386)

Preterm delivery (<37 weeks)	3%	30%	<0.001	17%	0.02	10%	0.03
New born weight (grams)	3483	3776	0.001	4009	0.01	3590	0.13
	(1325-5130)	(985-5148)		(620-5424)		(1745-5857)	
New born weight percentile	62.6	92.0	<0.001	95.5	0.01	6.69	0.05
	(0-100)	(0-100)		(0-100)		(0.1-100)	
Fetal growth restriction	2%	7%	0.046	6%	0.29	2%	0.58
Acute atherosis ^b	6%	13%	0.47	13%	0.54	20%	0.15
	(14/160)	(3/24)		(1/8)		(5/25)	
Serum-sFlt-1 (pg/mL)	3683	6262	<0.001	5394	0.01	4715	0.002
	(1081-17185)	(1744-21430)		(2296-15122)		(1260-13463)	
Serum-PIGF (pg/mL)	172	136	<0.001	136	0.81	168	0.54
	(23-2074)	(35-529)		(29-1852)		(47-1027)	
sFlt-1/PIGF ratio	22.3	55.5	<0.001	29.0	0.24	29.3	0.35
	(1.1-615.1)	(8.7-260.3)		(1.4-470.8)		(2.7-175.2)	
Serum-hsCRP (mg/L)	3.1	3.9	0.75	3.3	0.71	4.4	0.01
[ref.: 0.0-4.0] ^c	(0.6-76.6),	(0.8-15),		(1.2-14.7),		(0.6-32.7),	
	n=201	n=21		n=7		n=34	
Plasma-SAA1 (µg/mL)	5.08	4.56	0.35	5.55	0.95	4.86	0.72
	(0.41-120)	(0.41-120)		(0.22-115.95)		(0.37-116.05)	
Plasma-PZP (µg/mL)	892	683	0.02	580	0.003	640	0.14
	(32-3240)	(25-3280)		(87-1302)		(45-3406)	

mellitus. GDM: gestational diabetes mellitus. SBP: systolic blood pressure. DBP: diastolic blood pressure. sFlt-1: soluble fms-like tyrosine kinase-1. PIGF: pregnancy inclusion group to the control group (normotensive and euglycemic pregnant women). DM1: type 1 diabetes mellitus. DM2: type 2 diabetes For continuous variables, median value and range is shown; for categorical, percentages. Statistical differences were calculated by comparing each placental growth factor. hsCRP: high-sensitivity C-reactive protein. SAA1: serum amyloid A1. PZP: pregnancy zone protein.

^a Nulliparous women were excluded from analyzing rate of previous preeclampsia.

^b Decidua basalis acute atherosis was assessed in 217 women (all had spiral arteries present).

^c hsCRP concentration was available for 263 women.

Supplemental Table 3. Clinical characteristics and circulating biomarkers, according to presence or absence of decidua basalis acute atherosis by pregnancy inclusion group (n=313)

	Cont	irols	ፈ	Ð	ē.	ď	Ŋ	5	ፈ	HDP+	MD	4
	(n=1	(09)	value	3=u)) ()	value	;=u)	31)	value	(n=2	6) v	alue
	NonAA	AA		NonAA	AA		NonAA	AA		NonAA	AA	
	(n=146)	(n=14)		(n=59)	(n=37)		(n=29)	(n=2)		(n=19)	(u=7)	
Maternal age at	33.5	32.8	0.39	33.7	33.5	0.59	33.3	35.6	0.84	34.4	32.3	0.21
inclusion (years)	(22.7-	(20.1-		(19.0-	(23.4-		(26.8-	(30.7-		(24.3-	(21.1-	
	45.5)	40.6)		42.7)	44.4)		42.5)	40.6)		44.0)	36.1)	
Pre-pregnancy body	22.2	22.8	0.69	22.5	26.1	0.04	24.4	25.1	0.90	28.3	26.7	0.78
mass index (kg/m²)	(17.6-	(19.5-		(18.9-	(18.6-		(19.8-	(24.4-		(19.8-	(21.5-	
	38.1)	30.5)		41.1)	35.6)		39.4)	25.7)		39.1)	36.7)	
Mean SBP <20 weeks	109	118	0.11	119	120	0.87	114	115	0.83	120	121	0.90
(mmHg)	(85-135)	(90-135)		(95-151)	(90-158)		(98-138)	(115-115)		(105-164)	(95-135)	
Mean DBP <20 weeks	65	68	0.47	75	75	0.93	70	20	0.85	76	75	0.37
(mmHg)	(40-85)	(22-09)		(22-97)	(60-92)		(50-84)	(65-75)		(62-90)	(50-89)	
First pregnancy	19%	43%	0.04	42%	41%	0.86	14%	%0	-	26%	71%	0.07
First delivery	36%	57%	0.11	63%	51%	0.27	21%	100%	0.06	53%	71%	0.66
Previous	ω	~	0.44	5	11	0.02	n	•		4	2	0.46
preeclampsia, n (%) ^a	(%6)	(17%)		(24%)	(61%)		(13%)			(44%)	(100%)	
SBP at inclusion	120	118	0.22	155	160	0.16	123	132	0.52	154	154	0.81
(mmHg)	(90-156)	(86-138)		(130-212)	(135-220)		(107-155)	(124-140)		(130-189)	(120-183)	
DBP at inclusion	74	20	0.18	98	66	0.23	73	80	0.50	93	94	0.88
(mmHg)	(54-99)	(48-83)		(78-120)	(80-130)		(06-09)	(06-02)		(66-110)	(75-107)	

inclusion (weeks) (33.7- (34.1) Preterm delivery (<37 3% 7% Preterm delivery (<37 3% 7% Weeks' gestation) 3% 7% Early-onset - - preeclampsia (delivery <34 weeks' -		(25.1- 30 3)	L V C/							
42.1) 39.7 Preterm delivery (<37 3% 7% weeks' gestation) Early-onset	. 7) 0.3	30 3)	- 1.42)		(28.7-	(37.9-		(29.0-	(32.4-	
Preterm delivery (<37 3% 7% weeks' gestation) Early-onset preeclampsia (delivery <34 weeks'	% 0.3	0.00	40.4)		40.1)	38.6)		40.0)	38.7)	
weeks' gestation) Early-onset preeclampsia (delivery <34 weeks'		7 71%	84%	0.16	21%	%0	-	53%	43%	-
Early-onset preeclampsia (delivery <34 weeks'										
preeclampsia (delivery <34 weeks'		44%	68%	0.03		·		15%	33%	0.56
(delivery <34 weeks'										
sectorian)										
gestation)										
New born weight 3429 353	37 0.5	7 2054	1420	0.03	4035	3358	0.35	3630	3150	0.23
(grams) (1690- (257	75-	(540-	(510-		(988-	(2960-		(620-	(1860-	
4760) 4450	50)	4550)	5040)		4840)	3756)		5424)	4592)	
New born weight 59.7 65.3	.3 0.4	5 5.0	1.2	0.07	94.1	57.6	0.35	98.6	45.5	0.23
percentile (0-99.9) (5.0-9	9 9. 4)	(0-93.6	(0-99.9)		(0-100)	(24.5-90.7)		(0-100)	(7.8-99.9)	
Fetal growth 1% 0%	% 1	44%	65%	0.047	7%	%0	-	11%	%0	-
restriction										
Serum-sFlt-1 3482 411	15 0.4	3 11390	12256	0.63	4629	6332	0.18	7853	7863	0.82
(pg/mL) ^b (1081- (157	73-	(4034-	(4535-		(1744-	(5846-		(2651-	(4715-	
14085) 1392	128)	61348)	44826)		14177)	6817)		15619)	15122)	
Serum-PIGF (pg/mL) ^b 167 149	19 0.4	0 58	39	0.04	158	126	0.43	130	81	0.14
(23-2074) (69-3	314)	(11-279) (6-126)		(35-1027)	(102-151)		(29-1852)	(47-155)	
sFlt-1/PIGF ratio ^b 20.9 26.	.5 0.2	2 232.9	306.1	0.07	31.9	52.9	0.31	60.2	106.3	0.28
(1.3- (5.1	÷	(37.3-	(55.0-		(3.9-	(38.7-		(1.4-	(34.6-	
615.1) 113.	3.6)	1884.4)	3141.2)		139.0)	67.1)		470.8)	175.2)	

Serum-hsCRP (mg/L)	3.4	3.2	0.90	4.6	4.1	0.88	3.9	4.8	0.75	5.2	6.3	0.66
[ref.: 0.0-4.0] ^c	(0.6-76.6),	(0.9-13),		(0.6-55.1), ((0.8-75.4),		(0.7-32.7),	(3.4-6.2),		(0.8-15.9),	(3.3-14.7),	
	n=121	n=13		n=47	n=28		n=26	n=2		n=16	n=7	
Plasma-SAA1	5.44	4.15	0.09	10.27	12.60	0.26	3.11	9.18	-	5.84	8.90	0.46
(JmL)	(0.92-	(0.41-		(0.80-	(0.86-		(0.41-	(1.07-		(0.22-	(3.22-	
	120)	18.18)		120)	120)		120)	17.29)		115.95)	81.12)	
Plasma-PZP (µg/mL)	962	822	0.46	820	700	0.29	774	694	0.67	624	497	0.53
	(38-3150)	(46-3240)		(50-2840)	(12-2685)		(45-3406)	(131-1256)		(25-2436)	(143-1006)	

sFlt-1: soluble fms-like tyrosine kinase-1. PIGF: placental growth factor. hsCRP: high-sensitivity C-reactive protein. SAA1: serum amyloid A1. PZP: pregnancy DM: diabetes mellitus (pregestational or gestational). HDP+DM: women with both HDP and DM. SBP: systolic blood pressure. DBP: diastolic blood pressure. inclusion group, comparing women without acute atherosis (nonAA) against women with acute atherosis (AA). HDP: hypertensive disorders of pregnancy. For continuous variables, median value and range is shown; for categorical, percentages. Statistical differences were calculated within each pregnancy zone protein.

^a Nulliparous women were excluded from analyzing rate of previous preeclampsia.

^b sFIt-1 and PIGF concentrations were available for all except 2 women with HDP.

^c hsCRP concentration was available for 258 women.